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message from the president
and chief executive officer,
and the chair of the board
of directors

JUNE 1, 2022

to our shareholders:
The past year was incredibly important for Bed Bath and Beyond’s future. In this first year of our multi-year turnaround
strategy,we increased investments in structurally critical partsofourbusiness– including supply chain infrastructureand
technology, ecommerce and customer experience solutions, and store remodels. We also began replacing outdated
technology systems and continued to build on and enhance omni-channel capabilities that were rapidly deployed at the
outset of the COVID pandemic. These improvements are intended to provide the Company with foundational enablers
and a platform that can support challenging environments over the long term.

In termsof creating value for shareholders, our focus in 2020was delivering approximately $600million in proceeds from
asset sales. In 2021, we continued to focus on returning capital to our shareholders, including significantly increasing our
three-year share repurchaseprogram.TheCompanycompletedapproximately$600million in share repurchases in fiscal
2021andcompleted themajorityof its$1billionshare repurchaseprogramaheadofour2023target. In thecorebusiness,
we introduced eight new, margin-supportive Owned Brands in key destination categories, more than doubling
penetrationversus fiscal 2020. Further, after successfully executing improvements toourbuybuyBABYbusiness,weare
exploring strategic alternatives to unlock even greater value from the banner.

Over the past year, we made changes to board composition and added new directors with the skills and experience
necessary toprovideoversightof strategyandbusinessperformance.Wealso restructured theexecutivecompensation
program to reflect an operating environment beyond 2020, when we built a new executive team and supported
operations during the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic. While the vast majority of direct pay for the CEO and other
Named Executive Officers (NEO) remained tied to targeted performance metrics in 2021, we increased its proportion
within our long-term compensation plans. The Board remains highly committed to executive incentive payouts that are
alignedwith achieving financial targets, creating long-term shareholder value, and informed by shareholder feedback.

We appreciate and recognize the tireless dedication of our exceptional associates who, against an extraordinary
macroeconomicenvironment,haveshowntremendouscommitmenttoourstrategyanddedicationtoservingourcustomers.
WewillcontinuetosupportourassociatebasethroughactionstoachievetheCompany’sdiversity,equity,andinclusion(DE&I)
goals,whileprovidingcompetitive total rewards, learninganddevelopment, andupskillingopportunities.

The Board andmanagement team remain focused on creating value for all stakeholders.We look forward to greeting you
at this year’s virtual Annual Meeting.

Mark J. Tritton

President and

Chief ExecutiveOfficer

Harriet Edelman

Chair of the Board of

Directors
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notice of 2022 annual meeting
of shareholders

Items of Business
Board Voting
Recommendations

PROPOSAL 1

To elect eleven directors to serve until the Annual

Meeting in 2023 and until their respective successors

have been elected and qualified.

FOR

each director

nominee

PROPOSAL2

To ratify the appointment of KPMG LLP as independent

auditors for fiscal 2022.

FOR

PROPOSAL3

Toapprove, by non-binding vote, the 2021 compensation

paid to the Company’s Named Executive Officers (NEOs)

(commonly knownas a ‘‘say-on-pay’’ proposal).

FOR

Such other business as may properly be brought before the Annual Meeting or any
adjournment or adjournments.

proxyvoting
It is important that your shares be represented and voted at the Annual Meeting of
Shareholders (the ‘‘AnnualMeeting’’) of BedBath&Beyond Inc. (the ‘‘Company,’’ ‘‘we,’’ or
‘‘us’’), a NewYork corporation.Whether or not you plan to attend theAnnualMeeting, we
urge you to vote online, via telephone or by mail, in each case prior to the date of the
Annual Meeting by following the instructions in our proxy statement. Proxies are being
solicitedbytheBoardtobeusedat theAnnualMeetingandtheapproximatedateonwhich
this Proxy Statement and accompanying Formof Proxywill be available to shareholders is
on or about June 1, 2022.

This year’s Annual Meeting will be in a virtual-only meeting format. Shareholders will be
able to listen, vote and submit questions via the internet by visiting
www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/BBBY2022. Please retain the 16-digit control
number included on your proxy card or in the voting instructions that accompanied your
proxy materials as you will need this number to attend the meeting virtually, vote at the
meeting or to submit a question to management at the meeting. We have designed the
virtual meeting to offer the same participation opportunities as an in-personmeeting.

DATEANDTIME

Thursday, July 14, 2022

10:00 A.M.

Eastern Daylight Time

VIRTUALMEETING

LOCATION

www.virtualshareholder

meeting.com/BBBY2022

WHO CANVOTE

You can vote if youwere a

shareholder of record as

of the close of business

onMay 16, 2022.

PRINCIPAL

EXECUTIVE OFFICE

650 Liberty Avenue,

Union, NJ 07083

Important Notice Regarding the Availability of ProxyMaterial for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held
on July 14, 2022:

This Notice of the 2022 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, Proxy Statement and the Company’s 2021 Annual Report

are available at www.proxyvote.com.
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fiscal 2021 highlights

fiscal 2021: rebuilding our foundation during the first year of our
comprehensive transformation

navigated a complex operating
environmentwhile executing our
multi-year turnaround strategy

Fiscal 2021 marked the beginning of our multi-year

transformation. We took important steps to improve

the structural foundation of our Company amidst a

still turbulent operating landscape impacted by the

derailment of the global supply chain, disruptions

from COVID-19 variants, and rising inflation. While

thesefactorshighlightedoperationalvulnerabilities in

the near-term, the need for our long-term structural

transformation has never beenmore apparent.

$8 billion in net sales driven by Bed Bath & Beyond

$3 billion of digital sales, maintaining 37%penetration

$1.4 billion in buybuy Baby sales, growing double-digit

$1 billion share repurchase program completed ahead of
schedule

$1.4 billion total liquidity position, including a new
$1.0 billion ABL facility

$182million adjusted EBITDA*

met keymilestones on our
long-term strategic roadmap

Wehavebeen charting a newcourse for theCompany

by reconstructing our operating model to drive

greater long-term efficiency and effectiveness. In

2021, we began implementing key catalysts across

our core strategic pillars. Despite the current

headwindsweface,our long-termstrategicexecution

continues tobuildmomentum.Wewill have structural

capabilities to bring us closer to industry standards

and renew our business for long-term growth and

profitability. We remain steadfastly dedicated to our

associates, customers, brand and our strategy.

8 newOwned Brands launchedwith sales penetration rate
above Fiscal 21 goal

Enhanced digital-first, omni-always presencewith key
partnerships (DoorDash, Uber), cross-bannerwebsite and
new digitalMarketplace

>30% digital sales fulfilled by stores

2million Beyond+members, 8% increase vs. fiscal 2020

Collaborationwith Kroger for Bed Bath & Beyond and
buybuy BABY banners

130 remodels commenced, with 80 completed, including
the grand re-opening ofChelsea, NYC flagship

200+ store fleet optimization program completed

embedded an ESG strategy into our
comprehensive transformation

Our core ESG pillars – people, community, and planet

– anchor our purpose and actions. Over the past year,

wehaveremainedsteadfast inourcommitmenttothe

robust ESG strategy announced last year and made

measurable progress towards our purpose tomake it

easy to feel at home – wherever that may be. The

challenges facing business and society today require

collective action. Our focus on the fundamental

issues that impact our global society will ensure Bed

Bath & Beyond Inc. is part of the solution.

ESG vision and principles incorporated into all business
activities, yielding progress in 2021:

70%women representation across total workforce,
including 58%-72% acrossmanagement and
non-management

>50% racial and ethnic diversity across total workforce

100% parental leave at all levels

~$300 thousand contributed to Associate Relief Fund

$29.65million in product donations

>40%waste diverted from landfill in our operations

>27% reduction in water usage in our overall footprint vs.
2019

>28% packagingweight from recycledmaterials

* AdjustedEBITDA is a non-GAAP financialmeasure. SeeAppendix A for a reconciliationofGAAP tonon-GAAPmeasures for fiscal 2021

used in this proxy statement.
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voting roadmap

PROPOSAL 1

election of directors The Board recommends a vote FOR
each director nominee

See page 8

our director nominees at-a-glance

Name, Age and PrimaryOccupation Independent

# of other Current
Public Company
Directorships

Committees
Director
Since A P N

Harriet Edelman, 66 (Chair)
Vice Chair, Emigrant Bank

2 2019

Mark J. Tritton, 58
President andChief ExecutiveOfficer,
Bed Bath & Beyond Inc.

1 2019

Marjorie Bowen, 57
Private investor and public
company director

1 2022

Sue E. Gove, 63
President, Excelsior Advisors, LLC

2 2019

Jeffrey A. Kirwan, 55
Chairman, Maurices Inc.

0 2019

Shelly Lombard, 62
Private investor, independent consultant
and public company director

1 2022

Benjamin Rosenzweig, 37
Partner, Privet FundManagement LLC

2 2022

Joshua E. Schechter, 49
Private investor and public
company director

2 2019

Minesh Shah, 48
Chief OperationsOfficer, Stitch Fix, Inc.

0 2022

AndreaM.Weiss, 67
Founding Partner, TheOAlliance, LLC;
Chief ExecutiveOfficer and Founder,
Retail Consulting Inc.

3 2019

AnnYerger, 60
Advisor, Spencer Stuart North
America Board Practice

0 2019

A Audit
Committee

P People, Culture
andCompensation
Committee

N Nominating and
Corporate
Governance Committee

Committee
Chair

● Audit Committee
Financial Expert

2022 proxy statement 5



skills and experience

core skills for oversight of our strategy

Marketing (including Digital Marketing)/

Personalization/Customer Experience

6/11

core skills for effective board oversight 
and corporate governance

Risk Management

5/11

demographics

tenure

100%
appointed within the

last 4 years

women
representation

55%
includes the Chair

of the Board 

racial and/or 
ethnically diverse 
representation

18%

age

57
average age

27%
30s & 40ss

27%
50s

46%
60s

independence

90%
Independent

1
non-independent (CEO)

Operations Management Experience

6/11

Technology/Cyber

2/11

CEO Experience

4/11

Digital/Omni-channel

7/11

Growth/Business Transformation

9/11

Corporate Governance/ESG

9/11

Retail Industry Experience

8/11

Financial Expertise

8/11

Public Company Board Service

8/11

VOTING ROADMAP
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PROPOSAL2

ratification of auditors The Board recommends a vote FOR
this proposal

See page 34

PROPOSAL3 The Board recommends a vote FOR
the approval, by non-binding vote, of

the 2021 compensation paid to the

Company’s NEOs

say-on-pay

See page 37

VOTING ROADMAP

2022 proxy statement 7



our board of directors and
corporate governance

PROPOSAL 1

election of directors

The Board recommends that the shareholders vote FOR the election of the eleven nominees as directors

whowe are

The Board, upon recommendation of its Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, has nominated the eleven

peoplenamedbelowforelectionasdirectors,withall eleven individualsbeingnominatedtoserve foraone-year termthat

expiresat the2023AnnualMeeting. In connectionwith theCooperationAgreemententered intoby theCompanyandRC

Ventures in March 2022, the Company agreed to add Marjorie Bowen, Shelly Lombard and Benjamin Rosenzweig to the

Board, and to nominate each of them for election as directors at the Annual Meeting. The Company further agreed that,

effective at the Annual Meeting, the size of the Boardwill be reduced to a total of eleven directors.

Beginning in April 2022, the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, together with an independent, third

party consultantengaged for thispurpose, conductedanassessmentof theBoard’s compositionand thecomplementof

skills andexperiences appropriate for apublic company in the retail sector. Therewasalso an independent reviewof each

director’s skills, qualifications and time commitments. In addition, each director was consulted regarding Board

composition overall and their personal interest in continuing to serve. As a result of this process, the Nominating and

Corporate Governance Committee recommended, and the Board approved, the eleven people named below to be

nominated for election to theBoard at theAnnualMeeting. John Fleming, Virginia Ruesterholz, andMaryWinstonwill not

stand for re-election. The Board has also reviewed certain changes to the composition of the Committees of the Board,

including the respectiveChairs, whichwill be effective immediately following theAnnualMeeting. Each directorwill serve

until the next annual meeting of shareholders or until their respective successors have been elected and qualified, if

earlier. All of the nominees for director currently serve as directors.

Information concerningour nominees asof the recorddate, and the keyexperience, qualifications and skills theybring to

our Board, is provided below. A particular director may possess additional experience, qualifications, attributes or skills,

even if not expressly indicated. Our Board’s diversity, tenure, age and independence are also shown below. The Board

recommends that shareholders vote FOR the election of the eleven director nominees.
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demographics of director nominees

tenure age

racial and/
or ethnically 

diverse, LGBTQ+
representation

women
representation independence

100%
appointed 

within the last 4

years

57
average age

18% 55%
includes the Chair

of the Board

90%
are independent; 

one non-independent 

director is the CEO

27%
30s & 40ss

27%
50s

46%
60s

BED BATH & BEYOND BOARD DIVERSITYMATRIX (AS OFJUNE 1, 2022)*

Total Number of Directors: 11

FEMALE MALE NON-BINARY

Part I: Gender Identity
Directors 6 5 0

Part II: Demographic Background
African American or Black 1 0 0

AlaskanNative or Native American 0 0 0

Asian 0 1 0

Hispanic or Latinx 0 0 0

Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander 0 0 0

White 5 4 0

Two orMore Races or Ethnicities 0 0 0

LGBTQ+ 0

Did Not DiscloseDemographic Background or Gender 0
* The Bed Bath & Beyond BoardDiversityMatrix includes director nominees only.

the core skillswe seek from directors andwhy

CORE SKILLS FOR OVERSIGHTOFOUR STRATEGY,

EFFECTIVE BOARD OVERSIGHTAND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

BedBath&Beyond is engaged in a strategic transformation tobecome thepreferredomni-channel homedestination
driven by teams consistently delivering balanced durable growth.

Our Board has identified certain core skills necessary to effectively oversee management and implement our
transformation strategy. In addition, our Board values directors with experience successfully leading and serving on
boards of other large, complex businesses.

Our director nominees bring an important mix of these core skills, as well as additional attributes and qualifications,
such as diversity of gender, race and/or ethnicity and background to our Board.

OUR BOARD OFDIRECTORSAND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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BED BATH & BEYOND DIRECTOR CORE SKILLS MATRIX
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Digital / Omni-channel

Growth / Business Transformation

Marketing (including Digital Marketing / 

Personalization / Customer Experience

Operations Management Experience

Retail Industry Experience

Technology / Cyber

CEO Experience

Financial Expertise

Corporate Governance / ESG

Public Company Board Service

Risk Management
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The Board has considered each director based on, among others, the experiences, qualifications and skills indicated above in
concluding such director should serve on our Board.

OUR BOARD OFDIRECTORSAND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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board nominees and qualifications

Harriet
Edelman

Vice Chair, Emigrant Bank

Age: 66

Chair of the Board since

May 2020

Independent Director

since 2019

EXPERIENCE

Ms. Edelman is an accomplished senior executive with over 30 years of global operating

experience in consumer goods and financial services. Since 2010, she has served as the

Vice Chair of Emigrant Bank, a private financial institution, after serving as Special

Advisor to the Chairman from June 2008 toOctober 2010. Prior to that, she spentmore

than 25 years with Avon Products, Inc. holding various senior global leadership positions

in sales, marketing, supply chain, information technology and product development.

She has served on large public company boards for nearly 20 years in the U.S. and

Europe and inmultiple Board leadership positions. The consumer goods business has

been central toMs. Edelman’s career, and she has a strong passion for our Company and

brand. She brings strong leadership to our Board to help deliver on our business

transformation.

EDUCATION

• Bachelor of Music, Bucknell University
• MBA, FordhamGabelli School of Business

PUBLIC BOARD MEMBERSHIPS

• Assurant, Inc.
• Brinker International, Inc.

SELECTNOT-FOR-PROFIT

• Bucknell University Board of Trustees, Vice Chair (until 2020)

Mark J. Tritton

President andChief

ExecutiveOfficer, Bed

Bath &Beyond Inc.

Age: 58

Director since 2019

EXPERIENCE

Mr. Tritton has over 30 years of experience in the retail industry. SinceNovember 2019,

Mr. Tritton has served as our President andChief ExecutiveOfficer. Prior to joining the

Company, hewas the Executive Vice President andChief MerchandisingOfficer of

Target Corporation, one of the largest retailers in the U.S., from June 2016 toNovember

2019. During his tenurewith Target Corporation, hewas instrumental in transforming

the omnichannel shopping experience. He has end-to-end retail industry experience in

merchandising, design,manufacturing,marketing and distribution at some of the

world’s leading iconic retailers and brands, includingNordstrom, Timberland andNike.

EDUCATION

• Bachelor of Education in English andHistory, University of Sydney, Australia

PUBLIC BOARD MEMBERSHIPS

• Nordstrom, Inc.

SELECTNOT-FOR-PROFIT

• St. Jude Children’s ResearchHospital

OUR BOARD OFDIRECTORSAND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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Marjorie Bowen

Private investor and public

company director

Age: 57

Independent Director

since 2022

EXPERIENCE

Ms. Bowen is a private investor, active public company director, and former investment

banker. Ms. Bowen has served on over a dozen boards of both public and private

companies and has extensive board experienceswith companies undergoing

transformations. Ms. Bowen’s directorship experiences include several companies

engaged in the retail industry. Previously, from 1989 through 2007, Ms. Bowenwas a

senior executive, ManagingDirector, and head of the fairness opinion practice at the

multinational investment banking firm of Houlihan Lokey. Ms. Bowenwas an active deal

advisor and regularly assisted public company boards on transaction, strategic and

other shareholdermatters. Her significant prior directorship experience aswell as her

experienceworkingwith companies in transitional situations supports our ongoing

business transformation.

EDUCATION

• BA, Colgate University
• MBA, University of Chicago

PUBLIC BOARD MEMBERSHIPS

• CBL &Associates Properties
• Sequential Brands (until 2021)
• Centric Brands (until 2020)
• Navient (until 2020)
• Genesco (until 2019)
• ShoreTel (until 2017)

PRIVATE BOARD MEMBERSHIPS

• Voyager Aviation Holdings, LLC

Sue E. Gove

President, Excelsior

Advisors, LLC

Age: 63

Independent Director

since 2019

EXPERIENCE

Ms. Gove is the founder of Excelsior Advisors, LLC, a retail consulting and advisory firm,

where she has advised clients on key issues impacting the retail industry since 2014. She

served as a Senior Advisor for Alvarez &Marsal, a global professional services firm, from

March 2017 toMarch 2019. Prior to her consulting career, Ms. Gove spentmore than

30 years in the retail industry where she served in senior financial, operating and

strategic roles, leading to her positions as President andChief ExecutiveOfficer of

Golfsmith International Holdings, Inc. and Chief OperatingOfficer of Zale Corporation.

In addition, Ms. Gove has served on various public company boardswithin the retail

industry, providing significant leadership experience and diverse perspectives to our

Board.

EDUCATION

• BBA, Accounting, University of Texas at Austin

PUBLIC BOARD MEMBERSHIPS

• Conn’s, Inc.
• IAA, Inc.
• Tailored Brands (until 2020)
• Iconix BrandGroup, Inc. (until 2019)
• Logitech International S.A. (until 2018)
• Autozone, Inc. (until 2017)

PRIVATE BOARD MEMBERSHIPS

• The FreshMarket
• Truck Hero, Inc.

SELECTNOT-FOR-PROFIT

• The University of Texas System, Audit Committee

OUR BOARD OFDIRECTORSAND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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JeffreyA.
Kirwan

Chairman,Maurices Inc.

Age: 55

Independent Director
since 2019

EXPERIENCE

Mr. Kirwan currently serves as the Chairman ofMaurices Incorporated, a specialty

retailer focused onwomen’s value apparel. Previously, he served as theGlobal President

of theGapDivision of TheGap, Inc., a worldwide clothing and accessories retailer, from

December 2014 to February 2018. He also led theGap’s operations in China from2011

to 2014. During his tenurewith TheGap, Inc., he contributed to significant operational

progress, including strongmarketing and customer engagement, increased traffic and

improved sales and digital business. Mr. Kirwan’s executive experience in large,

multinational retailers, his knowledge of our customer base aswell as his strong

consumermarketing and sales experience is an important asset for our Board.

EDUCATION

• BS, Rhode Island College
• Masters of Science, the University of Maryland University College

PRIVATE BOARD MEMBERSHIPS

• Maurices Inc.

Shelly
Lombard

Private investor,

independent consultant

and public company

director

Age: 62

Independent Director

since 2022

EXPERIENCE

Ms. Lombard currently serves as an independent consultant, focusing on investment

analysis and financial training. She has over 30 years of experience analyzing, valuing,

and investing in companies. Prior to becoming a consultant, she served as Director of

High Yield and Special Situation Research for BrittonHill Capital, a broker dealer

specializing in high yield and special situation bank debt and bonds and value equities,

from 2011 to 2014. Prior to that, shewas a high yield and special situation bond analyst

andwas also involved in analyzing,managing, and restructuring proprietary

investments for various financial institutions. Shewas named byNACD as one of its

100Directorship Honorees for 2021. Ms. Lombard brings strong financial analysis,

investment, capital markets, and public company director experience to our Board.

EDUCATION

• BA, Communications andGovernment, SimmonsUniversity
• MBA, Finance, Columbia University

PUBLIC BOARD MEMBERSHIPS

• INNOVATECorporation
• Spartacus Acquisition Corporation (until 2021)
• Alaska Communications Systems (until 2021)

OUR BOARD OFDIRECTORSAND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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Benjamin
Rosenzweig

Partner, Privet Fund

Management LLC

Age: 37

Independent Director

since 2022

EXPERIENCE

Mr. Rosenzweig has been a Partner at Privet FundManagement LLC, an investment firm

focused on event-driven, value-oriented investments in small capitalization companies,

since 2008. Prior to that, Mr. Rosenzweig served as an Investment Banking Analyst in

the corporate finance group of Alvarez &Marsal, a global professional services firm,

from 2007 to 2008. During his tenurewith Alvarez &Marsal, he advised clients on

multipleM&A transactions, restructurings, capital formation transactions and similar

financial advisory engagements across several industries. He currently serves on

various public company boards, including as Chairman of the Board of Synalloy

Corporation. Mr. Rosenzweig brings significant public company board experience and

financial expertise to our Board.

EDUCATION

• BBA, Finance and Economics, Emory University

PUBLIC BOARD MEMBERSHIPS

• Synalloy Corporation
• PFSweb, Inc.
• Potbelly Corporation (until 2022)
• Cicero, Inc. (until 2020)
• StarTek, Inc. (until 2018)

PRIVATE BOARD MEMBERSHIPS

• Hardinge Inc.

Joshua E.
Schechter

Private investor and public

company director

Age: 49

Independent Director

since 2019

EXPERIENCE

Mr. Schechter is a private investor and public company director. He has strong public

company board leadership expertise, previously serving as Chairman of the Board of

SunWorks, Inc., a premier provider of high-performance solar power solutions, and

Chairman of the Board of Support.com, a leading provider of cloud-based software and

services. He spent 13 years in investment services for Steel Partners and its affiliates,

includingManagingDirector of Steel Partners Ltd. and Co-President, Steel Partners

Japan AssetManagement, LP. His significant experiencewith complex business and

strategic transactions, M&A, corporate governancematters and capital markets,

together with his public company board leadership experience provides valuable insight

to our Board.

EDUCATION

• BBA, University of Texas at Austin
• MPA, Professional Accounting, University of Texas at Austin

PUBLIC BOARD MEMBERSHIPS

• Landec Corp.
• Viad Corp
• Support.com (until 2021)
• SunWorks, Inc. (until 2020)
• Genesco Inc. (until 2019)

OUR BOARD OFDIRECTORSAND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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Minesh Shah

Chief OperationsOfficer,

Stitch Fix, Inc.

Age: 48

Independent Director

since 2022

EXPERIENCE

Mr. Shah has served as Chief OperationsOfficer at Stitch Fix, theworld's leading online

shopping experience, sinceOctober 2020 and is responsible for the company's

operations and client experiences. He also served as Vice President, Operations at

Stitch Fix fromSeptember 2018 toOctober 2020. Previously, Mr. Shah served as Senior

Director of DeliveryOperations at TeslaMotors, Inc. from February 2017 to June 2018.

He has spentmost of his career in high growth, consumer-driven companies – focused

on operations, customer experience, omnichannel programs,marketing and digital

retail, including as Vice President of Global eCommerce for Uniqlo Co. Ltd. Mr. Shah’s

extensive consumer, supply chain, marketing, technology and operational experience,

as well as his deep knowledge and expertise in retail offer valuable perspective and

oversight to our ongoing transformation.

EDUCATION

• BS, Chemical Engineering, Northwestern University
• MBA,Marketing, Management and Strategy, Northwestern University

Andrea M.
Weiss

Founding Partner,

TheOAlliance, LLC;

Chief ExecutiveOfficer

and Founder, Retail

Consulting Inc.

Age: 67

Independent Director
since 2019

EXPERIENCE

Ms.Weiss was an early innovator inmulti-channel commerce and brings nearly 30 years

of entrepreneurial leadership experience in the retail industry, currently serving as

Founding Partner of TheOAlliance, LLC since 2014 andChief ExecutiveOfficer and

Founder of Retail Consulting Inc. since 2002. She is recognized as a pioneer in creating a

seamless customer experience and has been a key player in transforming retail into the

digital space. She also has extensive experience developing high-level business strategy

and tactical execution plans, including implementing turnaround initiatives for leading

brands in the U.S. and Europe. Ms.Weiss was named byNACD as one of the Top 100

Best Public Directors in 2016. Our Board benefits fromMs.Weiss’ extensive retail and

transformation experience, as well as her experience serving on public company boards.

EDUCATION

• BFA, Virginia Commonwealth University
• Masters of Administrative Science, The JohnsHopkins University
• Post-Graduate Studies at Harvard Business School and The Kellogg School of

Management at Northwestern University
• NACDBoard Leadership Fellow andDirectorship Certification

PUBLIC BOARD MEMBERSHIPS

• Cracker Barrel Old Country Store, Inc.
• O’Reilly Automotive, Inc.
• RPT Realty
• Chico’s FAS, Inc. (until 2018)

SELECTNOT-FOR-PROFIT

• DeliveringGood, Inc., Chair of the Board
• HamptonUniversity Board of Trustees, Vice Chair
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AnnYerger

Advisor, Spencer Stuart

North America Board

Practice

Age: 60

Independent Director

since 2019

EXPERIENCE

Ms. Yerger has dedicated her career to the advancement of corporate governance and

investor protection initiatives. She has held various governance advisory roles, including

her current position as Advisor with Spencer Stuart North America Board Practice, a

leading board consulting firm, which she has held since 2017. She has also served as a

Member of theGrant Thornton Audit Quality Advisory Council since 2019. Previously,

Ms. Yerger served as Executive Director, Center for BoardMatters at Ernst & Young LLP

from2015 to 2017. In addition, she has served as amember of several advisory boards

and committees, including the Investor Advisory Committee of the U.S. Securities and

ExchangeCommission and theNasdaq Listing andHearing ReviewCouncil. She has

been recognized by the International Corporate GovernanceNetwork andNACD for her

contributions to investor collaboration and the improvement of corporate governance.

Ms. Yerger's deep corporate governance and shareholder-orientedwork provide our

Boardwith important insight and guidancewith respect to our corporate governance

practices and engagement with key stakeholders.

EDUCATION

• BA, Economics, Duke University
• MBA, Tulane University
• CFA charterholder

PRIVATE BOARD MEMBERSHIPS

• Hershey Entertainment and Resorts
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howwe are selected and evaluated
Directors are elected at each annualmeeting to serve until the next annualmeeting anduntil their respective successors

are duly elected and qualified, subject to their earlier death, resignation or removal.

The Board has adopted a policy regarding minimum qualifications for potential directors. These qualifications are

considered by the Board and the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, together with further core skills

deemeduseful in the context of an assessment of the current needsof theBoard. All candidates for election toour Board

mustparticipate ina rigorousevaluationprocess.Aspartof thisprocess,candidatesare requiredtoundergoathird-party

background and conflicts check, complete our director questionnaire, and interviewwith, at aminimum,members of our

NominatingandCorporateGovernanceCommittee, IndependentChairof theBoard,CEOandanyexternal search firmor

advisor engaged on these matters. Shareholders may recommend nominees to the Nominating and Corporate

Governance Committee by submitting the names and supporting information in writing to the Company’s Corporate

Secretary at 650 Liberty Avenue, Union, New Jersey 07083 in accordancewith the Company’s Bylaws.

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee believes the director nominees possess the experience, skills

and qualifications established by the Corporate Governance Guidelines and necessary to continue the Company’s

strategic transformation. Inaddition, theCompany’sCorporateGovernanceGuidelines limit thenumberofoutsideboard

memberships of our directors.
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Minimumqualifications to
serve as a director:

are of high character and
integrity;

are accomplished in their
respective fields, with superior
credentials and recognition;

have relevant expertise and
experience upon which to be
able to offer advice and
guidance tomanagement;

have sufficient time available
to devote to the affairs of the
Company;

are able toworkwith the other
members of the Board and
contribute to the success of
the Company;

can represent the long-term
interests of the Company’s
shareholders as awhole; and

are selected such that the
Board represents a range of
backgrounds, experience,
ages and diversity of gender,
race, and ethnicity.

Additional skills for effective Board
oversight of our strategy, risk and
corporate governance:

Applicable legal and
regulatory requirements:

The Nominating and Corporate
Governance Committee also
considers applicable legal and
regulatory requirements that
govern the composition of the
Board, including but not limited to,
Nasdaq and SEC requirements
with respect to independence,
diversity, financial literacy and
othermatters.

All members of all Committees
are independent

Digital/Omni-
channel Experience

Senior
Leadership
& Strategic
Planning

Growth/Business
Transformation

CEO
Experience

International
Experience

Financial
Literacy/
Expertise

Marketing
(includingDigital
Marketing)/
Personalization/
Customer
Experience

Public Affairs/
Corporate
Governance/
ESG

Operations
Management
Experience

Public Company
Board Service

Retail
Industry
Experience

Risk
Management

Technology/
Cyber

consideration of diversity

Qualified candidates for membership on the Board will be considered without regard to race, color, creed, religion,
national origin, age, gender identity, sexual orientation or disability. As detailed in our Corporate Governance
Guidelines, the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee endeavors to include diverse candidates
(including women and candidates who self-identify as either an underrepresented minority or LGBTQ+) in the
qualifiedpool fromwhichBoardcandidates are chosenand,whennominatedandelected, to consider suchdirectors
for leadershipontheBoardand itscommittees.TheNominatingandCorporateGovernanceCommitteereviewsand
evaluates each candidate’s character, judgment, skills, background, experience and other qualifications (without
regard to whether a nominee has been recommended by the Company’s shareholders), as well as the overall
composition of the Board, and recommends to the Board for its approval the slate of directors to be nominated for
election at the Annual Meeting. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee is committed to, and
actively applies, its policy of inclusiveness as a critical component of its board refreshment efforts.
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board refreshment and succession planning

As part of our continuing Board refreshment initiative, the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee regularly

assesses thecurrentneedsof theBoard, including through itsoversightof theBoard’s compositionandpeerassessment

process as further described under ‘‘board self-assessment and board composition & peer assessment processes’’

below. This effort is intended to help ensure that directors possess an appropriatemix of skills and experience, including

a balance between new and experienced directors and a further alignment of the attributes of the directors with the

Company’s strategic needs, and to help inform the Board’s succession planning process.

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee also evaluates our director succession planning needs,

including through the consideration of any possible retirements or other departures from the Board and the active

consideration of new director candidates that would best complement the skills and attributes of the existing directors,

and continue to best position the Board to assess, challenge and oversee the Company’s long-term strategy. The

NominatingandCorporateGovernanceCommitteeevaluatesanycandidatesagainst thestandardsandqualificationsset

forth in our Corporate Governance Guidelines as well as other relevant factors, including the candidate’s potential

contribution to the diversity of the Board.

To assist the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee in identifying prospective Board nominees when

undertaking a search, the Company may retain an outside search firm. The Nominating and Corporate Governance

Committee also considers candidates suggested by itsmembers, other directors, management and shareholders.

Through this evaluation and assessment process in 2021, the Board, by recommendation from the Nominating and

CorporateGovernanceCommittee, identified theneed for representationof additional skills andattributesonourBoard.

As a result, the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee engaged a third-party independent search firm to

assistwith the identificationof potential candidates,which resulted in theappointmentofMineshShahonMarch1, 2022.
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howwe are governed and govern

corporate governance at Bed Bath & Beyond

The Board believes that good corporate governance accompanies and aids the Company’s long-term success, and, in

coordination with the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, regularly reviews the Company’s corporate

governance policies and practices. The Company’s governance policies and practices, including the Corporate

GovernanceGuidelines, weremost recently updated in fiscal 2021 based upon a comprehensive review against peer and

market leading practices.

Our current corporate governance policies and practices include, among other things:

Practice Description

accountability to shareholders

ANNUAL
ELECTIONS

All directors are elected annually, which reinforces our Board’s accountability to shareholders.

MAJORITY
VOTING
STANDARD

Our Amended and Restated Bylaws provide for a ‘‘majority voting’’ standard in uncontested

director elections. An incumbent director that does not meet the majority voting standard must

promptly offer to resign from the Board.

BOARD
REFRESHMENT

The Board has undergone a complete transformation, with all our directors standing for

re-election appointedwithin the last four years.

PROXYACCESS OurAmendedandRestatedBylawsprovide that anyshareholderorgroupofup to20shareholders

owning 3%ormore of theCompany’s common stock continuously for at least the previous three

yearsmaynominateand include inourproxymaterialsdirectornomineestotalinguptothegreater

of 20%of the Board or at least two directors.

SHAREHOLDER
ENGAGEMENT

We are committed to active and ongoing shareholder engagement, including by directors, to

capture investor perspectives. We regularly engage with our shareholders to better understand

their perspectives in a variety of areas, and these discussions ensure the Company’s interests

remain well-alignedwith those of our shareholders.

strong, independent leadership

INDEPENDENCE Amajorityof ourdirectorsmustbe independent.Currently, all of our directorsother thanourCEO

are independent. The Board and its committees hold regular executive sessions of independent

directors, including in conjunctionwith regularmeetings.

INDEPENDENT
CHAIR

We currently have an independent Chair of the Board. If in the future, our CEO is also the Chair of

the Board or the Chair of the Board is otherwise not independent, our Corporate Governance

Guidelines require an independent director to serve as LeadDirector.

BOARD
COMMITTEES

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee reviews and recommends committee

membership. All of the members of the Audit Committee, People, Culture and Compensation

Committee and Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee are independent directors.

Each of our committees is chaired by an independent director, and each committee has an

extensively detailed charter outlining the committee’s duties and responsibilities, which are

reviewed at least on an annual basis.

BOARD
EDUCATION

Ourcomprehensiveboardeducationprogrambeginswithanewdirectororientationprocess that

includes individual discussions with the Chair of the Board, the CEO and other senior executives

andvisits tooneormore storesorotherCompany facilities.Director education continues at each

Boardmeeting, through reports andpresentations byCompanyofficers andoutside experts. The

Boardalsoencouragesdirectorstoperiodicallyattendappropriatecontinuingeducationseminars

or programs.
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Practice Description

board structure

DIVERSITY Our directors have a diversity of perspectives, backgrounds, ages, genders, races and ethnicities

reflecting thediversity of theCompany’s loyal customers anddedicated associates. As detailed in

our Corporate Governance Guidelines, the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee

endeavors to include diverse candidates (including women and candidates who self-identify as

either an underrepresented minority or LGBTQ+) in the qualified pool from which Board

candidatesarechosenand,whennominatedandelected, toconsider suchdirectors for leadership

on the Board and its committees.

DIRECTOR
OVERBOARDING
POLICY

Our CEO and non-executive directors who are employed as the chief executive officer or are

otherwise a ‘‘Named ExecutiveOfficer’’ of any public company are expected to serve on nomore

than one other public company board. Other directors are expected to serve on no more than

three other public company boards.

SELF-
ASSESSMENTS

The Board and each of its committees conduct rigorous annual self-assessments.

BOARD
COMPOSITION
AND PEER
ASSESSMENTS

The Board conducts board composition and peer assessments on a biennial basis, which may be

facilitated by an independent third-party. The last assessmentwas conducted in fiscal 2020 by an

independent third-party.

RISK OVERSIGHT The Board and the Audit Committee at least annually review and engage with the Company’s

Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) process and monitor both the risk culture and emerging and

current strategic risks.

ESG OVERSIGHT The Board and the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee regularly review the

Company’s ESG strategies, policies and practices. The Board and the People, Culture and

CompensationCommittee regularly reviewtheCompany’s strategies, policies andpracticeswith

respect to people and culture matters, including diversity, equity and inclusion (‘‘DE&I’’) policies,

programs and initiatives.

MANAGEMENT
SUCCESSION
PLANNING

The People, Culture and Compensation Committee is responsible for the oversight of regular

management succession planning for the CEO and other executive officers of the Company. The

NominatingandCorporateGovernanceCommittee is responsible for theoversightof emergency

management succession planning.

compensation practices and alignmentwith shareholders

COMPENSATION
PRACTICES

The People, Culture and Compensation Committee is dedicated to aligning the Company’s

executive compensation practices with the long-term strategy of the Company and the

Company’s compensation design pillars.

COMPENSATION
RECOUPMENT

TheCompanyhas the right to recovercashandequity incentivecompensationpaid tocurrentand

formerofficers inabroadrangeofcoveredevents, includingconductdetrimental totheCompany.

ANTI-HEDGING
AND PLEDGING
POLICIES

The Company does not permit our executive officers to hedge the Company’s securities and

restricts their ability to pledge the Company’s securities.

STOCK
OWNERSHIP
GUIDELINES FOR
OFFICERSAND
DIRECTORS

The Company’s stock ownership guidelines contain minimum ownership requirements for

executiveofficersanddirectors,whichareregularly reviewedandbenchmarkedagainstourpeers.
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board leadership
As stated in our CorporateGovernanceGuidelines, the Board’s general policy, based on experience, is that the positions

of Chair and Chief Executive Officer (‘‘CEO’’) should be held by separate persons. Our current independent Chair of the

Board isHarrietEdelman.As independentChairof theBoard,Ms.Edelmanpresidesatallmeetingsof theshareholdersand

of the Board, and has such powers and performs such other duties required by statute or the Company’s Amended and

Restated Bylaws and as set forth in the Corporate Governance Guidelines or as the Board may from time to time

determine.

Harriet Edelman

Independent

Chair of the Board

Our CorporateGovernanceGuidelines provide that the independent Chair will:

• seek to promote a strong board culture, including the participation of all directors in

an environment of open dialogue, constructive feedback and effective

communication across Board committees and among the Chair, the Board as a

whole, andwith regard to seniormanagement;

• preside at allmeetings of theBoard, including executive sessions of the independent

directors;

• preside at all meetings of the shareholders;

• have the authority to call meetings of the Board and of the independent directors;

• determine the agendas, schedule and information sent to the directors for Board

meetings, including to assure sufficient time for discussion of agenda items,

prioritizematters and promote effective information flow and follow-up;

• workwiththeapplicablecommitteechairsandBoardcommitteeswithrespecttothe

annual performance review of the CEO and the Board’s self-assessment and board

composition and peer assessment processes;

• act as a liaison between themembers of the Board andmanagement; and

• be available for consultationwith the Company’s shareholders as appropriate.

Under the Company’s Corporate GovernanceGuidelines, if the Board, upon the recommendation of theNominating and

Corporate Governance Committee, decides in the future that, given the then current circumstances, combining the

positions of independent Chair and CEO would foster a more effective and efficient Board, or the independent Chair is

otherwisedeterminedby theBoard tonot be independent, then the independent directorswill designate an independent

director to serve as Lead Director. The Lead Director would generally have the duties and responsibilities of the current

independent Chair of the Board, unless otherwise determined by the Board.

director independence
The Board, upon the recommendation of the Nominating and Corporate

Governance Committee, has determined that all of our directors other than

Mr. Tritton are ‘‘independent directors’’ under the independence standards set

forth in ourCorporateGovernanceGuidelines andNasdaqListingRule 5605(a)(2).

BOARD INDEPENDENCE

Independent, including our Chair

Non-independent (CEO)

10
1

The Board conducts an annual review of director independence. As part of this review, independence is assessed in both

factandappearancetopromotearms-lengthoversightand isdesignedto identify relationshipsandtransactionsbetween

a director or their immediate family and the Company or members of executive management. In the ordinary course of

business, transactions may occur between the Company and entities with which some of our directors or their family

members areorhavebeenaffiliated. In connectionwith its evaluationofdirector independence, ourBoard reviewedsuch

transactions, and it has determined that these transactions do not impair the independence of the respective director.
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committees of the board of directors

TheBoardhasestablishedstandingcommitteestoassistwiththeperformanceof

its responsibilities. These committees are the Audit Committee, the People,

Culture and Compensation Committee and the Nominating and Corporate

Governance Committee.

Allmembersof theAudit, People,CultureandCompensationandNominatingand

Corporate Governance Committees are considered independent pursuant to

applicable SEC and Nasdaq rules, and all members of the People, Culture and

Compensation Committee meet the ‘‘outside directors’’ requirements for

purposes of applicable tax law.

The Board has adoptedwritten

charters for the Audit, People,

Culture andCompensation,

andNominating andCorporate

Governance Committees. The

charters are available in the

Investor Relations section of

the Company’s website at

www.bedbathandbeyond.com.*

Each Committee reviews its

charter annually and

recommends charter changes

to the Board, as appropriate.

* Web links throughout this document are provided for convenience only. Information from the Bed Bath & Beyond website is not

incorporated by reference into this proxy statement.

audit committee

Fiscal 2021Meetings: 9

CurrentMembers (all independent): Joshua E. Schechter*, Chair | Sue E. Gove* | Virginia P. Ruesterholz* | AndreaM.Weiss*

* Audit Committee Financial Experts

The Audit Committee assists the Board by:

• overseeing theCompany’s accountingand financial reportingprocessesand the integrityof theCompany’squarterly

and annual financial statements;

• reviewingtheCompany’searningsannouncements,aswell as financial informationandearningsguidanceprovidedto

analysts and ratings agencies;

• reviewing audits of the Company’s financial statements;

• overseeing the Company’s internal control system and the quality of internal control bymanagement;

• overseeingmanagement’s practices to ensure adequate riskmanagement;

• overseeing the Company’s corporate compliance program, including compliance with legal and regulatory

requirements and the Company’s ethical conduct policy;

• reviewing and overseeing the independent auditor’s qualifications, independence and performance;

• overseeing the performance of the Company’s internal audit function;

• overseeing cybersecurity, data privacy, information technology and information protection programs; and

• overseeing procedures for receipt and treatment of complaints received by the Company from its customers,

vendors or associates relating to accounting, internal accounting controls or auditingmatters.

The Audit Committee has the authority to engage independent counsel and other advisors.
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people, culture and compensation committee

Fiscal 2021Meetings: 11

CurrentMembers (all independent): John E. Fleming, Chair | Jeffrey Kirwan | Ann Yerger

The People, Culture andCompensation Committee assists the Board by:

• considering and determining all matters relating to the compensation of the CEO, the Executive Chair (if applicable)

and other executive officers (as defined in Rule 3b-7 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the

‘‘Exchange Act’’)), and such other key executives as the Committee shall determine;

• administeringandfunctioningastheCommitteethat isauthorizedtomakegrantsandawardsofequitycompensation

to executive officers and such other key executives as the Committee shall determine under the Company’s equity

compensation plans;

• overseeing the Company’smanagement succession planning for the CEO and other executive officers;

• overseeing theCompany’s people and culturematters, including associate diversity and inclusion policies, programs

and initiatives; and

• reviewing and reporting to the Board on such other matters as may be appropriately delegated by the Board for the

Committee’s consideration.

The People, Culture and Compensation Committee has the authority to engage compensation consultants and

other advisors.

nominating and corporate governance committee

Fiscal 2021Meetings: 17

CurrentMembers (all independent):Virginia P. Ruesterholz, Chair | SueE.Gove |MaryA.Winston | AnnYerger

TheNominating andCorporateGovernanceCommittee assists theBoard by:

• reviewing and recommending to theBoard changes in certain policies regarding the nomination of directors;

• identifying individuals qualified to becomedirectors;

• evaluating and recommending for theBoard’s selection nominees to fill positions on theBoard;

• advising the Boardwith respect to leadership of the Board and the structure and composition of the committees of the

Board;

• facilitating the annual assessment of the performanceof theBoard and its committees;

• facilitating a composition andpeer assessment reviewof theBoard not less than biennially;

• advising and making recommendations to the Board with respect to corporate governance matters, including the

Company’sCorporateGovernanceGuidelines andother corporate governancepolicies;

• overseeing theCompany’s ESGstrategies, policies andpractices; and

• overseeing theCompany’s emergencymanagement succession planning.

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee also has the authority to retain advisors, including third-

party search firms to evaluate or assist in identifying or evaluating potential director nominees.
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management succession planning

While the full Board is responsible for ensuring that the Company engages in robust succession planning discussions for

the CEO position and for ultimately determining who holds such position, the Board has delegated the responsibility for

overseeing succession planning for the CEO and other executive officers to (i) the People, Culture and Compensation

Committee for regular succession planning and (ii) the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee for

emergency succession planning. This oversight responsibility includes periodically reviewing the management

successionplanand identifyingpotential successors fortheCEO.ThePeople,CultureandCompensationCommitteeand

the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee periodically report to the Board regarding succession planning

matters. In addition, the CEO periodically reports to the People, Culture and Compensation Committee regarding

succession plans for certain key officers and also makes recommendations to the Board regarding his/her own

succession.

people, culture and compensation committee
interlocks and insider participation

JohnE. Fleming, JeffreyKirwanandAnnYerger servedasmembersof thePeople,CultureandCompensationCommittee

during fiscal2021.NodirectorwhoservedonthePeople,CultureandCompensationCommitteeduring fiscal2021wasan

officer or associate of the Company or any of its subsidiaries in fiscal 2021 or previously was an officer of the Company.

None of our executive officers currently serve, or in fiscal 2021 has served, as a member of the board or compensation

committee of any entity that has one or more executive officers serving on our Board or the People, Culture and

Compensation Committee.

meetings of the board and committees

Our Board and its committees hold regular meetings each quarter and special meetings when necessary. All incumbent

directors attended at least 75%of the total Board and committeemeetings onwhich he or she served during 2021. All of

our directorswhowere servingon thedayof last year’s annualmeetingof shareholders attended thatmeeting. Under our

Corporate Governance Guidelines, absent unusual circumstances, Board members are expected to attend all Board

meetings, all committee meetings on which they serve and our annual meeting of shareholders. Our non-employee

directors,all ofwhomarecurrently independent,meet inexecutivesession,without thepresenceofanycorporateofficer

ormember ofmanagement, in conjunctionwith regularmeetings of the Board and its committees.

Number ofMeetings in 2021

Board of Directors 9

Audit Committee 9

People, Culture andCompensation Committee 11

Nominating andCorporate Governance Committee 17
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risk oversight

Weare committed to Board-level riskmanagement. The Boardmonitors theCompany’s ‘‘tone at the top’’ and risk

culture and oversees current and emerging strategic risks. Risk management is overseen by the Board and

facilitated through the work of the Board committees which are comprised entirely of independent directors and

provide regular reports to the Board regardingmatters reviewed by their committees.

AUDITCOMMITTEE

• Financial reporting

• Legal and regulatory

compliance

• Operational risk

• Cybersecurity and data privacy

• Internal controls

• Corporate compliance

program

PEOPLE, CULTUREAND
COMPENSATION

COMMITTEE

• People and culturematters,

includingDE&I

• Associate talent retention and

development

• Compensation policies and

practices

• Conflicts of interest involving

advisors to the compensation

committee

• Management succession

planning for the CEO and other

executive officers

NOMINATING
AND CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

COMMITTEE

• ESG strategy, policies and

practices

• Board composition, emergency

management succession, and

Board andCEOevaluations

• Governance-related risks,

including assessing and

monitoring the effectiveness of

our Corporate Governance

Guidelines

enterprise risk management

The Company employs enterprise riskmanagement (‘‘ERM’’) practices designed to identify and assess risks to our

business and to develop strategies to mitigate and manage those risks. Our ERM risk assessment and related

reporting involve cross-functional engagement to ensure appropriate prioritization and alignment across the

Company. These activities, which are overseen by the Company’s Controls, Audit and Risk Services team, were

recently refreshed in 2021. As part of its oversight responsibility, the Board receives reports on thematerial risks

facing theCompany,whichare identified throughmultiplemeans, including theCompany’sERMprocess.TheAudit

CommitteeofourBoard receives regular reportson theCompany’s risks,mitigationefforts and relatedcontrols to

managesuchrisks.Areasof riskandmitigationefforts reviewedwiththeBoardand itscommittees in furtheranceof

theBoard’soversight responsibilities include:economic forces;competition;weather;peopleandcultureriskssuch

as recruitment and retention, safety, and succession; cybersecurity and data security risks; compliance risks

associated with the range of legal, accounting, tax and financial reporting systems under which the Company

operates; supply chain risks, including disruption arising from political instability or labor disturbances, supplier

financial stability and legal compliance; and compliance with a variety of product, labor, social and environmental

standards. The ERMprocess also informs themore detailed risk factor disclosure in the Company’s Annual Report

on Form 10-K andQuarterly Reports on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC.

Additional details on theCompany’s risks can be found in theCompany’s Annual Report on Form10-K for the fiscal

year ended February 26, 2022.
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board self-assessment and board composition & peer
assessment processes

The Board conducts a rigorous annual process to assess effectiveness of the Board and each of its committees. As part

of thisprocess, theBoardandeachof thecommitteesare requiredtoreviewandevaluate itsperformance.TheBoardhas

delegated to theNominating andCorporateGovernanceCommittee the responsibility to facilitate this self-assessment

and report the results thereof to the Board, using such resources ormethods as it determines to be appropriate.

The Board also conducts a board composition review and peer assessment process on a biennial basis, which may be

facilitated by an independent third-party consultant. As part of this process, all Board members are interviewed to

provide input on each director, assess the Board’s effectiveness and identify opportunities to further improve

performance. At completion of the evaluation, results are delivered to and reviewed by the Board. The last board

composition review and peer assessment was completed at the end of fiscal 2020.

board education program

The Company and the Board believe that directors should continually update their skills and knowledge in order to

effectively oversee the management of the affairs of the Company. The Board’s comprehensive board education

program begins with a new director orientation process that includes individual discussions with the Chair of the Board,

the CEO and other senior executives; visits to one or more stores and other Company facilities; and orientation by the

Chief Legal Officer and Corporate Secretary regarding various Company programs and policies. Director education

continues at each Board meeting, through reports and presentations by Company officers and outside experts and

through the sharingof information amongdirectors. Additionally, theBoard recognizes thevalueof independent learning

and keeping abreast of legal and business developments to ensure effective discharge of director duties. In order to

advance these goals, the agenda at various Board meetings includes discussion of key business and governance issues.

TheBoard also encourages directors to periodically attend appropriate continuing education seminars or programs. The

Company reimburses directors for all reasonable fees and expenses associated with attending such programs, up to

$10,000 per director in any fiscal year.

anti-hedging and anti-pledging policies

Our directors and executive officers are prohibited from engaging in hedging ormonetization transactions with respect

to Company securities, including through the use of financial instruments such as prepaid variable forward contracts,

equity swaps, collars, exchange funds, puts, calls, forwards and other derivative instruments, or through the

establishment of a short position in the Company’s securities. In addition, our directors and executive officers are

prohibited from pledging Company securities as collateral for a loan or from holding Company securities in a margin

account, unless they certify to the Company’s Chief Legal Officer their financial capacity to repay the covered loan

without resorting to the pledged securities.

OUR BOARD OFDIRECTORSAND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

2022 proxy statement 27



stock ownership guidelines

As a further measure to align the interests of its non-employee directors with the interests of the Company, the

Company’s stock ownership guidelines require all non-employee directors to achieve ownership of Company stock

(inclusive of restricted stock), calculated in total share value, of not less than six times such director’s base annual cash

retainer. In addition, until a non-employee director has achieved theminimumshare ownership, such director is required

to hold one hundred percent (100%) of the shares acquired through the vesting of restricted stock received from the

Company. The People, Culture and Compensation Committee evaluates compliance with this policy on an annual basis.

Once a director satisfies the ownership guideline as of a measurement date, they will be considered in compliance

regardlessof shareprice fluctuationsor an increase in thedirector’s annual cash retainer, as long as their holdings remain

at or above the number of shares held at the time they first met the ownership guideline. These enhanced requirements

reflect the Board’s strong commitment to best-in-class governance policies and represent highest standards as

measured against theCompany’s peers. As of the endof fiscal 2021, all theCompany’s directors owned shares in excess

of the applicable guideline or were in compliancewith the retention requirement described above.

governance guidelines and policies; additional
information

The Investor Relations section of the Company’s website contains the following information:

• Corporate Governance Guidelines, including the Company’s Policies on Director Nominations and Director

Attendance at the Annual Meeting;

• theCompany’sPolicyofEthical Standards forBusinessConduct that applies toall associates (includingall officers) and

members of the Board;

• theCompany’sCompensationRecoupmentPolicy thatapplies toanycurrentor formerexecutiveofficer (asdefinedby

the Exchange Act) and such other senior executives whomay be deemed subject to the policy by the Board;

• the 2021 ESG Report, reporting on the environmental, social and governance issues most important to our

business; and

• how shareholders can communicatewith the Board.
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environmental, social andgovernance (ESG)

AsChairs of the Board and theNominating and Corporate Governance Committee, we believe it is essential that

the Board of Directors is directly engaged in the Company’s ESG strategy. This includes providing appropriate

oversight to all aspects of the strategy and ensuring sufficient links to our Company’s unique business model,

business plans, investments, and riskmanagement processes.

During 2021, our Company published an enhanced ESGReport for the fiscal year 2020 and established important

short- and long-term targets for the environment, the communitieswe serve, our associates and customers.Our

ESG strategy embeds important principles and programs across our business—with functional plans, leadership

ownership,metrics and targets. Through this framework,we aspire to be themost responsible partnerwe can for

our associates, customers, communities, shareholders and planet.

The Board provides oversight to ESGmatters in each Board committee and at the full Board level. This includes

monitoring progress on our ESG and DE&I goals and further advancing our strategy through the identification of

additional opportunities. In 2022, the Company tuned objectives first shared in 2021 and enhanced our overall

program.

We look forward to our ESG initiatives further distinguishing our Company, driving success, making a positive

impact on our customers and communities and responding to the interests of all stakeholders.

Harriet Edelman

Chair of the Board of Directors

Virginia P. Ruesterholz

Chair of theNominating and

CorporateGovernance Committee

our approach to ESG

Aligned with our purpose to make it easy to feel at home, our ESG vision and principles are embedded in all business

activities. Our strategy ismade up of three key pillars – People, Community and Planet – focusing on the areas where we

believewe can contribute themost.

People:

create an equitable, inclusive work environment where all associates feel at home and can thrive

Community:

provide a sense of home to the people and communities we serve

Planet:

do our part to protect the planet we call home

We are committed to a strong governance framework, designed to elevate and embed strong ethical values and

governance throughout the business to enable the ESG strategy. As part of that framework, our Board provides our

Company’s highest level of oversight for ESG matters. In addition, the Nominating and Corporate Governance

Committee has express authority over our ESG programs, strategies, policies and practices, the People, Culture and

CompensationCommittee regularly review theCompany’s strategies, policies and practiceswith respect to people and

culture matters, including DE&I and the Audit Committee oversees the Company’s compliance program and risk

management practices, including sustainability-related risks.

Formore information about our Board committee oversight responsibilities, see ‘‘committees of the board of directors.’’
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ESG highlights

Our ESG journey is only beginning, and we are committed to making continued progress in 2022 and beyond. Our ESG

visionandprinciplesand2021progress ishighlightedbelow.Formore informationonourESGprogramandperformance,

please review our 2021 ESGReport, which is available on our website at www.bedbathandbeyond.com.

people

We deeply believe our associates are our greatest asset. Being ‘people powered’ is a key principle of our multi-year

businesstransformationstrategy.Overthepastyear,wehavemadeprogressonimprovingtheassociateexperience,

including:

• implementing100%paidparental leaveat all levels

• conducting an all-associate engagement survey, the results of which will help us continue to improve our work
environmentandaddressassociate feedback

• creatingourStronger,TogetherReliefFundasaresourceforassociates facingshort-termfinancialhardship intheevent
of anunforeseenpersonal eventornatural disaster

• hiring our first Senior Vice President and Chief Diversity, Equity & Inclusion Officer responsible for the strategy and
executionofourDE&I commitments

Formore information about our people commitments, see ‘‘compensation, discussion and analysis - people & culture
highlights.’’

community

Community support is an integral part of our heritage and we have a long-standing tradition of providing aid to

our neighbors in need.Webelieve a senseof home is critical for thewell-being of individuals and communities. In

partnership with local and national non-profits, along with product donations and volunteering, we are working

to advance this sense of home to positively impact communities in need.

Our commitments are supported by our partnerships with two national non-profit organizations, Good360 and

Rebuilding Together, and our thousands of associates across North America who want to contribute and give

back to thecommunities inwhichweoperate. In2021,wedonatedproducts representing$29.65million invalue.

planet

Weunderstand the urgency of the environmental issues that face us today, andwe focus our sustainabilitywork

on the critical issues of climate change, sustainable products, and eliminating waste. As we transform our

business, we have the unique opportunity to deeply embed environmental considerations in the critical choices

wemake.We’vemade progress on our environmental goals, including:

• the acceleration of our greenhouse gas reduction goals for Scopes 1 and 2 emissions by 2030

• publishing our Environmental Policy, which describes our commitments on environmental issues

• launching our first circular economy initiativewith buybuy Baby’s partnershipwithGoodBuyGear to take back used
baby gear for resale in exchange for store credit
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howwe are paid
TheDirector Compensation Table provides compensation information for eachmember of our Board during fiscal 2021,

other than Mr. Tritton, our President and CEO, whose compensation is reflected in the Summary Compensation Table.

Mr.Trittondidnot receiveanydirector fees for fiscal2021, sincehereceivedcompensation inhiscapacityasanexecutive

of the Company.

Annual director fees for fiscal 2021were $90,000. In addition to annual fees, directors servingon standing committeesof

theBoardwerepaidas follows: anadditional $10,000 forAuditCommitteemembers (or$25,000 for theChair of theAudit

Committee); an additional $7,500 for People, Culture andCompensation Committeemembers (or $25,000 for the Chair

of the People, Culture and Compensation Committee); and an additional $5,000 for Nominating and Corporate

Governance Committeemembers (or $16,500 for the Chair of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee).

The independentChairof theBoardalso receivesanannual retainer in theamountof$200,000 (inadditiontothestandard

annual director fees received by the independent Chair of the Board), with 75% payable in cash and 25% payable in

restricted stock on the date of the Annual Meeting of Shareholders (calculated based on the average of the high and low

trading prices on such date).

TheCompanydoesnotpaypermeeting fees.Director feesarepaidonaquarterly basis.Directorsmayelect to receiveall

or 50%of their fees in stock.

In addition to the fees above, each director, other than Mr. Tritton, received a grant of restricted stock under the

Company’s 2012 Incentive Compensation Plan (the ‘‘2012 Plan’’) on the date of the Company’s 2021 Annual Meeting of

Shareholders with a grant date value equal to $150,000. The number of shares were calculated using the average of the

high and low trading prices of the Company’s common stock on the date of the 2021 Annual Meeting of Shareholders.

In an effort to further align the interests of our Board and the Company, the non-employee members of our Board are

required to maintain ownership of Bed Bath & Beyond stock (inclusive of restricted stock) of not less than six times a

director’s base annual cash retainer (measured at the close of the fiscal year and subject to later fluctuations in share

price). In addition, until a non-employee director has achieved theminimum share ownership, the director is required to

hold one hundred percent (100%) of the shares acquired through the vesting of restricted stock received from the

Company. As of the end of fiscal 2021, all the Company’s directors owned shares in excess of the applicable guideline or

were in compliancewith the retention requirement described above.
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As described above and more fully below, the following table summarizes the annual compensation for the directors,

other thanMr. Tritton, during fiscal 2021.

Fees Earned or
Paid in Cash

($)
Stock Awards

($)(1)(2)
Total

($)

Marjorie Bowen(6) 0 — 0

Harriet Edelman 240,000(3) 200,020(4) 440,020

John E. Fleming 115,000 150,000 265,000

Sue E. Gove 105,000 150,000 255,000

Jeffrey A. Kirwan 97,500(3) 150,000 247,500

Shelly Lombard(6) 0 — 0

Johnathan B. (‘‘JB’’) Osborne(5) 31,731 — 31,731

Harsha Ramalingam(5) 31,731 — 31,731

Benjamin Rosenzweig(6) 0 — 0

Virginia P. Ruesterholz 116,500 150,000 266,500

Joshua E. Schechter 115,000 150,000 265,000

Minesh Shah(6) 0 — 0

AndreaM.Weiss 100,000 150,000 250,000

MaryA.Winston 95,000 150,000 245,000

AnnYerger 102,500(3) 150,000 252,500

(1) The value of stock awards represents their respective total fair value on the date of grant calculated in accordance with Accounting

Standards Codification (‘‘ASC’’) Topic No. 718, ‘‘Compensation—Stock Compensation’’ (‘‘ASC 718’’), without regard to the estimated

forfeiture related to service-based vesting conditions. All assumptionsmade in the valuations are contained and described in Note 15 to

the Company’s financial statements in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for fiscal 2021. Stock awards are rounded up to the

nearestwhole sharewhenconverted fromdollars to shares. The amounts shown in the table reflect the total fair valueon thedateof grant

and do not necessarily reflect the actual value, if any, thatmay be realized by the directors.

(2) For all directors who did not resign before the end of fiscal 2021, includes the value of 5,071 restricted shares of common stock of the

Company granted under the Company’s 2012 Plan on the date of the Company’s 2021 Annual Meeting of Shareholders and valued under

ASC 718 at fair market value on such date ($29.58 per share, the average of the high and low trading prices on June 17, 2021). Such

restrictedstockvestedonthe lastdayof thefiscalyearofgrant, subject totheapplicabledirector remaining inofficeuntil the lastdayof the

fiscal year.

(3) 50% of each of Mmes. Edelman’s and Yerger’s, and Mr. Kirwan’s fees were paid in unrestricted shares of common stock of the Company

pursuant to the Bed Bath & Beyond Plan to PayDirectors Fees in Stock and the number of shareswas determined (in accordancewith the

terms of such plan) based on the fair market value per share on the second business day following the announcement of the Company’s

financial results for its fiscal third quarter, whichwas $13.16 per share, the average of the high and low trading prices on January 10, 2022.

(4) In addition to the 5,071 restricted shares of common stockmentioned in note 2 above,Ms. Edelman also received 1,691 restricted shares

of common stock of theCompany representing the amount of the Independent Chair of the Board retainer for fiscal 2021, granted under

the Company’s 2012 Plan on the date of the Company’s 2021 Annual Meeting of Shareholders and valued under ASC 718 at fair market

valueon suchdate ($29.58per share, the averageof thehigh and low tradingpriceson June17, 2021). Such restricted stock vestedon the

last day of the fiscal year of grant, subject to remaining in office until the last day of the fiscal year.

(5) No longer serving as a director as of June 17, 2021.

(6) Mr. Shah was appointed to the Board onMarch 1, 2022. Mmes. Bowen and Lombard andMr. Rosenzweig were appointed to the Board on

March 24, 2022.

delinquent section 16(a) reports

Section16(a)of theSecuritiesExchangeActof1934 requiresourdirectors,officersandbeneficial ownersof10%ormore

of our common shares to file reports with the SEC relating to their common share ownership and changes in such

ownership, and to confirm that all required Section 16(a) formswere filed with the SEC. Based on a review of our records

andcertainwritten representations received fromourexecutiveofficersanddirectors,webelieve thatall reports, except

one, that were required to be filed under Section 16(a) during fiscal 2021, were timely filed. There was one late filing

disclosing one transaction forMs. Hong due to a filing code process issue.
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certain relationships and related transactions

The Company’s Audit Committee reviews and, if appropriate, approves transactions brought to the Committee’s

attention in which the Company is a participant and the amount involved exceeds $120,000, and in which, in general,

beneficial owners of more than 5% of the Company’s common stock, the Company’s directors, nominees for director,

executive officers, and members of their respective immediate families, have a direct or indirect material interest. The

Committee’s responsibility with respect to the review and approval of these transactions is set forth in the Audit

Committee’s charter.

howwe engagewith and listen to our
shareholders; how to communicatewith us
We actively engage with a significant and diverse group of our shareholders on topics important to them and to the

Company. Topics discussed have included an increased focus on areas such as executive compensation; governance

practices, includingboardassessmentand refreshment; boardcomposition; businessstrategy; environmental andsocial

topics such as people and culture and DE&I; balance sheet and capital allocation; and other topics suggested by our

shareholders. In addition, our Investor Relations team, together with members of senior management, regularly engage

with investors.

Shareholder feedback is discussed by the Board periodically throughout the year. This includes input through direct

discussions and prior shareholder votes, aswell as engagementwith proxy advisory firms that represent the interests of

awidearrayofshareholders.Feedbackand insight fromthesediscussions, inadditiontoemergingbestpractices,policies,

andothermarketstandards, areconsideredandevaluatedbyourBoardandmanagement toenhanceourdisclosuresand

practices.

As part of our fiscal 2021 shareholder engagement plans, we reached out to our top shareholders, representing the

majority of our total shares outstanding, which group included index funds, hedge funds, public pension funds and

actively-managed funds. The Chair of our Board, members of the Board (including the Chair of our Nominating and

Corporate Governance Committee) and management participated in these meetings. During the course of these

discussions, we covered the important topics listed above. In addition, we provided information on the strengthening of

our executive leadership team, board refreshment and diversity, executive compensation, ESG and the progress being

made in transforming the Company and driving long-term sustainable growth.

We plan to continue increasing shareholder and stakeholder outreach and are working to create a regular cadence of

two-way communicationopportunities asweseek tounderstandpriorities fromall perspectives.Wealsoplan to launch a

regular, ongoing governance outreach programoverseen by our Board.

Shareholders and interested parties may direct communications to individual directors, to a Board committee, to the

independent directors as a group or to the Board as awhole, by addressing the communications to the appropriate party

and sending them to Bed Bath & Beyond Inc., c/o Corporate Secretary, 650 Liberty Avenue, Union, NJ 07083. The

CorporateSecretarywill reviewall communicationssoaddressedandwill forward to theaddressee(s) all communications

determined to bear substantively on the business,management or governance of the Company.
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audit matters

PROPOSAL2

ratification of the appointment of auditors for
fiscal 2022

The Board recommends that the shareholders vote FOR the ratification of the appointment of KPMG LLP as

independent auditors for fiscal 2022.

appointment of KPMG LLP
The Audit Committee is directly responsible for the appointment, compensation, retention and oversight of the

Company’s independent registered public accounting firm. TheAudit Committee has appointed KPMGLLP to serve as

our independentauditors for fiscal 2022, subject to ratificationbyour shareholders.TheCompany’s auditorshavebeen

KPMG LLP for every year that it has been a public company. The Audit Committee and the Board believe that the

continued retention of KPMG LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm is in the best interest of the

Company and our shareholders.

Representatives of KPMG LLP will be present at the Annual Meeting to answer questions. They will also have the

opportunity tomakea statement if theydesire todo so. If theproposal to ratify their appointment is not approved, other

certified public accountants will be considered by the Audit Committee. Even if the proposal is approved, the Audit

Committee, in its discretion, may direct the appointment of new independent auditors at any time during the year if it

believes that such a changewould be in the best interest of the Company and its shareholders.

fees paid to KPMG LLP for services and
products
TheAudit Committee is responsible for the approval of the audit fees associatedwith theCompany’s retention of KPMG

LLP.The fees incurredby theCompany forprofessional services renderedbyandproductspurchased fromKPMGLLP for

fiscal 2021 and the fiscal year ended February 27, 2021 (‘‘fiscal 2020’’) were as follows:

2021 2020

Audit Fees $1,730,000 $1,984,000

Tax Fees 115,000 52,000

All Other Fees 3,000 3,000

$1,848,000 $2,039,000

In fiscal 2021 and fiscal 2020, in accordance with the SEC’s definitions and rules, ‘‘Audit Fees’’ included fees associated

with the annual audit of the Company’s financial statements, the assessment of the Company’s internal control over

financial reportingas integratedwith theannual audit of theCompany’s financial statements and thequarterly reviewsof

the financial statements included in its Form 10-Q filings. In fiscal 2020, ‘‘Audit Fees’’ also includes fees for additional

procedures related to the divestitures of certain non-core banners, upgrades to information technology systems, the

accelerated share repurchase programand fees for procedures due to consents on FormS-8 registration statements. In

fiscal 2021 and 2020, ‘‘Tax Fees’’ included fees associated with tax planning, tax compliance (including review of tax

returns) and tax advice (including tax audit assistance). The Audit Committee has concluded that the provision of the

foregoing services is compatible withmaintaining KPMG LLP’s independence. In addition to fees for audit and non-audit
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services, in fiscal 2021 and2020, theCompanypaid a subscription fee for aKPMGsponsored research product, reflected

above in ‘‘All Other Fees.’’ TheAudit Committee has concluded that the provision of the foregoing services andproducts

is compatible withmaintaining KPMGLLP’s independence.

pre-approval policies and procedures
In accordancewith theAuditCommitteecharter, theAuditCommitteemustpre-approveall audit andnon-audit services

provided to theCompanyby itsoutsideauditor.To theextentpermittedbyapplicable laws, regulationsandNasdaq rules,

theCommitteemaydelegate pre-approval of audit andnon-audit services to theChair of theAuditCommitteeor oneor

moremembersof theCommittee,within certain parameters. Suchmember(s)must then report to the full Committee at

its next scheduledmeeting if suchmember(s) pre-approved any audit or non-audit services.

In fiscal 2021 and fiscal 2020, all (100%) audit and non-audit services were pre-approved in accordance with the Audit

Committee charter.

audit committee report for the fiscal year
ended february 26, 2022
The Audit Committee discussed the auditors’ review of quarterly financial information with the auditors prior to the

releaseof that information and the filingof theCompany’s quarterly reportswith theSEC; theAuditCommittee alsomet

and held discussions with management and the independent auditors with respect to the audited year-end financial

statements. Further, theAuditCommitteediscussedwith the independentauditors thematters required tobediscussed

by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board Auditing Standard No. 1301, ‘‘Communications with Audit

Committees,’’ received the written disclosures and the letter from the independent auditors required by applicable

requirements of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board regarding the independent accountant’s

communications with the Audit Committee concerning independence and discussed with the auditors the auditors’

independence. The Committee also discussed with the auditors and the Company’s financial management matters

relatedtotheCompany’s internal controlover financial reporting.Basedonthesediscussionsandthewrittendisclosures

received from the independent auditors, the Committee recommended that the Board include the audited financial

statements in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended February 26, 2022, filed with the SEC on

April 21, 2022.

This audit committee report is not deemed filed under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

and is not incorporated by reference into any filings that the Companymaymakewith the SEC.

AUDITCOMMITTEE

Joshua E. Schechter, Chair

Sue E. Gove

Virginia P. Ruesterholz

AndreaM.Weiss

AUDITMATTERS
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information about our
executive officers
Set forth below is information concerning individuals whowere our executive officers as ofMay 16, 2022:

Name Age Position

Mark J. Tritton 58 President andChief ExecutiveOfficer andDirector

GustavoArnal 52 Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer

AnuGupta 53 Executive Vice President, Chief GrowthOfficer

JohnHartmann 58 Executive Vice President, Chief Operating Officer of the Company, and President, buybuy

BABY, Inc.

JoeHartsig 58 Executive Vice President and Chief Merchandising Officer of the Company, and President,

Harmon Stores Inc.

ArleneHong 53 Executive Vice President, Chief Legal Officer and Corporate Secretary

RafehMasood 43 Executive Vice President, Chief CustomerOfficer

LyndaMarkoe 55 Executive Vice President, Chief People &CultureOfficer

GreggMelnick 52 Executive Vice President, Chief StoresOfficer

MarkJ.Trittonhas servedasPresident andChief ExecutiveOfficer of theCompanyandas adirector sinceNovemberof
2019. Mr. Tritton’s biography andwork history is set forth above under ‘‘Our Directors.’’

Gustavo Arnal joined the Company as Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer in May 2020. Prior to joining the
Company, Mr. Arnal served as Group CFO of Avon from 2019 to 2020, and as CFO, International Divisions and Global
FunctionsofWalgreensBootsAlliance from2017 to2018. Prior toWalgreensBootsAlliance,Mr. Arnalworkedat Procter
&Gamble for over twenty years, including senior global CFOpositions in the U.S. and Europe.

AnuGuptahasbeenExecutiveVicePresident,ChiefGrowthOfficer sinceNovember2021andpreviously servedasChief
Strategy andTransformationOfficer fromSeptember 2020 toNovember 2021. Prior to joining theCompany,Ms. Gupta
served asChiefOperatingOfficer of JyveCorporation from2018 to 2020, Senior Vice President Strategy Execution and
OperationalExcellenceofTarget from2015to2018andSeniorOperatingExecutiveofHellman&FriedmanLLC,aprivate
equity firm, from 2013 to 2015. She has also held senior-level operational roles at The Michaels Companies, Inc. and
Safeway, Inc.

JohnHartmann joined theCompanyasExecutiveVicePresident,ChiefOperatingOfficerof theCompanyandPresident
of buybuy BABY, Inc. in May 2020. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Hartmann served as President and Chief Executive
Officer of True Value Company from2013 to 2020.

JoeHartsig joined theCompanyasExecutiveVicePresident,ChiefMerchandisingOfficerof theCompanyandPresident
of Harmon Stores Inc. inMarch 2020. Prior to joining theCompany, Mr. Hartsig served as Chief MerchandisingOfficer of
Walgreens Boots Alliance from 2016 to 2020, as Head of Marketing and Digital Commerce at Walgreens Boots Alliance
from2015 to 2016 and as Chief Merchandising andMarketingOfficer at Essendant from2013 to 2015.

ArleneHong joined theCompany as Executive Vice President, Chief LegalOfficer andCorporate Secretary inMay 2020.
Prior to joining the Company, Ms. Hong served as Senior Vice President, Chief Legal Officer and Corporate Secretary of
FULLBEAUTY Brands from 2018 to 2020. Prior to that, she worked at Amazon from 2014 to 2018 as General Counsel of
Quidsi,Amazon’s largest retail subsidiary,andasSeniorCorporateCounsel for theSoftlinesbusiness.Shealsopreviously
served as Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary at J. Crew and Ideeli.

RafehMasoodhasbeenExecutiveVicePresident,ChiefCustomerOfficersinceNovember2021and joinedtheCompany
as Executive Vice President, Chief Digital Officer in May 2020. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Masood served as Chief
DigitalOfficerofBJ’sWholesaleClub from2017to2020andasVicePresident,Customer InnovationTechnologyatDick’s
SportingGoods from2013 to 2017.

LyndaMarkoe joined theCompany as ExecutiveVice President, Chief People &CultureOfficer in September 2020. Prior
to joining theCompany,Ms.Markoeheld various leadership roles at J.CrewGroup, Inc. since2003, including serving as its
Chief Administrative Officer and Global Head of Human Resources. Prior to that, Ms. Markoe was a human resources
leader at Gap Inc.

Gregg Melnick has been Executive Vice President, Chief Stores Officer since May 2020. Mr. Melnick served as interim
ChiefDigitalOfficerof theCompanyfromDecember2019toMay2020andasChiefOperationsOfficer,Digital from2018
to 2019. Prior to joining the Company in 2018, Mr. Melnick was President of Party City Holdings from2014 to 2018.
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executive compensation

PROPOSAL3

approval, by non-binding vote, of the 2021
compensation paid to the Company’s NEOs
In accordancewith the requirementsof Section14Aof theExchangeAct, theCompany is providing its shareholders

the opportunity to cast an advisory vote on the compensation of its NEOs for fiscal 2021. This proposal, commonly

knownasa ‘‘say-on-pay’’ proposal, gives theCompany’s shareholders theopportunity toexpress their viewson the

NEOs’ compensation.

The Board recommends a vote in favor of the following resolution:

‘‘RESOLVED, that the compensation paid to theCompany’sNEOs for fiscal 2021, as disclosedpursuant to Item402

of Regulation S-K, including the Compensation Discussion and Analysis, compensation tables and narrative

discussion, is hereby APPROVED.’’

Thisproposal is notbindingupon theCompany.However, thePeople,CultureandCompensationCommittee,which

is responsible for designing and administering the Company’s executive officer compensation program, values the

opinions expressed by shareholders through this vote and considers the views provided by shareholders when

makingfuturecompensationdecisionsforNEOs.Theaffirmativevoteoftheholdersofamajorityofthevotescastby

our shareholders in person or represented by proxy and entitled to vote is required to approve this proposal.

The compensation framework for fiscal 2021 is based on our three design pillars, which are: (i) supporting our

business transformation strategy; (ii) responding to shareholder views; and (iii) reflectingmarket-leading practices.

While fiscal 2021performancecontinuedtobe impactedby theCOVID-19pandemic,ourprimaryobjectivehasbeen

toestablish a compensationprogramthatmotivatesourexecutive teamto focusonour keystrategic initiatives and

shareholder value creation. The People, Culture and Compensation Committee supports the recommendation by

the Board of a vote approving the fiscal 2021 executive compensation program.

Wecurrently hold a say-on-pay vote annually, and the next say-on-pay vote is expected tooccur at our 2023Annual

Meeting of shareholders.

The Board recommends that the shareholders vote FOR the approval, by non-binding vote, of the 2021

compensation paid to the Company’s NEOs.
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message from the chair of our
people, culture & compensation
committee
to our shareholders:

Overthepastseveralyears,thePeople,CultureandCompensationCommitteehasdedicatedextensivetimeandresourcesto

developanexecutivecompensation framework tosupport the futureofBedBath&Beyond Inc.Underlyingourcompensation

designpillarsthatguidedthedevelopmentofthisframework–supportingourbusinesstransformationstrategy,respondingto

shareholder viewsand reflectingmarket-leadingpractices– isour corepay-for-performancephilosophy.

For fiscal 2021, we structured our compensation program specifically to drive change through our transformation as we

transitioned from development to execution in year one of our multi-year strategy. As detailed in Mark and Harriet’s

earlier letter, fiscal 2021 represented a challengingoperational year for the industry, and for BedBath&Beyond Inc.While

our team achieved certain critical strategic milestones that we believe lay the foundation for our long-term success, we

could not overcome certain unforeseen macroeconomic challenges amidst internal operational deficits. Our

performance did not meet expectations and we were disappointed in our near-term results. In adherence to our strict

pay-for-performancephilosophy, executive compensation in fiscal 2021 fell significantly belowestablished target levels.

We remain committed to directly linking pay to the achievement of financial targets aligned with our strategic goals and

creating long-term shareholder value. The changesmade to our compensation programs in 2021 to bemore focused on

critical drivers of success andmore performance-oriented align with these objectives.

In summary, decisions relating to fiscal 2021 executive compensation include:

• Selecting adjusted EBITDA (70%weighting) and

comparable sales growth (30%weighting) as short-

term incentive plan (STIP) performancemetrics to

focus our leadership teamon driving results during the

initial execution of our transformation priorities.We

established performance goals in line with our

aggressive annual financial plan, with target

representing improvement over 2020 results.

• Increasing the weighting of our performance-driven

long-term incentive (LTI) awards, resulting in an LTI mix

of 60% PSUs and 40% RSUs versus 30% PSUs and 70%

RSUs in fiscal 2020.

• Maintaining a heavy focus on relative total shareholder

return (TSR) as ametric (50%weighting) for our PSUs to

underscore the importance of measuring and gauging

achievement versus our peers; however, we also added

gross margin as a performance metric (50%weighting).

Thekeymetricsofour long-termtransformation remain

sales, grossmargin, EBITDA and cash flow to drive value

creation.

• Reflecting our financial performance in fiscal 2021, our

incentive programs did not yield compensation rewards

for our executive team. Specifically, performance

against adjusted EBITDA and comparable sales goals

under our STIP did not meet theminimum achievement

level, resulting in a $0 payout. Our NEOs’ equity awards,

which are granted in part to align executives’ pay with

shareholder interests,were also impactedby stockprice

declines in fiscal 2021. Taking into account no bonus

payout, current projections of our performance shares

and the impact of stock price decline, realizable total

direct compensation for our CEO was approximately

58% below the target total direct compensation

established at the beginning of the year.

Webelievethat recentsay-on-payresults,combinedwith feedbackreceivedfromshareholdersduringour2021engagement,

demonstrate support for our approach toexecutive compensation and relatedgovernancepolicies andbest practices.Given

the stringent alignment of pay with performance in fiscal 2021, continued shareholder support, and the need to continue to

focus our team on our strategic transformation, the People, Culture and Compensation Committee approved a consistent

executivecompensationstructurefor fiscal2022.Consistentwiththeearlier referencestothemacroeconomicchallengeswe

faced in fiscal 2021, the 2022 fiscal year-to-date period has shown considerable volatility across the consumer landscape. To

support our pay-for-performance culture and drive sequential improvement amidst the unprecedented early-2022

environment, we continue to analyze the timing and measurement of performance metrics and goals to further align our

executives’ compensation toperformanceandachievementofourgoals.
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Our transformation strategy is people powered. To continue honoring our commitment to our hard-working associates and

creating a culture where they can thrive, we changed our committee’s name in fiscal 2022 to the People, Culture and

Compensation Committee. As part of our oversight responsibilities, we recently engaged in a dynamic review of our broad-

basedpeople strategiesandprograms, andweremaindedicated toprovidingopportunities for all associates to thrive.

On behalf of the People, Culture and Compensation Committee of the Board, we appreciate your continued support of

Bed Bath & Beyond Inc.

John E. Fleming

Chair, People, Culture andCompensation Committee
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people, culture and compensation committee report

The directors named below, who constitute the People, Culture and Compensation Committee, have submitted the

following report for inclusion in this Proxy Statement.

The People, Culture and Compensation Committee has reviewed and discussed with management the Compensation

Discussion and Analysis contained in this Proxy Statement. Based on this review and the discussions with management

with respect to the Compensation Discussion and Analysis, the People, Culture and Compensation Committee

recommended to theBoard that theCompensationDiscussion andAnalysis be included in this ProxyStatement for filing

with the SEC and be incorporated by reference in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for fiscal 2021.

PEOPLE, CULTUREANDCOMPENSATIONCOMMITTEE

John E. Fleming, Chair

Jeffrey Kirwan

AnnYerger
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compensationdiscussion&analysis (CD&A)
CD&Asummary

OurNEOs

Mark J. Tritton
President andChief

ExecutiveOfficer

sinceNovember

2019

GustavoArnal
Executive Vice

President, Chief

Financial Officer

sinceMay 2020

RafehMasood
Executive Vice

President, Chief

CustomerOfficer

sinceNovember

2021 (Chief Digital

Officer sinceMay

2020)

JohnHartmann
Executive Vice

President, Chief

OperatingOfficer,

and President,

buybuy BABY, Inc.

sinceMay 2020

JoeHartsig
Executive Vice

President, Chief

Merchandising

Officer and

President, Harmon

Stores, Inc. since

March 2020

FISCAL2021:YEARONEOFOURSTRATEGICTRANSFORMATION

With an entirely new leadership teamand a clearly articulated strategy to rebuild and reimagine ourCompany,we began

year one of our multi-year transformational plan energized and ready to execute on our mission: to re-establish our

authority andbe thepreferredomni-channel homedestinationdrivenby teamsconsistently deliveringbalanceddurable

growth.

Our fiscal 2021 financial results reflect thecomplexitiesof executinga comprehensive transformationduringa turbulent

operating environment. Macroeconomic challenges, such as the ongoing effects of COVID-19, as well as global supply

chaindisruptions,highlightedour ill-equipped legacy infrastructure.Loweravailable inventorytosell andacceleratedcost

inflation impactedour salesandgrossmarginperformancesignificantly.

Although fiscal 2021 presented several significant operating and environmental challenges, the efforts of our senior

executives and our extended teams resulted in the achievement of our 2021 transformational milestones, which are

critical catalysts for future growth and profitability. We launched eight new owned brands with sales penetration that

exceededourgoals,addedkeyomnichanneldeliveryandpick-upsolutionsforourcustomerswhileleveragingourpowerful

digital and store connections, substantially completed our current store fleet optimization program by closing

approximately200stores,andelevatedourexistingstoresbycontinuingour remodelprogramby initiating130remodels

(80 complete). Finally, we began the long-term, structural reformation of our supply chain and technological foundation

through investments in key ITsystemsand theopeningofour firstof fourplanned regional distributioncenters.

Despite the achievement of these strategicmilestones on our long-term transformational roadmap,we fell short of our

near-term financial targets, which is reflected in the year-end determinations of the People, Culture andCompensation

Committee(referredtointhissectionasthe‘‘Committee’’).Foradditionalstrategichighlights,see ‘‘fiscal2021highlights.’’

Our primary goal for the fiscal 2021 compensation programwas to incentivize and reward balanced, sustainable growth

with key financial metrics directly alignedwith our transformation strategy and driving long-term shareholder value. For

theperformance-basedcashshort-termincentiveplan(STIP),theCommitteeapprovedaggressiveadjustedEBITDAand

comparablesalesgrowthgoals.For long-termincentives,asdisclosedpreviously, theCommitteeapprovedamorehighly

performance-weightedmix of PSUs (60%weighting) and time-vested RSUs (40%weighting). The goals approved by the

Committee for the fiscal 2021 PSUs incorporate our emphasis on expanding gross margin (50% weighting) and also

continues tomeasure relativeTSR (50%weighting) performance.ThePSUsvest at theendof a three-yearperformance

period (2021-2023), subject tocontinuedemploymentandachievementof theperformancegoals.
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Upon review of goal performance under

the STIP in April 2022, it was concluded

that threshold achievement levels were

notmet and, accordingly, theCommittee

awarded no STIP payouts for fiscal 2021.

Further, as of fiscal year-end, the value of

the fiscal 2021 LTI awards had decreased

56% for our CEO due to the impact of

stock price decline and current

projections of our performance shares.

Total realizable direct compensation for

our CEO was approximately 58% below

the target total direct compensation

established at the beginning of the year.

Consistent with our program design, we

believe these incentive plan outcomes

continue to demonstrate our

compensation philosophy of strongly

correlating paywith performance.

$11,082,500

RealizableTarget

$4,647,044

$0

$2,000,000

$4,000,000

$6,000,000

$8,000,000

$10,000,000

$12,000,000

-58%

PSU

RSU

Bonus

Base Salary

our 2021 executive compensation framework

emphasis on pay-for-
performance

The 2021 executive compensation program

was designed to drive performance,

recognize achievement of strategic and

transformation objectives for the year, and

motivate and retain our new leadership

team. Our program emphasizes at-risk pay

and is consistent with the compensation

design pillars established by the Committee

in fiscal 2019, which communicate our pay-

for-performance compensation philosophy

and state that our program should support

our business transformation strategy, be

responsive to shareholder views and reflect

market-leading practices. For more

information, see ‘‘how we design our

compensation program’’ and ‘‘executive

compensation programelements.’’

Total Direct Compensation (At Target)

Base
Salary
(11%) 

Annual
Incentive
Compensation
(19%)

CEO

Long-Term
Incentive
Compensation
(70%)

89% AT-RISK

At-Risk
Compensation

Base
Salary 
(23%)

Annual
Incentive
Compensation
(20%)

Average Other NEOs

Long-Term
Incentive
Compensation
(57%)

77% AT-RISK

At-Risk
Compensation
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incentive plans alignedwith our transformation goals

Fiscal 2021 ProgramDesign. In fiscal 2021, wemade several changes to our incentive plans to further link performance

and execution of our transformation strategy. The structure of both the short- and long-term incentive plans were

determined taking into consideration key strategic initiatives relating to our multi-year transformation, and, as always,

increasing long-term shareholder value. It was of paramount importance to us to remain committed to our performance

focus, update our incentive plan designs to align with our current strategic initiatives andmotivate our leadership team.

For more information about our incentive plans, including selection of metrics and setting of performance goals, see

‘‘annual cash incentive compensation’’ and ‘‘long-termequity incentive compensation.’’

FISCAL 2021 SHORT TERM INCENTIVE PLAN (STIP)  

Metric 
 Actual Achievement 

Weighted 
Payout % 

 

ADJUSTED 
EBITDA* 

 

$182M 
DID NOT MEET 

THRESHOLD 
0% 

COMPARABLE  

SALES GROWTH 

 

- 7.0%  

DID NOT MEET 

THRESHOLD 
0% 

FISCAL 2021 PAYOUT:  0% 

70%

30%

The STIP performancemetrics for fiscal 2021

continued to focus on adjusted EBITDA (70%

weighting) as the primary driver of performance.

For our secondarymetric, rather than focusing

on digital sales growth and reduction in SG&A

expense, whichwere fiscal 2020 STIPmetrics

during the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic, our

newmetric focuses on growth in comparable

sales (30%weighting). We chose thismetric

because it reflects our strategic emphasis on

accelerating omni-channel, top-line growth. The

goals for the STIPwere designed to be

challengingwith targets established based on

our annual financial plan and in themid-range of

our initial, publicly communicated outlook at the

beginning of the fiscal year.

60% PERFORMANCE-BASED STOCK UNITS (PSUs) 
 

 

Metric  Actual 

THREE-YEAR 
ADJUSTED GROSS 
MARGIN*  

 

 

 

BASED ON ACHIEVEMENT OVER FISCAL 
2021-2023 PERFORMANCE PERIOD THREE-YEAR 

RELATIVE TSR 
VERSUS OTHER 
RETAIL PEERS   

40% RESTRICTED STOCK UNITS (RSUs) 

Time-vested RSUs vest over a three-year period (fiscal 2024) 

50%

50%

Our fiscal 2021 LTI focused on a more

performance- driven mix of LTI awards

weighted more heavily toward performance-

based PSUs (60% weighting) – as compared to

fiscal 2020, where we temporarily weighted

more heavily toward time-vested RSUs (70%

weighting)during the first yearof theCOVID-19

pandemicandaswehiredanewleadershipteam

and built out the elements of our overall

business transformation efforts in a volatile

environment. While the pandemic continued to

impact fiscal 2021 performance, we considered

principal drivers of long-term, sustainable

growth and prioritized our objective of aligning

executive and shareholder interests. The fiscal

2021 PSUs are based on achievement of

aggressive adjusted gross margin goals, as well

as a continued emphasis on outperformance of

our peer group through relative total

shareholder return.

* Adjusted EBITDA and adjusted gross margin are non-GAAP financial measures. See Appendix A for a reconciliation of GAAP to non-GAAP

measures for fiscal 2021 used in this proxy statement.
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Fiscal 2022 Program Design. The structure of our fiscal 2022 executive compensation program reflects our on-going

commitment to pursue a compensation plan based on our pay-for-performance design pillars. Acknowledging strong

shareholdersupport, theprogramstructure for fiscal2022 largely followsthesameformatas for fiscal2021.Performance

metrics for the short- and long-term incentive plans remain relatively the sameexcept for the addition of a trafficmetric

as we continue to focus our leadership team on financial and operational goals tied to our foundational transformation

initiatives.Aspartof theCommittee’songoing reviewof theCompany’s compensationprogram, in consultationwithour

independent compensation consultant, the RSU portion of equity awards for fiscal 2022 were granted in the form of

cash-settledRSUsrather thanstock-settledRSUstobegoodstewardsofoursharepoolgiventhecurrent remainingshare

availability underour equity compensationplan.Consistentwith theearlier references to themacroeconomic challenges

we faced in fiscal 2021, the 2022 fiscal year-to-date period has shown considerable volatility across the consumer

landscape as many retailers have reported. To support our pay-for-performance culture and drive sequential

improvementamidst theunprecedentedearly-2022environment (inaddition toourcontinuingnavigationofCOVID-19),

we continue to analyze the timing and measurement of performance metrics and goals to further align our executives’

compensation to performance and achievement of our goals, including evaluating whether targets based on a half year

planmay be appropriate given the significant challenges presented already during fiscal 2022.

people & culture

oversight of people & culture

Emphasizing the importance of our associates to our people-powered strategy, we recently changed the name of the

Committeeandamended itschartertonotonlyreflectthenamechange,buttoexpresslystate its responsibilitiesrelating

to broad-based people and culture programs. In April 2021, the Committee engaged in a comprehensive review of our

company-wide people strategy. This deep-dive discussion, led by our Chief People & Culture Officer, also included an

analysis of DE&I, turnover and other key labor and talent metrics. The Committee also receives regular people and

culture updates.

PEOPLEAND CULTURE HIGHLIGHTS

At Bed Bath & Beyond Inc., we are committed to creating and sustaining a talent culture that attracts, retains and

develops high performing teamswho consistently deliver operational excellence and business results.We strive to

create awork environment in which all associates feel at home and can thrive by ensuring they have the resources

that supports their physical, mental, social, and emotional well-being.

associate engagement & retention

Our culture of listening and learning creates a platform for all associates to provide feedback, and an

opportunity for us to focus onwhatmattersmost to them. In 2021, we engaged associates through our first

enterprise-wide associate survey, resulting inmore than 70% associate participation.We shared the results

from the survey – including key themes, top strengths, priority areas and next steps – with our Board, senior

management, and associates to continue the dialogue and respond to the feedbackwe heard through action

plans and continuous learning.

As a result of engagement feedback, we have begun to develop key programs and policies to support and

retain our critical talent. This work includes associate benefits andworkplace programs, including 100%paid

parental leave, a flexible timeoff policy anddedicatedwellness spaces in our corporateoffices.Weconducted

listening circles in response to societal topics that arose throughout the year to provide a safe space for

associates to share their experiences aswell as provide ideas for howwe can support them.

associate development & training

Maintainingandsustaininganengagingworkplaceculturethatprovidesdevelopmentopportunitiesforassociates

isatoppriorityforus.Akeyfocusareaisourperformancemanagementprocessthat includesgoalsandobjectives

thatdrivebusiness transformationwhile leveraging the individual strengthsand talentsof associates.
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We are building comprehensive learning and development programs, which will include an expansion of our skill

development programs and upskilling training courses designed to provide associates with technical and

competency-based skills applicable across a range of career paths. Additionally, we have developed strategic

partnershipswith learningorganizations tocuratedevelopmentcontentondaily tools andon-demand learnings.

Our regional and district store leaders, as well as supply chain leaders, participate in a newly-launched

Foundational Leadership Course, which supports their career development and provides them with the tools

and resources needed to lead associates and create a strong culture in our stores and our

Distribution/Fulfillment facilities. Our role framework, completed in 2021, provides the foundation for career

path options which in addition to performancemanagement, serves as to further clarify the development and

advancement opportunities for associates.

Inaddition,associatesreceiveannualtrainingonavarietyoftopics,which istargetedbasedontheir rolesandjob

function and focus on our commitment to high ethical standards and fostering a culture of honesty, integrity,

and compliance.

diversity, equity& inclusion

Weembracediversity,equity,and inclusion(DE&I)andstrivetomodelacultureoftrustandaccountabilitywhere

all associates feel theybelong.Bybuildinguponourrecruitment,development,andpromotionpractices,weare

committed to equitably distributing opportunities and achieving a workforce that reflects the world we live in

and the customers we serve. We monitor the representation of women and racially or ethnically diverse

associates at all levels of our organization and continue tomakeprogress towardour 2030goals of 50%female

and 25% racial and ethnic diversity at each level. In 2021, we appointed a Chief DE&I Officer, implemented

educational programming to increase awareness, empathy and understanding and launched several associate

resource groups aimed at building community, providing a platform formeaningful discussion and advancing a

culture ofDE&I to create safe and supportive spaces for our associates.

racial and/or ethnically diverse 
representation

women 
representation

our 

associates*
52% 70%

our 

Board
18% 55% includes the Chair of the Board

*Data for our associates provided as ofDecember 31, 2021

compensation&benefits

To support associate recruitment and retention, we recently redesigned our total rewards program to provide

incentives, recognition and benefit programs that reflect the changing needs of our associates. Our

compensationpackages include,butarenot limited to, competitivewage rates, anannual short-term incentive

program, long-term incentiveprogram,a401(k) planwithmatchingcontributions, paidvacationandholidays, a

flexibletimeoffpolicy,health,dentalandvision insurance,paidparental leave,disability insurance, life insurance,

health savings and flexible spending accounts, free health and wellness subscriptions and support via an

associaterelief fund.Eligibility for, andthe levelof,benefitsvarydependingonassociates’ full-timeorpart-time

status,work location, role, and tenure.
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associate health & safety

The health and wellbeing of our customers and associates is one of our top priorities. We implement health,

safety, and security programs and strive to maintain a safe and secure environment for our associates and

customers. We tailor our programs to address potential risks in all our workplaces, from stores, distribution

centers, and corporate offices, to business travel. This includes our safety and security standards and policies,

emergency responseandcrisismanagementprotocol andassociate training related to the risksandexposures

in their areas of responsibility.

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, we expanded our policies to include a new vaccination time off policy,

and sick time policies as required by state and local law, associate rapid response programs with COVID-19

protocolsandsafety tipsandanewstoresafetyplan,which includesrequirementswith respect tomasks, social

distancingandcleaningmeasures,amongothers.We’vealso introducedother remoteworkbenefits includinga

hybrid corporate office schedule anddedicatedweekly focus time to create time to innovate.

More information about our People efforts can be found in our 2021 ESG Report, which is available on our website
at www.bedbathandbeyond.com.

compensation governance practices

We continue to evaluate and enhance our executive compensation program to reflect our pay-for-performance

philosophy and consider governance practices that benefit all shareholders.

whatwe do whatwe don’t do

Align paywith our transformation strategy, performance and

creation of value for shareholders

Engage directly with shareholders to discuss compensation

Use an appropriatemix of fixed and variable, and short- and long-

term, compensation elements

Pay a substantial portion of executive compensation in the form

of at-risk equity grants (in the formof RSUs and PSUs)

Vary incentive payouts commensurate with results, including

capping long-term incentive awards if TSR is negative

Require double-trigger change in control vesting provisions

Maintainmarket-leading provisions in our Compensation

Recoupment Policy

Maintain rigorous stock ownership guidelines for all executive

officers and directors

No performance goals for incentive awards that

encourage excessive risk taking

No hedging and restricted pledging of Company

stock

No repricing or backdating of stock options

No payment of dividends or dividend equivalents

on unearned PSU and RSU awards

No excessive perquisites or other supplemental

benefits

No excise tax gross-ups on severance payments
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how we design 
our executive 
compensation 
program 

    

               

customer  
inspired 

omni-always people 
powered 

performance 
driven 

We unlock the value 
delivered to our 
leaders and our 
shareholders when 
we deliver on our 
promise to inspire 
our customers to 
home, happier — 
they are the center 
of all we do 

To accelerate the evolution of our 
business with an integrated approach of 
both brick & mortar and digital, we take 
a multi-faceted and holistic approach to 
making compensation decisions. We 
consider numerous factors, including 
market practice and benchmarking but 
also role and specific talent markets, 
individual performance and potential 
and internal equity 

We invest in attracting 
and retaining the talent 
required to deliver on our 
customer and 
shareholder promise to 
re-establish our authority 
as the preferred omni-
channel home destination 

We align a majority of the 
compensation of our leaders to 
quantifiable performance goals, 
emphasizing long-term value 
allowing us to unlock balanced 
durable growth and strong 
sustainable total shareholder 
growth 

        

        

In 2019, the Committee established new compensation design pillars. These pillars guided our fiscal 2021 decisions 
as we continued to establish a compensation program that attracts, motivates and retains experienced and driven 
leaders to accelerate our transformation. 

Our fiscal 2021 executive compensation program is based on the following: 

 

 
 

SUPPORTING BUSINESS 
TRANSFORMATION 
STRATEGY 

RESPONDING TO 
SHAREHOLDER VIEWS 

REFLECTING MARKET- 
LEADING PRACTICES 

 

principles
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              Compensation Design Pillars       Fiscal 2021 Compensation Design 

SHORT- AND LONG-TERM INCENTIVES  

· Establish a short-term incentive program with metrics 
based on key objectives that support the Company’s long-
term strategic goals. 

· Set metrics for long-term incentives that are closely aligned 
with TSR. 

· Develop payout curves for annual and long-term incentive 
opportunities that provide strong incentives for superior 
performance and meaningful downside risk for under-
performance. 

· Establish rigorous performance goals for target incentive 
payouts. 

· Incorporate terms for incentive awards that include risk of 
forfeiture for misconduct. 

· Ensure that directors and executives are subject to 
meaningful stock ownership guidelines to align their 
interests with those of our shareholders. 

 

STIP  

· Earned based on adjusted EBITDA* (70%) and 
comparable sales growth (30%). 

· Potential payout ranges are between 0% and 200% of 
target. 

· Target goals were established based on our annual 
budget process. 

PSUs and RSUs 

· Increased use of PSUs in LTI award compared to fiscal 
2020 to enhance performance focus and alignment of 
executive and shareholder interests. 

· PSUs: 

o Earned based on adjusted gross margin* 
(50%) and three-year relative TSR (50%). 

o Used different metrics from our STIP.  

o Potential payout ranges for 2021 PSUs are 
between 0% and 200% of target. 

o Portion earned based on relative TSR is 
capped at 100% of target if absolute TSR over 
the performance period is negative. 

· RSUs: Provide added retention over vesting period. 

SHARE OWNERSHIP GUIDELINES 

· Our share ownership guidelines require covered 
individuals to hold Bed Bath & Beyond common stock with 
a value equal to a multiple of their base salary or cash 
retainer, as applicable.  

PEER GROUP  

· Establish a single relevant peer group to use consistently 
to benchmark Company performance and compensation 
levels and practices. 

· Review the peer group annually to ensure all companies 
remain appropriate in terms of both size and industry. 

 

· Continued to use a single peer group to benchmark 
compensation and assess relative TSR performance. 

· Peer group reviewed in October 2021 as part of annual 
pay review process, with five companies removed due to 
size misalignment and/or non-standard pay practices. 

· New peer group applicable for 2022 benchmarking and 
assessment of relative TSR for 2022 PSUs. 

COMPENSATION BENCHMARKING  

· Establish fixed, short-term, long-term, and total target pay 
levels that are rigorously and appropriately benchmarked 
against our peer group. 

· Utilize a reasonable blend of compensation elements, with 
the majority of target total compensation linked to long-term 
performance and TSR. 

· Set annual compensation and long-term incentive targets 
generally at the median range for the peer group. 

 

· Target total direct compensation for our NEOs in fiscal 
2021 is based on numerous factors, including market 
practice and benchmarking, but also role and specific 
talent markets, individual performance and potential and 
internal equity. 

· 89% of CEO’s target total direct compensation is at risk 
(in the form of short-and long-term incentive 
opportunities); 77% of other NEO target pay (on average) 
is at risk.  

* Adjusted EBITDA and adjusted grossmargin are non-GAAP financialmeasures. SeeAppendix A for a reconciliation ofGAAP to non-GAAP

measures for fiscal 2021 used in this proxy statement.
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howwe consider shareholder feedback

say-on-pay

21%

83%

93%

2018 2019 2020 2021

85%

0

20

40

60

80

100At the 2021 Annual Meeting, our executive

compensation program received advisory approval of

approximately 93% of the shares voted. We believe the

improvement in say-on-pay results over the last several

years reflects the development by the Committee of a

pay-for-performance philosophy and a framework that

becamethebasisofourcompensationdesignpillars.The

Committeeconsiders the resultsof thesay-on-payvote

as part of its decision-making process and is committed

to remain responsive to shareholder priorities, with the

goal of earning consistent high levels of shareholder

support.

FISCAL2021 ENGAGEMENT

As part of our fiscal 2021 plans, we reached out to our top shareholders, representing the majority of our total

shares outstanding, which group included index funds, hedge funds, public pension funds and actively-managed

funds. The Chair of the Board, members of the Board and management participated in virtual and telephone

meetings with the majority of our largest shareholders. We covered executive compensation, as well as other

important topics, includingstrategyandperformance,Board refreshmentandESG.The feedback received from

shareholders was positive and supportive of our compensation program, including our pay-for-performance

philosophy.

Going forward, we plan to continue our shareholder and stakeholder outreach and maintain a regular cadence of

two-way communication opportunities, aswe continue to understand priorities fromall perspectives.We also plan

to launch a regular, ongoing governance outreach program overseen by our Board which includes engagement on

executive compensation matters and other relevant topics. For more information about how we engage directly

with shareholders, see ‘‘howwe engagewith and listen to our shareholders; how to communicatewith us.’’
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howourNEOswere paid in 2021

executive compensation program elements

Our fiscal 2021 performance driven compensation program for the NEOs and certain other key executives included the

following elements:

  total direct compensation   
 

BASE 
SALARY 

    STIP     LONG-TERM INCENTIVE     
RETIREMENT AND 
OTHER BENEFITS 

                    

· Fixed 

· Delivered in 
cash 

  
 

· Variable 

· Delivered in cash 

· Rewards achievement 
against objective, pre-
established 
performance metrics 

  

· Variable 

· Delivered in equity 

· Aligns the interest of associates 

and shareholders 

· Incentivizes retention during critical 
transformation period  

· PSUs reward achievement against 
objective, pre-established 

performance metrics 

  

· Health plan 

· Limited 401(k) plan match 

· Limited perquisites 

TheCommittee focusesprimarilyontheelementsof totaldirectcompensation, includingbasesalary,STIPand long-term

incentives, when structuring and assessing compensation for the leadership team. We aim to set target total direct

compensation and related elements generally at themedian range for our peer group, but also consider role and specific

talent markets, individual performance and potential and internal equity. For more information on our peer group and

benchmarking, see ‘‘our compensation decision-making process.’’

base salary

Base salaries represent fixed cash compensation tied to the size, scope and complexity of each executive’s position and

the depth of each executive’s experience. The Committee considered these factors in setting base salaries that would

attract and retain executives leading the Company’s transformation.

The Committee reviews base salaries for executives on an annual basis to determine whether such salaries remain

appropriate. This annual review considers each individual executive’s performance, as well as the results of peer group

benchmarking. Any approved adjustments generally become effective in April of the applicable fiscal year.

As part of its annual review and benchmarking of base salaries with its independent compensation consultant, the

Committee approved (i) a 2.5%merit-based increase forMr. Tritton in recognition of his continued leadership driving our

strategic transformation, successful recruitmentof adistinguishedexecutive leadership team,andbalancedand focused

decision-making during the pandemic and (ii) an 18%adjustment forMr. Masood to close the competitive gap tomarket

and recognize the growth in importance of this role over time. The increases became effective April 2021.

short-term incentive compensation

For fiscal 2021, theCommitteecontinued theuseof itsperformance-basedcashSTIP,whichwas implemented in2020 to

ensure a mix of short-term fixed and variable pay tied to aggressive, quantitative objectives. The fiscal 2021 metrics

included adjusted EBITDA and comparable sales growth, both ofwhich alignwith our near-term transformation priorities

of driving top-and bottom-line growth, including through our omni-always approach and focus on assortment, aswell as

resetting our cost structure through store remodels and fleet optimization.
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The STIP provides for the calculation of award payouts as follows:

 

     

STIP PERFORMANCE 
%    

BASE 
SALARY  

TARGET 
%      

ADJUSTED 
EBITDA* 

70% 
 

COMPARABLE  

SALES GROWTH 
30% 

     = 
STIP  

PAYOUT 
$ 

        
              

The Committee approves annual target STIP awards expressed as a percentage of each NEO’s base salary. Initial STIP

target opportunities were determined in connectionwith the hiring of each of our NEOs. As part of its annual review and

benchmarking of total target direct compensation with its independent compensation consultant, the Committee

approvedan increase in fiscal 2021STIP targetopportunity forMr.Tritton from150%to175%ofhisbasesalary, inpart to

reflecthisdemonstratedgrowth in the role, tocontinue to focushisenergyandattentionon the transformational journey

in a moremeaningful way and to reflect a competitive market position aligned with similarly situated peer executives in

similar roles. TheCommittee also increased the STIP target opportunity forMr. Masood from70% to 80% in connection

with his promotion to Chief CustomerOfficer.

Performance metrics for the fiscal 2021 STIP were determined by the Committee based on our key transformation

priorities in year one of our three-year strategy. In connection with setting the threshold, target and maximum

achievement goals for the STIP, the Committee worked closely with its independent compensation consultant and

approved goals that it deemed to be challenging and that would require significant progress toward our strategic

transformationmilestones in order to bemet.

To enhancemarket competitiveness, and to reward for outsized performance, the Committee increased themaximum

payout opportunity for the fiscal 2021 STIP from 150% to 200%. Balancing its decision to widen the payout scale, the

Committee also reduced the payout for threshold performance from50% to 25%.

howwe align our STIPperformance metricswith our strategy

ADJUSTED

EBITDA*

EBITDA is a common metric used to assess operating performance, particularly for our peer retail

companies. We have selected adjusted EBITDA (70%) because we believe it directly measures

achievement against all of our strategic goals collectively, including sales growth, margin expansion

and cost control.

COMPARABLE

SALES GROWTH

Comparable salesgrowth (30%) alignswithour strategyand therefore takes into accountour revenue

base after divestitures of noncore banners and rightsizing of our store fleet. Additionally, due to the

impact of COVID-19 and resulting store closures in the first quarter of fiscal 2020, themetric in fiscal

2021 was designed to measure comparable sales growth in the second through fourth quarters.

Comparable sales is defined in our 2021 Annual Report on Form 10-K, which was filed with the SEC on

April 21, 2022.

* AdjustedEBITDAisanon-GAAPfinancialmeasure.SeeAppendixA fora reconciliationofGAAPtonon-GAAPmeasures for fiscal2021used

in this proxy statement.
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howwe set our STIPperformance goals

The fiscal 2021 STIP goals were based on our annual financial plan and in the mid-range of our initial, publicly communicated

outlook at the beginning of the fiscal year. The target adjusted EBITDA goal established for the STIP required improved

performance over fiscal 2020 results. Comparable sales growth, by nature of the measure, requires year-over-year

improvement. Achievement of maximum-level payouts for both goals required significantly exceeding the operating plans in

place at the time the goals were approved.

Following completion of the fiscal year, the Committee evaluated performance against the adjusted EBITDA and

comparable sales growth goals and calculated the fiscal 2021 payout. As discussed above in the CD&A Summary, our

performance did notmeet threshold levels under the STIP.

FISCAL2021 STIPPERFORMANCEAND PAYOUTCALCULATIONS

Weighting
Threshold

(25%Payout)
Target

(100%Payout)
Maximum

(200%Payout) %of Target
Weighted

Performance

ADJUSTED EBITDA* 

 

0% 

 

0% 

COMPARABLE SALES 
GROWTH 

  

0% 

 

0% 

 
Payout 

 
0% 

70%

30%

-1.0% 0.0% 4.0%

$440 $515 $600

ACTUAL 

ACTUAL 

* AdjustedEBITDAisanon-GAAPfinancialmeasure.SeeAppendixA fora reconciliationofGAAPtonon-GAAPmeasures for fiscal2021used

in this proxy statement.

Based on the Committee’s certification of performance results, our NEOs did not receive any 2021 STIP payouts.

long-term incentive compensation

Our long-term incentive program is designed to focus our executives on increasing shareholder value, to reward their

contributions to our sustainable, long-term growth and performance, and to attract and retain key talent. For 2021, the

Committee approved long-term incentive grants for our NEOs, consisting of amix of PSUs and time-vested RSUs.

Considerations for Fiscal 2021 LTIMix PSUs RSUs

In determining the split between PSUs and RSUs, the Committee

considered:

• theneedtomotivateandretainourentirelynew leadershipteam

as it leads the Company’s business transformation;

• emphasis on performance-based, at-risk pay; and

• the goal of aligning executive and shareholder interests.

The Committee will continue to evaluate LTI pay mix as our

transformation progresses to ensure alignment between pay

and performance.

60%

Fiscal2021PSUsareearned

based on three-year

adjusted gross margin

(50%) and three-year

relative TSR (50%).

Payouts for PSUs based on

relative TSR are also

subject to a TSR

‘‘regulator’’ that caps

award payouts at 100% of

target if our TSR over the

performance period is

negative.

40%

Time-vested RSUs vest

ratably on the first, second

and third anniversary of the

date of grant, generally

subject to the executive’s

continued employment

through such date

The Committee also approved target long-term incentive award values for each NEO. These values are determined in

connection with the benchmarking and setting of target total direct compensation and related compensation elements
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for each NEO, as contemplated in applicable employment agreements. The Committee approved a 10% adjustment to

Mr. Tritton’s target value at grant for fiscal 2021 in order to further align to market and continue to reward for

achievements of longer-term objectives of the business. For more information, see ‘‘executive compensation program

elements.’’

FISCAL2021 TARGETLTI VALUE

Mark J. Tritton $7,700,000

JohnHartmann $3,500,000

GustavoArnal $1,937,500

JosephHartsig $1,750,000

RafehMasood $1,137,500

Mr.MasoodreceivedanadditionalLTIaward inconnectionwithassuminghisnewpositionasChiefCustomerOfficer.This

equitygrantwasstructuredconsistentlywiththefiscal2021awards, includingmixofPSUs(60%weighting)andRSUs(40%

weighting), performancemetrics, vestingconditionsandgoals. Formore information, see ‘‘fiscal 2021NEOcompensation

decisions.’’

2021 PSUs – grants

The Committee selected adjusted gross margin and relative TSR as the performance metrics, with equal weighting, for

the 2021 PSUs and established: (i) for adjusted gross margin, aggressive threshold, target and maximum performance

goals and related payout percentages based on achievement; and (2) for relative TSR, the payout percentages based on

achievement versus other peer retailers. As noted in our compensation design pillars, the peer group for performance

comparisons is the same as the peer group used for benchmarking. To further enhance shareholder alignment, the

Committee continued its past practice of including an element in the terms and conditions of the 2021 PSUs based on

relativeTSRthatcapsanypayoutsattarget (regardlessof relativeperformance) ifourabsoluteTSRovertheperformance

period is negative.

howwe align our PSUswith increased shareholder value

ADJUSTED GROSS MARGIN*

Gross margin is a key component of our transformation strategy and reflects achievement across all our critical drivers,

including digital growth, owned brand penetration, focus on cost and sourcing savings and optimizing our costs of

fulfillment.Webelieve that grossmargin is critical to long-termvalue creation.

RELATIVETSR

Relative TSR rewards shareholder returns and long-term performance relative to our peer group, and we believe also

provides the right balance with our annual incentive metrics that focus on near-term strategic priorities. The risk of any

excessivepayouts in theeventwearenotdelivering value toour shareholders is controlledby thecaponpayouts at target

in the event absoluteTSRover the performanceperiod is negative.

* Adjustedgrossmargin isanon-GAAPfinancialmeasure.SeeAppendixA fora reconciliationofGAAPtonon-GAAPmeasures for fiscal2021

used in this proxy statement.

howwe set our PSU performance goals

Weset challenging threshold, target andmaximumadjusted grossmargin goals, with target alignment to our three-year

transformation objectives. The payout scale for PSUs based on adjusted gross margin ranges from 50% (threshold) to

200% (maximum).

We require TSR performance above the 50th percentile of our peer group to payout at target (55th percentile). We

believe this performance hurdle is higher than typical market practice and reflects robust goal-setting. For the TSR-

based PSUs, the Committee changed the 25% (threshold) to 150% (maximum) payout scale used in fiscal 2020 to 25%

(threshold) to 200% (maximum) for fiscal 2021, to align withmarket practice and our pay-for-performance culture. The

Committee also focuses on carefully and thoughtfully identifying our peer group, including retailers with business

characteristics similar to ours and companies of varying sizes in terms of revenue andmarket capitalization.
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2019 PSUs – payouts

InconnectionwithMr.Tritton’sappointmentasCEO,hereceivedseveral inducementandmake-wholeawards (to replace

certain awards forfeitedwhenhe resigned fromhisprior employer). Theseawards includedamake-wholePSUawardwith

a value at grant of $3,500,000 vesting on November 4, 2021 (2019 PSUs). The 2019 PSUs were based on two-year

performance tests relating to thedevelopmentofour rigorous transformation strategy, including specific objectives and

goals relating to same-store sales, EBITgrowth, talentmanagement, expense reductionandmargin increase, and regular

achievement updates to theBoard. Following certification by theCommittee that theperformancegoalswere achieved,

Mr. Tritton vested in 273,735 shares onNovember 4, 2021, with a value of $5,459,645.

retirement and other benefits

The NEOs generally are entitled to the same retirement and other benefits offered to all Bed Bath & Beyond associates.

The cost of these benefits constitutes a small percentage of each NEO’s total compensation. Key benefits include paid

vacation, premiums paid for short- and long-term disability insurance, amatching contribution to the NEO’s 401(k) plan

account and payment of a portion of the NEO’s premiums for healthcare and basic life insurance. We do not provide any

pension or retirement benefits, other than the 401(k) plan, or any nonqualified deferred compensation plans.

Wegenerally haveprovidedour leadership teamwithcertainperquisites, includinganautomobile allowanceandanannual

financialplanningbenefit.TheCommitteebelievessuch limitedperquisitesarereasonableandconsistentwithouroverall

objective of attracting and retaining talentedNEOs.

See the ‘‘all other compensation’’ column in the Summary Compensation Table for further information regarding these

benefits and perquisites, and the ‘‘potential payments upon termination or change in control’’ table for information

regarding termination and change in control payments and benefits.

fiscal 2021 NEO compensation decisions

The followingprovides fiscal 2021summarycompensation information for eachofour continuingNEOs.Paymix for each

NEO represents fiscal 2021 total direct compensation, including actual STIP payout of $0 and target LTI value. Formore

information, see ‘‘employment agreements and potential payments upon termination or change in control.’’

Mark J. Tritton
president and chief executive officer

We entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Tritton

in connection with his appointment as President and CEO in

November2019.The termsandconditionsof this agreement

were designed to establish a competitive compensation

framework that aligns with our compensation design pillars.

Mr. Tritton’s fiscal 2021 compensation consisted of the

elements described below.

86%
LTI

14%
base
salary

0%
STIP

base salary $1,230,000 annually

STIP NoSTIP bonus awarded for fiscal 2021

• Target STIP opportunity: 175%of base salary

LTI $7,700,000 target award value for fiscal 2021

other awards Noother awards granted in 2021

For more information about outstanding awards, including inducement and make-whole

awards granted in connection with Mr. Tritton’s appointment in 2019, see ‘‘outstanding

equity awards at fiscal year end.’’

tailored
perquisites

• Financial planning

• Automobile allowance
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John Hartmann
chief operating officer and president buybuy BABY

Weentered intoanemploymentagreementwithMr.Hartmann

in connection with his appointment as Chief OperatingOfficer

and President, buybuy BABY in May 2020. The terms and

conditions of this agreement were designed to establish a

competitive compensation framework that aligns with our

compensation design pillars. Mr. Hartmann’s fiscal 2021

compensation consisted of the elements described below.

78%
LTI

22%

salary
base

0%
STIP

base salary $1,000,000 annually

STIP NoSTIP bonus awarded for fiscal 2021

• Target STIP opportunity: 125%of base salary

LTI $3,500,000 target award value for fiscal 2021

other awards Noother awards granted in 2021

For more information about outstanding awards, including inducement and make-whole

awardsgranted in connectionwithMr.Hartmann’s appointment in2020, see ‘‘outstanding

equity awards at fiscal year end.’’

tailored
perquisites

• Relocation assistance in connection with Mr. Hartmann’s relocation to the New York

metropolitan area

• Automobile allowance

GustavoArnal
chief financial officer

In connection with Mr. Arnal’s appointment as Chief Financial

Officer inApril 2020,weentered intoanemploymentagreement

with Mr. Arnal in April 2020. The terms and conditions of this

agreement were designed to establish a competitive

compensation framework that aligns with our compensation

design pillars. Mr. Arnal’s fiscal 2021 compensation consisted of

the elements described below.

71%
LTI

29%

salary
base

0%
STIP

base salary $775,000 annually

STIP NoSTIP bonus awarded for fiscal 2021

• Target STIP opportunity: 85%of base salary

LTI $1,937,500 target award value for fiscal 2021

other awards Noother awards granted in 2021

For more information about outstanding awards, including inducement and make-whole

awards granted in connection with Mr. Arnal’s appointment in 2020, see ‘‘outstanding

equity awards at fiscal year end.’’

tailored
perquisites

• Financial planning

• Automobile allowance
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Joseph Hartsig
chiefmerchandising officer and president Harmon Stores Inc.

We entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Hartsig in

connectionwithhisappointmentasChiefMerchandisingOfficerand

President, Harmon Stores Inc. in March 2020. The terms and

conditions of this agreement were designed to establish a

competitive compensation framework that aligns with our

compensationdesignpillars.Mr.Hartsig’s fiscal 2021compensation

consisted of the elements described below.

71%
LTI

29%

salary
base

0%
STIP

base salary $700,000 annually

STIP NoSTIP bonus awarded for fiscal 2021

• Target STIP opportunity: 80%of base salary for fiscal 2021

LTI $1,750,000 target award value for fiscal 2021

other awards Noother awards granted in 2021

For more information about outstanding awards, including inducement and make-whole

awardsgranted inconnectionwithMr.Hartsig’sappointment in2020, see ‘‘outstandingequity

awards at fiscal year end.’’

tailored
perquisites

• Financial planning

• Automobile allowance

Rafeh Masood
chief customer officer

We entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Masood in

connection with his appointment as Chief Digital Officer in May

2020, which was amended in connection with his promotion to

Chief Customer Officer in November 2021. The terms and

conditions of this agreement were designed to establish a

competitive compensation framework that aligns with our

compensation design pillars. Mr. Masood’s fiscal 2021

compensation consisted of the elements described below and

reflect increases related to his promotion.

70%
LTI

30%

salary
base

0%
STIP

base salary $650,000 annually

STIP NoSTIP bonus awarded for fiscal 2021

• Target STIP opportunity: 80%of base salary (increased from70% inNovember 2021)

LTI $1,137,500 target award value for fiscal 2021

other awards • One-time LTI award with a value of $350,000 consisting of 60% PSUs and 40% RSUs in

connection with appointment to Chief Customer Officer. The PSUs and RSUs vest

pursuant to the same terms as the PSUs and RSUs awarded to NEOs as part of the fiscal

2021 executive compensation programdescribed above.

For more information about outstanding awards, including inducement and make-whole

awards granted in connection with Mr. Masood’s appointment as Chief Digital Officer in

2020, see ‘‘outstanding equity awards at fiscal year end.’’

tailored
perquisites

• Financial planning

• Automobile allowance
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our compensation decision-making process

role of the people, culture and compensation committee

The Committee, which is comprised entirely of independent directors, reviews and establishes our management

compensation and benefits philosophy, policies, plans and programs. In this role, the Committee is responsible for

considering and determining all matters relating to the compensation of the CEO and other executive officers, including

the NEOs, as well as administering and functioning as the committee that is authorized to make grants and awards of

equity compensation to our NEOs. Pursuant to its charter, the Committee may form subcommittees and delegate its

authority to any such subcommittee or to any designated officer of the Company as it deems appropriate, to the extent

permitted by law or by applicable policies and rules of the Company.

role ofmanagement

Subsequent to theappointmentofournew leadership team,meetingsof theCommitteehavebeen regularly attendedby

ourChief People&CultureOfficer andothermembersofourPeople&Culturemanagement team.OurCEOalsoprovides

input as requestedand, togetherwithourCFO, contributes to thediscussionofour internal operatingbudget and related

calculation of goals for our incentive plans.

independent consultants

In fiscal 2021, the Committee engaged the services of an independent compensation consultant, Meridian Compensation

Partners, LLC (Meridian). Meridian reports directly to the Committee and attendedmostmeetings during the year. Meridian

assistedwith thedevelopmentof competitivemarket data andbenchmarking, helped theCommitteedesign and implement

our revised incentive compensationprogramsandprovided informationon trends andemergingbest practices.Meridianhas

not served theCompany inanyother capacityexceptasconsultant to theCommittee.

TheCommittee receives advice and assistance from the law firm ofWinston & Strawn LLP.

The Committee has concluded that no conflict of interest exists (or existed) that prevents (or prevented) Meridian or

Winston & Strawn frombeing independent advisors to the Committee.

benchmarking peer group

Consistentwithourcompensationdesignpillars, theCommitteeestablishedasingle,updatedandrelevantpeergroupfor

setting total direct compensation levels and measuring relative performance. Until 2019, we relied on two peer groups:

one group for compensation benchmarking and an expanded group for performance comparisons. In 2019, the

Committee determined that having a single peer groupwould increase alignment between pay and performance, reduce

complexityand increasetransparency.Thispeergroupwasreaffirmed in2020andservedasourpeergroup for fiscal2021

compensation benchmarking. In October 2021, the Committee reassessed our peer group for fiscal 2022, based on a

review by Meridian, and removed five companies due to size misalignment and/or non-standard pay practices. We

continue to believe the peer group has an appropriate number and breadth of companies to support both purposes.

The peer group consists primarily of retailers with business characteristics thatmake them similar to the Company. The

Committee also considered various size parameters, including revenue andmarket capitalization.

Based on the parameters reviewed, the following 22 companies (our Peer Group) were identified as competitors for

business, talent or both. We aim to set target total direct compensation and related elements generally at the median

range for our peer group, but also consider role and specific talent markets, individual performance and potential and

internal equity.
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FISCAL2021 PEER GROUP

Advance Auto Parts, Inc. Dollar Tree, Inc. TheGap, Inc.

AutoZone, Inc. Foot Locker, Inc. TheODPCorporation

Bath & BodyWorks, Inc. Kohl’s Corporation TheMichaels Companies, Inc.

Big Lots, Inc. Macy’s, Inc. Tractor Supply Company

Burlington Stores, Inc. Nordstrom, Inc. Ulta Beauty, Inc.

Dick’s SportingGoods, Inc.. O’Reilly Automotive, Inc. Wayfair Inc.

Dillard’s Inc. Ross Stores, Inc. Williams-Sonoma, Inc.

Dollar General Corporation

TOBEREMOVEDFROMPEERGROUP FOR 2022:Dillard’s, Inc., Dollar General Corporation, Dollar Tree, Inc., The
Michaels Companies, Inc., andWayfair Inc.

BED BATH & BEYOND COMPAREDTO PEER GROUP

 NUMBER OF 

75th Percentile $16,670

10%
0%

25%

50%

75%

100% $22,982

3%0%

25%

50%

75%

100% 88,857

28%

0%

25%

50%

75%

100%

Median $12,731 $12,383 38,599

25th Percentile $ 8,631 $ 5,433 30,400

Bed Bath & Beyond Inc. $ 7,868 $ 1,618 32,000

Percentile Rank 10% 3% 28%

Data sourced from S&P Capital IQ effective as of February 28, 2022. Revenue and number of associates data based on trailing twelve months.

Market cap presented as of February 2022.

TheCommittee reviewsmarketdata fromcompensationsurveys tobenchmarkpay forexecutiveofficerpositionswhen

relevant Peer Group data are not available.

additional compensation information

impact of accounting and tax considerations

TheCommitteeconsidersvariousaccountingand tax implicationsof cash, equity-basedandother compensation.

When determining the amounts of equity-based awards to be granted, the Committee examines the accounting cost

associated with the grants. Under ASC 718, grants of stock options, PSUs and other equity-based awards result in an

accounting charge for the Company equal to the fair value of the awards being granted.

Section 162(m) of the Internal RevenueCode of 1986, as amended (the ‘‘Code’’), generally disallows a federal income tax

deduction for compensation in excessof $1million in any taxable year paid to certain coveredexecutiveofficers. There is

limited transitional relief for ‘‘qualifiedperformance-basedcompensation’’ andcertainother itemsof compensation that

were in place before November 2, 2017.While the Committee generally considers this limit when determining executive

compensation, the Committee reserves the discretion to decide that it is appropriate to exceed the limitation on

deductibility so we have the flexibility to attract and retain talented executives and to ensure those executives are
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compensated inamanner that is consistentwith thebest interestsof theCompanyandourshareholders. Interpretations

of and changes in the tax laws and other factors beyond the Committee’s control also may affect the deductibility of

compensation.

employment agreements

We have entered into employment agreements with our NEOs that set forth generally the elements of compensation

discussedaboveandprovide for terminationpayments inqualifying terminationscenarios.Webelieve that it is in thebest

interests of the Company and its shareholders to enter into these employment arrangements as they provide a level of

certainty to the Company and our executives on their fixed compensation and termination entitlements. For more

information, see ‘‘employment agreements and potential payments upon change in control.’’

policy on the recovery of incentive compensation

We have a stand-alone Compensation Recoupment Policy regarding the recovery of incentive compensation applicable

to current and former senior officers. The Compensation Recoupment Policy is a stand-alone policy to underscore the

importance of these principles and generally provides that we will seek to recoup incentive-based cash and equity

compensation paid or awarded to current and former senior officers, where (i) there has been a restatement of the

Company’s financial results or there was an error in the calculation of the achievement of applicable performance goals,

which should have resulted in no performance-based award or a lower payment relating to such performance or (ii) the

Board determines in good faith that the executive engaged in conduct detrimental to the Company (including fraud

causing financial or reputational harm, commissionof a felony, ormaterial breachof restrictive covenants). The full policy

is available in the Governance Documents section of our Investor Relations website available at

www.bedbathandbeyond.com. TheCommittee continues tomonitor the issuance of regulations under theDodd-Frank

Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act relating to incentive compensation recoupment and will amend our

Compensation Recoupment Policy to the extent necessary to comply with any such regulations.

policies prohibiting hedging and pledging

We do not permit executive officers to hedge the Company’s securities, and we also restrict their ability to pledge the

Company’s securities. Additional detail regarding the Company’s anti-hedging and pledging policies can be found above

under the heading ‘‘Anti-Hedging and Anti-Pledging Policies.’’

compensation risk assessment

InMarch2021, theCommitteeperformeda riskassessmentofourcompensationprograms,which includedananalysisof

the risk associated with our executive compensation program conducted by the Committee’s independent

compensation consultant. In its review, the Committee considered the balance between pay components, measures of

performance, magnitude of pay, pay caps, plan time horizons and overlapping performance cycles, program design and

administration and other features that are designed to mitigate risk (such as stock ownership guidelines and a

Compensation Recoupment Policy). Following its review, the Committee, with confirmation by the independent

compensation consultant, determined that our compensation practices and policies do not create risks that are

reasonably likely to have amaterial adverse effect on the Company.
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executive stock ownership guidelines

We encourage our executives to own our common stock so that they share the same long-term investment risk as our

shareholders. Our stock ownership guidelines, recently enhanced in 2020, require all executive officers, including our

NEOs tomaintain an ongoing and substantial investment in our common stock. The guidelines are based onmultiples of

base salary, varying by role, as follows:

MINIMUM STOCK OWNERSHIPREQUIREMENT

6x
BASE SALARY

3x
BASE SALARY

2x
BASE SALARY

Chief ExecutiveOfficer Chief Financial Officer Chief StoresOfficer Chief Legal Officer

Chief OperatingOfficer Chief CustomerOfficer Chief People andCultureOfficer

Chief MerchandisingOfficer Chief GrowthOfficer

• All covered individuals must hold 50% of the net after-tax shares they receive in connection with the Company’s

compensationprogramsorpursuant tosuch individuals’employmentagreementsuntil theirownership requirement is

met;

• Once the covered individual satisfies theownership requirement, heor she is considered in compliance as long as such

covered individual’s eligible holdings do not decline below the number of shares held when he or she first met the

applicable ownership guideline; and

• The price used to determine compliancewith the guidelineswill be the 20-day trading average at each fiscal year-end.

The Committee evaluates compliance with this policy on an annual basis. Once an executive satisfies the ownership

guideline as of a measurement date, they will be considered in compliance regardless of share price fluctuations or an

increase inbasesalary, as longas theirholdings remainatorabovethenumberof sharesheldat the timethey firstmet the

ownership guideline. As of the end of fiscal 2021, all of the Company’s executives subject to the policy owned shares in

excess of the applicable guideline or were in compliancewith the retention requirement described above.
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compensation tables
summary compensation table for fiscal 2021, fiscal
2020 and fiscal 2019
The following table sets forth information concerning the compensation of the Company’s NEOs for the last three

completed fiscal years (exceptwith regard toMessrs. Arnal, Hartmann andHartsig, who had not yet joined theCompany

in fiscal 2019 and consequently, have information included for fiscal 2021 and fiscal 2020 only, andMr. Masood, whowas

not anNEO for fiscal 2020 or fiscal 2019 and, consequently, has information included for fiscal 2021 only).

Name and Principal Position Year Salary(1) ($)
Bonus

($)

Stock
Awards(2)(3)

($)

Non-Equity
Incentive Plan

Compensation(4)

($)

All Other
Compensation(5)

($)
Total

($)

Mark J. Tritton(6)

President andChief Executive

Officer

2021 1,225,385 0 8,351,225 0 199,012 9,775,622

2020 1,144,615 710,000 6,931,834 2,700,000 1,440,503 12,926,952

2019 346,154 375,000 11,632,199 750,000 661,045 13,764,398

GustavoArnal(7)

Executive Vice President, Chief

Financial Officer

2021 775,000 0 2,101,371 0 37,094 2,913,465

2020 611,058 — 2,740,375 988,125 310,841 4,650,399

JohnHartmann(8)

Chief OperatingOfficer and

President, buybuy BABY

2021 1,000,000 0 3,796,011 0 545,649 5,341,660

2020 750,000 687,500 6,635,377 1,473,214 103,553 9,649,644

JosephHartsig(9)

Executive Vice President, Chief

MerchandisingOfficer, and

President, Harmon Stores Inc.

2021 700,000 70,000 1,897,993 0 208,798 2,876,790

2020 635,385 260,000 2,556,051 420,000 61,974 3,933,410

RafehMasood(10)

Executive Vice President, Chief

CustomerOfficer

2021 634,615 192,500 1,551,564 0 273,693 2,652,372

(1) Exceptasotherwisedescribed in thisSummaryCompensationTable, salaries toNEOswerepaid incash in fiscal 2021, fiscal 2020and fiscal

2019, and increases in salarywereeffective inApril for fiscal 2021 forMessrs.TrittonandMasood.Messrs.Arnal,HartmannandHartsigdid

not have salary increases in fiscal 2021. None of our NEOs had salary increases in fiscal 2020.

(2) The value of stock awards represents their respective total fair value on the date of grant calculated in accordancewith ASC718, without

regard to the estimated forfeiture related to service-based vesting conditions, and in the case of PSUs, is based on the performance

conditions applicable to such PSUs being achieved at the target payout level, whichwas determined to be the probable outcome as of the

grant date. All assumptions made in the valuations are contained and described in Note 15 to the Company’s consolidated financial

statements in the Company’s Form 10-K for fiscal 2021. Stock awards are rounded up to the nearest whole share when converted from

dollars to shares. The amounts shown in the table reflect the total fair value on the date of grant and do not necessarily reflect the actual

value, if any, thatmay be realized by theNEOs.

(3) The value of stock awards consists of (i) PSU and RSU awards granted in fiscal 2021 to Messrs. Tritton, Arnal, Hartmann, Hartsig and

Masood, (ii) PSU and RSU awards granted in fiscal 2020 toMessrs. Tritton, Arnal, Hartmann andHartsig and (iii) a PSU award (the ‘‘Tritton

Make-Whole PSUAward’’) and RSU awards (the ‘‘Tritton Sign-On RSUAward’’ and the ‘‘TrittonMake-Whole RSUAward’’) granted in fiscal

2019 to Mr. Tritton as an inducement material to his entering into an employment agreement and commencing employment with the

Company.

The fair value of the PSU awards that have not yet been certified is reported at 100% of target, which is the estimated outcome of

performance conditions associatedwith the PSU awards on the grant date. If theCompany achieves the highest level of performance for

the PSU awards granted in fiscal 2021, then the fair value of such PSU awardswould be $10,528,298, $2,649,156, $4,785,599, $2,392,774

and $1,943,207 for Messrs. Tritton, Arnal, Hartmann, Hartsig and Masood, respectively. If the Company achieves the highest level of

performance for thePSUawardsgranted in fiscal 2020, then the fair valueof suchPSUawardswouldbe$3,051,466, $844,608, $1,525,738

and $762,874 for Messrs. Tritton, Arnal, Hartmann and Hartsig, respectively. The performance metrics for Mr. Tritton’s PSU awards

granted in fiscal 2019 did not provide for performance above 100% of the target. The vesting of the Tritton Sign-On RSU Award and the

TrittonMake-Whole RSUAward granted in fiscal 2019 is based solely on time.

(4) For fiscal 2020, thePeople, Culture andCompensationCommittee implemented anewcash short-term incentive plan (the ‘‘STIP’’), which

re-balancedthemixofshort-termfixedandvariablepaytiedtoaggressive,quantitativeobjectives.Followingcompletionof the fiscal year,

the People, Culture and Compensation Committee evaluated performance against the adjusted EBITDA, digital sales growth and

reduction in adjusted SG&A goals, and calculated the fiscal 2020 payout. Based on the People, Culture and Compensation Committee’s
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certificationofperformance results,NEOsearnedanactual bonuspayout for fiscal 2020of150%achievement. For fiscal 2021thePeople,

Culture and Compensation Committee set performance objectives of adjusted EBITDA and comparable sales growth under the STIP.

Based on the People, Culture andCompensationCommittee’s certification of performance results, no bonuswas paid under the STIP for

fiscal 2021.

(5) Includes, interalia,dividendsordividendequivalentsonequity-basedawardsbasedontheamountspaidtoall shareholdersasof therecord

date for each dividend declared. For Mr. Tritton in fiscal 2021, the All Other Compensation column, includes (i) car allowance of $47,489,

which includes$40,566foranamountnotpaid inpriorperiodsduetoanadministrativeerror, (ii) companymatchof401Kcontributions,and

(iii) apayment for financialplanningbenefits. In fiscal2021, totaldividend incomeof$138,275waspaid toMr.Tritton.Theamount reflected

forMr. Arnal in fiscal 2021 includes (i) car allowance of $27,094, and (ii) a payment for financial planning benefits. The amount reflected for

Mr. Hartmann in fiscal 2021 includes (i) payment for his relocation assistance benefits of $275,884, (ii) $219,419 in gross-up payments to

reimburseapplicable taxes resulting fromrelocationexpenses thatwere imputedas incometohim, including federal, stateandFICAtaxes,

(iii) car allowance of $42,653, and (iv) companymatch of 401K contributions. The amount reflected for Mr. Hartsig in fiscal 2021 includes

(i) payment forhis relocationassistancebenefitsof$86,888, (ii) $69,105 ingross-uppayments to reimburseapplicable taxes resulting from

relocationexpensesthatwere imputedas incometohim, including federal, stateandFICAtaxes, (iii) carallowanceof$26,489, (iv) company

matchof401Kcontributions, (v) apayment for financial planningbenefits, and (vi) a dividendpayment intended tovest inFY2022 thatwas

inadvertentlypaid inFY2021duetoanadministrativeerrordiscoveredafter suchpaymentvestedandwouldotherwisehavebeenpayable

toMr. Hartsig. The amount reflected forMr. Masood in fiscal 2021 includes (i) payment for his relocation assistance benefits of $121,146,

(ii) $113,240 in gross-up payments to reimburse applicable taxes resulting from relocation expenses thatwere imputed as income to him,

including federal, state and FICA taxes, (iii) car allowance of $26,721, (iv) company match of 401K contributions, and (v) a payment for

financial planning benefits.

(6) Mr. Tritton commenced employment as President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, effective as of November 4, 2019. With

respect to fiscal 2020, Mr. Tritton earned a cash bonus under the STIP in the total amount of $2,700,000, which is reflected in Non-Equity

Incentive Plan Compensation and was paid in fiscal 2021. Additionally, in accordance with his employment agreement, Mr. Tritton was

entitled to a make-whole cash award in the amount of $710,000 (the ‘‘Tritton Make-Whole Cash Award’’), which is reflected in the Bonus

column.Theamountofbasesalarypaid toMr.Trittonduring fiscal2020reflects theportionofhisannualbasesalaryof$1,200,000thatwas

earned during fiscal 2020 and also reflects a 30% salary reduction between April 10 and May 16, 2020, in response to the COVID-19

pandemic. With respect to fiscal 2019, Mr. Tritton was entitled to a performance-based cash bonus under the terms of his employment

agreement with the Company with the target bonus opportunity of $750,000. The People, Culture and Compensation Committee

determined thatMr.Trittonexceeded theperformanceobjectivewith respect tohisbonus for fiscal 2019anddetermined that it shouldbe

paid out at 150%of target, in the total amount of $1,125,000.Of this total amount, $750,000 is reflected in theNon-Equity Incentive Plan

Compensation, and $375,000 is reflected in the Bonus column.

(7) Mr. Arnal commenced employment as Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, effective as of May 4, 2020. The

amount reflected in the Salary column for Mr. Arnal during fiscal 2020 reflects the portion of his annual base salary of $775,000 that was

earnedduring fiscal 2020.With respect to fiscal 2020,Mr. Arnal earneda cashbonusunder theSTIP in the total amountof $988,125,which

is reflected in Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation column andwas paid in fiscal 2021.

(8) Mr. Hartmann commenced employment as the Chief Operating Officer and President, buybuy BABY, effective as of May 18, 2020. The

amount reflected in theSalary column forMr. Hartmannduring fiscal 2020 reflects the portion of his annual base salary of $1,000,000 that

wasearnedduring fiscal 2020.With respect to fiscal 2020,Mr.Hartmannearnedacashbonuspayoutunder theSTIP in the total amountof

$1,473,214 which is reflected in the Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation and was paid in fiscal 2021. In accordance with his

employment agreement,Mr.Hartmannwasalsoentitled to amake-whole cashaward in the amountof $187,500anda sign-oncashaward

in the amount of $500,000, both of which are reflected in the Bonus column.

(9) Mr. Hartsig commenced employment as the Executive Vice President, Chief Merchandising Officer, and President, Harmon Stores Inc.,

effective asofMarch4, 2020.Theamount reflected in theSalary column forMr.Hartsig during fiscal 2020 reflects theportionof his annual

base salary of $700,000 that was earned during fiscal 2020, and also reflects a 30% salary reduction between April 10 andMay 16, 2020 in

response to the COVID-19 pandemic. With respect to fiscal 2020, Mr. Hartsig earned a cash bonus payout under the STIP in the total

amount of $420,000, which is reflected in theNon-Equity Incentive PlanCompensation column andwas paid in fiscal 2021. In accordance

with his employment agreement, Mr. Hartsig was entitled to a retention bonus of $70,000 per quarter for a one year period for a total

amountof $280,000. In fiscal 2021 and2020,Mr.Hartsig received$70,000 and$210,000, respectively, related to this retentionbonus and

is reflected in the Bonus column. In addition, in fiscal 2020, Mr. Hartsig was entitled to a sign-on cash award of $50,000, which is also

reflected in the Bonus column.

(10) Mr.Masood has been Executive Vice President, Chief CustomerOfficer sinceNovember 2021 and joined theCompany as Executive Vice

President, Chief Digital Officer inMay 2020.
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grants of plan based awards

grants of non-equity incentive plan awards, restricted stock units and
performance stock units for fiscal 2021

The following table sets forth informationwith respect to RSUs and PSUs awarded during fiscal 2021 to each of theNEOs

under the 2012 Plan.

Name
Grant
Date

Estimated Future Payouts Under
Non-Equity Incentive Plan Awards

Estimated Future Payouts Under
Equity Incentive Plan Awards

All Other
Stock

Awards:
Number

of Shares
of Stock
or Units

(#)

Grant
Date Fair
Value of

Stock and
Option

Awards(3)(4)

($)
Threshold(1)

($)
Target(1)

($)
Maximum(1)

($)
Threshold(2)

(#)
Target(2)

(#)
Maximum(2)

(#)

Mark J. Tritton 5/10/2021(1) 538,125 2,152,500 4,305,000 — — — — $ —

5/10/2021(5) 45,283 90,566 181,132 $2,315,320

5/10/2021(6) 22,642 90,566 181,132 $2,948,829

5/10/2021(7) 120,754 $3,087,076

GustavoArnal 5/10/2021(1) 164,688 658,750 1,317,500 — — — — $ —

5/10/2021(5) 11,395 22,789 45,578 $ 582,601

5/10/2021(6) 5,697 22,788 45,576 $ 741,977

5/10/2021(7) 30,385 $ 776,793

JohnHartmann 5/10/2021(1) 312,500 1,250,000 2,500,000 — — — — $ —

5/10/2021(5) 20,584 41,167 82,334 $1,052,434

5/10/2021(6) 10,292 41,166 82,332 $1,340,365

5/10/2021(7) 54,888 $1,403,212

JosephHartsig 5/10/2021(1) 140,000 560,000 1,120,000 — — — — $ —

5/10/2021(5) 10,292 20,583 41,166 $ 526,204

5/10/2021(6) 5,146 20,583 41,166 $ 670,182

5/10/2021(7) 27,444 $ 701,606

RafehMasood 5/10/2021(1) 118,973 475,893 951,786 — — — — $ —

5/10/2021(5) 6,690 13,379 26,758 $ 342,034

5/10/2021(6) 3,345 13,379 26,758 $ 435,620

5/10/2021(7) 17,839 $ 456,054

11/10/2021(8) 2,129 4,257 8,514 $ 92,930

11/10/2021(9) 1,065 4,257 8,514 $ 101,019

11/10/2021(10) 5,676 $ 123,907

(1) Represents the threshold, target and maximum amount of the fiscal 2021 non-equity incentive plan award granted to Messrs. Tritton,

Arnal, Hartmann,Hartsig andMasood for fiscal 2021pursuant to theSTIP.Mr.Masood’s amounts havebeenprorated. See footnote (4) to

the Summary Compensation Table in this Proxy Statement.

(2) Numberof shareswhenconverted fromdollars to shares,whichnumber is roundedup to thenearestwhole share.Amounts represent the

threshold, target andmaximumamounts for equity incentive plan awardswith performance conditions for eachNEO.

(3) Nooption awardswere granted to theNEOs in fiscal 2021.

(4) Pursuant to the SEC rules, PSU and RSU awards are valued in accordancewith ASC 718. See footnote (2) to the Summary Compensation

Table in this ProxyStatement. The fair valueof PSUawards is reported at 100%of target,which is theestimatedoutcomeof performance

conditions associatedwith the PSU awards on the grant date.

(5) Represents an awardof PSUsgranted to theNEOsonMay10, 2021, under theCompany’s 2012Plan. Vestingof thesePSUsgranted to the

NEOsdependson (i) the achievement of theCompany’sGrossMargin Percentage, and, if theGrossMargin Percentage is achieved, (ii) the

NEO’s continuous employment by theCompany from the grant date until the third anniversary of the grant date. The awards are capped

at 200%of target achievement, with a floor of zero. PSUs are converted into shares of common stock upon payment following vesting.

(6) Represents an awardof PSUsgranted to theNEOsonMay10, 2021, under theCompany’s 2012Plan. Vestingof thesePSUsgranted to the

NEOs depends on (i) the Company’s achievement of a three-year performance goal based on the Company’s Total Shareholder Return

comparedwith the Company’s peer group as determined by the People, Culture andCompensation Committee of the Company’s Board
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of Directors, and, if the Total Shareholder Return goal is achieved, (ii) the NEOs’ continuous employment by the Company from the grant

date until the third anniversary of the grant date. The awards are capped at 200% of target achievement, with a floor of zero. PSUs are

converted into shares of common stock upon payment following vesting.

(7) RepresentsanawardofRSUsgrantedtotheNEOsonMay10,2021,undertheCompany’s2012Plan.TheRSUswill vest inthreeequalannual

installments beginning one year from the date of grant, provided that theNEO remains continuously employed by theCompany from the

grant date until the vesting date.

(8) Represents an award of PSUs granted to Mr. Masood on November 10, 2021, under the Company’s 2012 Plan. Vesting of these PSUs

granted toMr.Masooddependson (i) the achievementof theCompany’sGrossMargin Percentage, and, if theGrossMargin Percentage is

achieved, (ii) Mr.Masood’s continuous employment by theCompany from the grant date until the third anniversary of the grant date. The

award is capped at 200% of target achievement, with a floor of zero. PSUs are converted into shares of common stock upon payment

following vesting.

(9) Represents an award of PSUs granted to Ms. Masood on November 10, 2021, under the Company’s 2012 Plan. Vesting of these PSUs

granted to Mr. Masood depends on (i) the Company’s achievement of a three-year performance goal based on the Company’s Total

ShareholderReturncomparedwith theCompany’speergroupasdeterminedby thePeople,CultureandCompensationCommitteeof the

Company’s Board of Directors, and, if the Total Shareholder Return goal is achieved, (ii) Mr. Masood’s continuous employment by the

Company fromthegrantdateuntil the thirdanniversaryof thegrantdate.Theaward iscappedat200%of targetachievement,witha floor

of zero. PSUs are converted into shares of common stock upon payment following vesting.

(10) Represents an award of RSUs granted to Mr. Masood on November 10, 2021, under the Company’s 2012 Plan. The RSUs will vest in three

equal annual installments beginning one year from the date of grant, provided that the NEO remains continuously employed by the

Company from the grant date until the vesting date.

outstanding equity awards at fiscal year-end

Thefollowingtablesets forth informationforeachoftheNEOswithrespecttothevalueofallunvestedRSUsandunvested

PSUs as of February 26, 2022, the last day of fiscal 2021.

Name

Equity Incentive Plan Awards: Number
of Unearned Shares, Units orOther

Rights That HaveNot Vested
(#)

Equity Incentive Plan Awards: Market or Payout
Value of Unearned Shares, Units orOther Rights

That HaveNot Vested(1)

($)

Mark J. Tritton 1,008,243(2) $16,303,289

GustavoArnal 367,413(3) $ 5,941,068

JohnHartmann 831,727(4) $13,449,026

JosephHartsig 300,837(5) $ 4,864,534

RafehMasood 155,911(6) $ 2,521,081

(1) Market value is based on the closing price of theCompany’s common stock of $16.17 per share on February 25, 2022, the last trading day

in fiscal 2021.

(2) TheamountsreflectedforMr.Tritton include(i)120,754RSUsthatwill vestasfollows: (x)40,252RSUsvestedonMay10,2022and(y)40,251

RSUs that will vest on each of May 10, 2023 and 2024, subject, in general, to Mr. Tritton remaining in the Company’s employ through the

vesting date, and to the terms, conditions and restrictions of the award agreement governing the grant; (ii) 494,450 RSUs thatwill vest on

June8, 2023, subject, in general, toMr. Tritton remaining in theCompany’s employ through thevestingdate, and to the terms, conditions

and restrictions of the award agreement governing the grant; (iii) 211,907 PSUs that will vest on June 8, 2023, subject to the terms,

conditionsandrestrictionsof theawardagreementgoverningthegrant; and (iv)181,132PSUsthatwill vestonMay10,2024,subject tothe

terms, conditions and restrictions of the award agreement governing the grant. See footnote (4) to theGrants of PlanBasedAwards table

in this Proxy Statement. Unvested PSU awards are valued at target achievement.

(3) The amounts reflected for Mr. Arnal include (i) 95,941 RSUs that will vest as follows: (x) 47,970 RSUs vested on May 4, 2022 and

(y)47,971RSUsthatwill vestonMay4,2023, subject totheterms,conditionsandrestrictionsof theawardagreementgoverningthegrant;

(ii) 30,385 RSUs that will vest as follows: (x) 10,129 RSUs vested onMay 10, 2022 and (y) 10,128 RSUswill vest on each ofMay 10, 2023 and

2024, subject to the terms, conditions and restrictions of the award agreement governing the grant; (iii) 136,857 RSUswill vest on June 8,

2023, subject to the terms, conditions and restrictions of the award agreement governing the grant; (iv) 58,653 PSUs will vest on June 8,

2023, subject to the terms, conditions and restrictions of the award agreement governing the grant; (iv); and (v) 45,577 PSUs will vest on

May10,2024, subject to theterms,conditionsandrestrictionsof theawardagreementgoverningthegrant.See footnote (4) to theGrants

of Plan Based Awards table in this Proxy Statement. Unvested PSU awards are valued at target achievement.

(4) The amounts reflected forMr. Hartmann include (i) 54,888 RSUs that will vest as follows: 18,296 RSUs vested onMay 10, 2022, and 18,296

RSUswill vestoneachMay10,2023, andMay10,2024, subject to the terms, conditionsand restrictionsof theawardagreementgoverning

thegrant; (ii) 341,327RSUs thatwill vest as follows: (x) 170,663RSUsvestedonMay18,2022and (y) 170,664RSUswill vestonMay18,2023,

subject to the terms, conditions and restrictions of the award agreement governing the grant; (iii) 247,225 RSUs that will vest on June 8,

2023, subject to the terms, conditions and restrictionsof the award agreementgoverning thegrant; (iv) 105,954PSUawards thatwill vest

on June8, 2023, subject to the terms, conditions and restrictionsof the award agreementgoverning thegrant; and (v) 82,333PSUawards

thatwill vestonMay10, 2024, subject to the terms, conditionsand restrictionsof theawardagreementgoverning thegrant. See footnote

(4) to theGrants of Plan Based Awards table in this Proxy Statement. Unvested PSU awards are valued at target achievement.
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(5) TheamountsreflectedforMr.Hartsig include (i)55,637RSUsthatwill vestas follows: (x)27,818RSUsvestedonMarch4,2022and(y)27,819

RSUswill vest onMarch 4, 2023, subject to the terms, conditions and restrictions of the award agreement governing the grant; (ii) 27,444

RSUs that will vest as follows: 9,148 RSUs vested on May 10, 2022, and 9,148 RSUs will vest on each of May 10, 2023, and May 10, 2024,

subject to the terms, conditions and restrictions of the award agreement governing the grant; (iii) 123,613 RSUs that will vest on June 8,

2023, subject to the terms, conditions and restrictions of the award agreement governing the grant; (iv) 52,977 PSU awards that will vest

on June8, 2023, subject to the terms, conditions and restrictionsof the award agreementgoverning thegrant; and (v) 41,166PSUawards

thatwill vestonMay10, 2024, subject to the terms, conditionsand restrictionsof theawardagreementgoverning thegrant. See footnote

(4) to theGrants of Plan Based Awards table in this Proxy Statement. Unvested PSU awards are valued at target achievement.

(6) The amounts reflected for Mr. Masood include (i) 17,839 RSUs that will vest as follows: (x) 5,947 RSUs vested on May 10, 2022 and

(y) 5,946 RSUs will vest on each of May 10, 2023 and 2024, subject to the terms, conditions and restrictions of the award agreement

governing thegrant; (ii) 5,676RSUs thatwill vest as follows: 1,892RSUswill vest oneachofNovember 10, 2022, 2023, and2024, subject to

the terms, conditions and restrictionsof the award agreement governing thegrant; (iii) 67,987RSUs thatwill vest on June8, 2023, subject

to the terms, conditions and restrictions of the award agreement governing the grant; (iv) 29,137 PSU awards that will vest on June 08,

2023,subject totheterms,conditionsandrestrictionsof theawardagreementgoverningthegrant; (v)26,758PSUawardsthatwill veston

May10,2024,subject totheterms,conditionsandrestrictionsof theawardagreementgoverningthegrant;and (vi)8,514PSUawardsthat

will vest on November 10, 2024, subject to the terms, conditions and restrictions of the award agreement governing the grant. See

footnote (4) and (6) to the Grants of Plan Based Awards table in this Proxy Statement. Unvested PSU awards are valued at target

achievement.

option exercises and stock vested

option exercises and stock awards vested for fiscal 2021

The following table includes certain information with respect to the exercise of options and vesting of stock awards by

NEOs during fiscal 2021.

Stock Awards

Name

Number of Shares
Acquired on

Vesting
(#)

Value Realized on
Vesting

($)

Mark J. Tritton(1) 406,692 $9,367,916

GustavoArnal(2) 47,971 $1,181,526

JohnHartmann(3) 170,664 $4,295,613

JosephHartsig(4) 27,819 $ 797,432

RafehMasood(5) 89,720 $2,190,962

(1) Mr. Tritton acquired 406,692 shares in total on March 31, 2021 and November 4, 2021, upon the vesting of previously granted PSUs and

RSUs.

(2) Mr. Arnal acquired 47,971 shares in total onMay 4, 2021, upon the vesting of previously granted RSUs.

(3) Mr. Hartmann acquired 170,664 shares in total onMay 18, 2021, upon the vesting of previously granted RSUs.

(4) Mr. Hartsig acquired 27,819 shares in total onMarch 4, 2021, upon the vesting of previously granted RSUs.

(5) Mr. Masood acquired 89,720 shares in total onMay 11, 2021, upon the vesting of previously granted RSUs.
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employment agreements and potential payments
upon termination or change in control

employment agreements

Each NEO has an employment agreement with the Company that provides for severance pay and other benefits upon a

termination of his or her employment. For a complete description of payments due to eachNEOupon termination of his

or her employment with the Company, see ‘‘Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control’’ below. Each

NEO’s employment agreement provides for non-competition, non-solicitation, and non-interferenceduring the termof

employment and for a certain period thereafter. Mr. Tritton’s restricted period extends two years after separation from

the Company; Mr. Hartmann’s restricted period is 18 months following termination; and Mr. Arnal’s, Mr. Hartsig’s, and

Mr.Masood’sextends12monthsafter termination.EachNEOemploymentagreementprovides forconfidentialityduring

the termof employment and surviving the end of the termof employment.

potential payments upon termination or change in control

The employment agreement of eachNEOand certain of the plans inwhich theNEOsparticipate require theCompany to

pay compensation to the executives if their employment terminates.

On April 20, 2022, as part of the Company’s annual review process that began in 2021, the People, Culture and

Compensation Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors approved the adoption of an Executive Change in

Control Severance Plan (the ‘‘Change in Control Plan’’). This plan, similar to those of benchmarked peers, provides for

enhanced cash severance to be paid to members of the Company’s executive leadership team and specific other

employees as a result of certain events thatwould trigger a change in control of theCompany, asdefined in theChange in

Control Plan, andbasedona tier system.Mr. Tritton, asCEO, is aTier I Executive andall otherNEOsareTier II Executives.

Upon the occurrence of a termination of anNEOby uswithout Cause or by anNEO forGood Reason at any time three (3)

months prior to a Change in Control or two (2) years following a Change in Control, such NEO would be entitled to the

following:

• a cash severancepayment equal to (a) two times (2x) in the caseof aTier I Executive, or (b) one and ahalf times (1.5x) in

thecaseofTier II Executives, the sumof theexecutive’s annual base salary and theexecutive’s targetbonus, bothas in

effect immediately prior to the Change in Control;

• aproratedportionof theexecutive’s annual bonus for theperiod inwhich the terminationdateoccurs, at target level of

performance and paid at such time as other executives receive their bonuses;

• any equity or long-term compensation grant or award outstanding in accordance with the terms of the applicable

compensation plan and award agreement;

• any AccruedObligations; and

• continuation of an executive’s (and eligible dependents) health benefit coverage for (a) up to twenty-four (24)months

for a Tier I Executive, or (b) up to eighteen (18)months for a Tier II Executive.

The tablebelow lists theestimatedamountof compensationpayable toeachofMessrs.Tritton.Hartmann,Arnal,Hartsig

andMasood in each termination situation using an assumed termination date and an assumed change in control date of

February 26, 2022, the last day of fiscal 2021 and a price per share of common stock of $16.17 (the ‘‘Per Share Closing

Price’’), the closingper shareprice asof February25, 2022, the last tradingdayof fiscal 2021.The salary andannual bonus

otherwise payable to eachNEO through February 26, 2022 are included in the Summary Compensation Table.
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employment agreementwith Mr. Tritton

The Board appointed Mark J. Tritton as the President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and in connection

therewith, the Company entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Tritton (the ‘‘Tritton Employment

Agreement’’) on October 6, 2019. The Tritton Employment Agreement provides that in the event of a termination of

Mr. Tritton’s employment due to his death or disability:

• the Company will pay Mr. Tritton any base salary that had accrued but had not been paid on or before the date of

separation, any reimbursement due in accordance with the terms of the relevant employment agreement and any

other vested benefits or vested amounts due and owed to the executive under the terms of any plan, program or

arrangement of theCompany (collectively, with respect to each applicable executive, the ‘‘AccruedObligations’’); and

• the Tritton Sign-On RSU Award and the Tritton Make-Whole RSU Award, to the extent not previously vested, will

immediately vest in full and the Tritton Make-Whole PSU Award, to the extent not previously vested, will immediately

vest in full at 100% of target level of performance (collectively, the ‘‘Tritton Make-Whole Award Acceleration’’). The

numberofRSUssubject to theTrittonSign-OnRSUAwardandtheTrittonMake-WholeRSUAwardweredeterminedby

dividing the grant values set forth in the employment agreement by the volume-weighted average closing price of a

share of the Company’s common stock over the twenty trading day period ending immediately prior to Mr. Tritton’s

start date (the ‘‘20-Day Volume-Weighted AverageDetermination’’).

The Tritton Employment Agreement provides that if the Company terminates Mr. Tritton’s employment without

‘‘Cause,’’ or in the event Mr. Tritton terminates with ‘‘Good Reason,’’ in each case, not in connection with a ‘‘change in

control’’ (as defined in the 2018 Plan), then in addition to the Accrued Obligations and the Tritton Make-Whole Award

Acceleration,Mr.Trittonwill receive: (i) severancepayequal to thesumof (x) twotimesMr.Tritton’sbasesalaryand (y)his

target annual bonus for theperformanceyear inwhich the terminationdateoccurs (payableover the24months following

his termination date), (ii) any earned but unpaid annual bonus for the performance year prior to the year of termination,

and (iii) up to24monthsofCOBRAbenefitsatactiveemployeerates.Severancepaywill bepaid inaccordancewithnormal

payroll;however,anyamountdueprior tothesixmonthsafterterminationofemploymentwillbepaid ina lumpsumonthe

date following the six-month anniversary of termination of employment. If the Company terminates Mr. Tritton’s

employment without ‘‘Cause,’’ or in the event Mr. Tritton terminates with ‘‘Good Reason,’’ in each case, within 30 days

prior to, or two years following, a ‘‘change in control’’ (as defined in the 2018 Plan), then Mr. Tritton will receive the

entitlements described in the preceding two sentences, except that the severance pay will be paid in lump sum,

Mr. Tritton’s other outstanding time-based equity awards will immediately vest in full, and any other outstanding

performance-based equity awards will vest, based on actual performance and prorated based on the number of days

during the applicable performance period that Mr. Tritton remained employed by the Company, at the time that such

awardswould haveotherwise vested hadMr. Tritton remained employed up to the vesting date.Mr. Tritton (or his estate

or legal representative, in the event of Mr. Tritton’s death or disability) is required to deliver a formal release of all claims

prior to, and as a condition of, his receipt of any of the severance payments, accelerated vesting, and other post-

employment benefits under the Tritton Employment Agreement.

In the eventMr. Tritton’s employment is terminatedby theCompany, and any compensation, payment or distribution by

theCompanywouldconstitutean ‘‘excessparachutepayment’’ asdefined inSection280Gof theCode (‘‘Section280G’’),

paymentswould be reduced to the extent that such cutbackwould result in a better net after tax position forMr. Tritton

(as applicable to the relevant NEO, a ‘‘Cutback’’).

‘‘Cause’’ is defined in the Tritton Employment Agreement asMr. Tritton’s: (i) indictment for or plea of nolo contendere to

a felony or commission of an act involving moral turpitude; (ii) commission of fraud, theft, embezzlement, self-dealing,

misappropriation or other malfeasance against the business of the Company Group; (iii) indictment for or plea of nolo

contendere to any serious offense that results in or would reasonably be expected to result in material financial harm,

materially negative publicity or other material harm to any member of the Company Group; (iv) failure to perform any

material aspect of his lawful duties or responsibilities for the Company or the Company Group (other than by reason of

disability), and if curable, failure to cure in a timely manner; (v) failure to comply with any lawful written policy of the

Company or reasonable directive of the Board, and in either case, if curable, failure to cure in a timely manner;

(vi) commissionof actsoromissionsconstitutinggrossnegligenceorgrossmisconduct in theperformanceof anyaspect

of his lawful duties or responsibilities; (vii) breach of any fiduciary duty owed to the Company Group; (viii) violation or

breach of any restrictive covenant or anymaterial term of the Tritton Employment Agreement, and, if curable, failure to
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cure in a timely manner; or (ix) commission of any act or omission that damages or is reasonably likely to damage the

financial condition or business of the Company or materially damages or is reasonably likely to materially damage the

reputation, public image, goodwill, assets or prospects of the Company. In addition, Mr. Tritton’s employment will be

deemed to have terminated for ‘‘Cause’’ if, on the date Mr. Tritton’s employment terminates, facts and circumstances

exist that would have justified a termination for Cause, to the extent that such facts and circumstances are discovered

within fourmonths after such termination.

‘‘Good Reason’’ is defined in the Tritton Employment Agreement as any of the following occurring without Mr. Tritton’s

written consent: (i) a reduction of Mr. Tritton’s base salary, other than a reduction of less than ten percent in connection

with a comparable decrease applicable to all senior executives of the Company; (ii) the Company’s relocation of

Mr.Tritton’splaceofemploymentbymorethanthirty-fivemiles; (iii) amaterialdiminution inMr.Tritton’sduties,authority

or responsibilities; or (iv) a change inMr. Tritton’s reporting line (such that heno longer reports directly to theBoard) or in

his title of Chief ExecutiveOfficer; provided, in each case, that a resignationwill bewith ‘‘GoodReason’’ only ifMr. Tritton

provides the Company with written notice detailing the specific circumstances alleged to constitute ‘‘Good Reason’’

withinsixtycalendardaysafter theoccurrenceofsuchcircumstances, theCompany fails tocuresuchcircumstances inall

material respects within thirty days of receipt of notice, and Mr. Tritton actually resigns within one hundred and twenty

days following the first occurrence of any grounds for ‘‘Good Reason’’; provided further, that the removal ofMr. Tritton’s

title as President and the subsequent appointment of a President who would report to Mr. Tritton would not constitute

grounds for ‘‘Good Reason.’’

TheTritton EmploymentAgreement provides for non-competition and non-solicitation during the termof employment

and for two years thereafter. The agreement also provides for non-disparagement and confidentiality during the termof

employment and surviving the end of the termof employment.

employment agreementwith Mr. Hartmann

The Board appointed John Hartmann as Chief Operating Officer of the Company and President, buybuy BABY, and in

connection therewith, the Company entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Hartmann (the ‘‘Hartmann

Employment Agreement’’) on April 1, 2020. The Hartmann Employment Agreement provides that in the event of a

termination ofMr. Hartmann’s employment due to his death or disability:

• the Companywill payMr. Hartmann (or his estate) any AccruedObligations;

• theHartmannMake-WholeRSUAward (thenumberofRSUssubject towhichwerecalculatedusingthe20-DayVolume-

Weighted Average Determination), to the extent not previously vested, will immediately vest in full as of the date of

termination (the ‘‘HartmannMake-Whole Award Acceleration’’); and

• theCompanywill payMr.Hartmann (orhis estate) anyearnedbutunpaidannual bonus for a fiscal yearoccurringbefore

the fiscal year in which the termination occurs.

TheHartmannEmploymentAgreementprovides that if theCompanyterminatesMr.Hartmann’semploymentasa result

of non-renewal of the employment term or otherwise without ‘‘Cause,’’ or in the event Mr. Hartmann terminates with

‘‘Good Reason,’’ then in addition to the Accrued Obligations and the Hartmann Make-Whole Award Acceleration,

Mr.Hartmannwill receive: (i) cash severancepay equal to one and ahalf times the sumof (x)Mr.Hartmann’s then-current

basesalaryand(y)his then-currenttargetannualbonus,payableoverthe18monthsfollowinghis terminationdate, (ii) any

earned but unpaid annual bonus for the fiscal year prior to the fiscal year inwhich the termination occurs, and (iii) up to 78

weeks of COBRA benefits at active employee rates. Mr. Hartmann (or his estate or legal representative, in the event of

Mr. Hartmann’s death or disability) is required to deliver a formal release of all claims prior to, and as a condition of, his

receiptofanyof theseverancepayments,acceleratedvesting,andotherpost-employmentbenefitsunder theHartmann

Employment Agreement.

In theeventMr.Hartmann’s employment is terminatedby theCompany, andany compensation, paymentor distribution

bytheCompanywouldconstitutean ‘‘excessparachutepayment’’asdefined inSection280G,paymentswouldbesubject

to the Cutback.

‘‘Cause,’’ for each of Messrs. Hartmann, Arnal, Hartsig and Masood, unless otherwise noted, is generally defined in their

respective employment agreements as the executive’s: (i) indictment for or plea of nolo contendere to a felony or

commission of an act involving moral turpitude; (ii) commission of fraud, theft, embezzlement, self-dealing,
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misappropriation or other malfeasance against the business of the Company Group; (iii) indictment for or plea of nolo

contendere to any serious offense that results in or would reasonably be expected to result in material financial harm,

materially negative publicity or other material harm to any member of the Company Group; (iv) failure to perform any

material aspect of his lawful duties or responsibilities for the Company or the Company Group (other than by reason of

disability), and if curable, failure to cure in a timely manner; (v) failure to comply with any lawful written policy of the

Company or reasonable directive of theCEOor the Board, and in either case, if curable, failure to cure in a timelymanner;

(vi) commissionof actsoromissionsconstitutinggrossnegligenceorgrossmisconduct in theperformanceof anyaspect

of his lawful duties or responsibilities; (vii) breach of any fiduciary duty owed to the Company Group; (viii) violation or

breachofany restrictivecovenantoranymaterial termof theapplicableemploymentagreement, and, if curable, failure to

cure in a timely manner; or (ix) commission of any act or omission that damages or is reasonably likely to damage the

financial condition or business of the Company or materially damages or is reasonably likely to materially damage the

reputation, public image, goodwill, assets or prospects of the Company. In addition, the executive’s employment will be

deemed tohave terminated for ‘‘Cause’’ if, on thedate theexecutive’s employment terminates, facts andcircumstances

exist that would have justified a termination for Cause, to the extent that such facts and circumstances are discovered

within fourmonths after such termination.

‘‘Good Reason,’’ for each of Messrs. Hartmann, Arnal, Hartsig and Masood, is generally defined in the their respective

employment agreements as any of the following occurringwithout applicable executive’swritten consent: (i) a reduction

of the executive’s base salary, other than a reduction of less than ten percent in connection with a comparable decrease

applicable to all senior executives of theCompany; (ii) theCompany’s relocation of the executive’s place of employment

by more than thirty-five miles; (iii) a material diminution in the executive’s duties, authority or responsibilities; or (iv) a

change in theexecutive’s reporting line (such that heor sheno longer reportsdirectly to theCEOor theBoard); provided,

ineachcase, that a resignationwill bewith ‘‘GoodReason’’ only if theexecutiveprovides theCompanywithwrittennotice

detailing the specific circumstances alleged to constitute ‘‘GoodReason’’ within sixty calendar days after the occurrence

of such circumstances, theCompany fails to cure such circumstances in allmaterial respectswithin thirty daysof receipt

of notice, and the applicable executive actually resignswithin onehundred and twentydays following the first occurrence

of any grounds for ‘‘Good Reason.’’

The Hartmann Employment Agreement provides for non-competition and non-solicitation during the term of

employment and for 18 months thereafter. The agreement also provides for non-disparagement and confidentiality

during the termof employment and surviving the end of the termof employment.

employment agreementwith Mr. Arnal

The Board appointed Gustavo Arnal Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, and in

connection therewith, the Company entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Arnal (the ‘‘Arnal Employment

Agreement’’) on April 24, 2020. The Arnal Employment Agreement provides that in the event of a termination of

Mr. Arnal’s employment due to his death or disability:

• the Companywill payMr. Arnal (or his estate) any AccruedObligations; and

• the Arnal Sign-On RSU Award (the number of RSUs subject to which were calculated using the 20-Day Volume-

Weighted Average Determination), to the extent not previously vested, will immediately vest in full as of the date of

termination (the ‘‘Arnal Sign-OnAward Acceleration’’).

The Arnal Employment Agreement provides that if the Company terminates Mr. Arnal’s employment as a result of

non-renewal of the employment term or otherwise without ‘‘Cause,’’ or in the event Mr. Arnal terminates for ‘‘Good

Reason,’’ then in addition to the Accrued Obligations and the Arnal Sign-On Award Acceleration, Mr. Arnal will receive:

(i) cash severance pay equal to the sum of (x) Mr. Arnal’s then-current base salary and (y) his then-current target annual

bonus, payable over the 12 months following his termination date, (ii) any earned but unpaid annual bonus for the fiscal

year prior to the fiscal year in which the termination occurs, (iii) full vesting of any 2020 equity awards, (based on actual

performance with respect to performance-based 2020 equity awards, and prorated for the number of days in the

performance period beforeMr. Arnal’s termination), and (iv) up to 52weeks of COBRAbenefits at active employee rates.

Mr. Arnal (or his estate or legal representative, in the event ofMr. Arnal’s death or disability) is required to deliver a formal

release of all claims prior to, and as a condition of, his receipt of any of the severance payments, accelerated vesting, and

other post-employment benefits under the Arnal Employment Agreement.
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The Arnal Employment Agreement provides for non-competition and non-solicitation during the term of employment

and for12months thereafter. Theagreementalsoprovides fornon-disparagementandconfidentialityduring the termof

employment and surviving the end of the termof employment.

employment agreementwith Mr. Hartsig

The Board appointed Joseph Hartsig Executive Vice President, Chief Merchandising Officer of the Company and

President, Harmon Stores Inc., and in connection therewith, the Company entered into an employment agreementwith

Mr.Hartsig (the ‘‘HartsigEmploymentAgreement’’) onFebruary26, 2020.TheHartsigEmploymentAgreementprovides

that in the event of a termination ofMr. Hartsig’s employment due to his death or disability:

• the Companywill payMr. Hartsig (or his estate) any AccruedObligations;

• the Hartsig Make-Whole RSU Award (the number of RSUs subject to which were calculated using the 20-Day Volume-

Weighted Average Determination), to the extent not previously vested, will immediately vest in full as of the date of

termination (the ‘‘HartsigMake-Whole Award Acceleration’’);

• the Company will pay Mr. Hartsig (or his estate) any earned but unpaid annual bonus for a fiscal year prior to the fiscal

year in which the termination occurs; and

• TheCompanywill payMr.Hartsig (orhis estate) anyportionof theHartsigRetentionBonus thathasnotbeenpaidasof

the termination.

The Hartsig Employment Agreement provides that if the Company terminates Mr. Hartsig’s employment as a result of

non-renewal of the employment term or otherwise without ‘‘Cause,’’ or in the event Mr. Hartsig terminates for ‘‘Good

Reason,’’ then in addition to the Accrued Obligations and the Hartsig Make-Whole Award Acceleration, Mr. Hartsig will

receive: (i) cashseverancepayequal tothesumof (x)Mr.Hartsig’s then-currentbasesalaryand (y)his then-currenttarget

annual bonus, payable over the 12months following his termination date, (ii) any earned but unpaid annual bonus for the

fiscal year prior to the fiscal year inwhich the terminationoccurs, (iii) if such terminationoccurs in the last 6monthsof the

fiscal year inwhich the terminationoccurs, aportionof theannual bonus for such fiscal year (basedonactual performance

and prorated for the number of days in the performance period before Mr. Hartsig’s termination), (iv) any portion of the

Hartsig Retention Bonus that has not been paid as of the termination date, and (v) up to 52 weeks of COBRA benefits at

active employee rates.Mr.Hartsig (or his estate or legal representative, in the event ofMr.Hartsig’s deathor disability) is

requiredtodelivera formal releaseofall claimsprior to,andasaconditionof,his receiptofanyof theseverancepayments,

accelerated vesting, and other post-employment benefits under theHartsig Employment Agreement.

In theeventMr.Hartsig’s employment is terminatedby theCompany, andanycompensation, paymentordistributionby

theCompanywouldconstitutean ‘‘excessparachutepayment’’ asdefined inSection280G,paymentswouldbesubject to

the Cutback.

TheHartsig EmploymentAgreement provides for non-competition andnon-solicitation during the termof employment

and for12months thereafter. Theagreementalsoprovides fornon-disparagementandconfidentialityduring the termof

employment and surviving the end of the termof employment.

employment agreementwith Mr. Masood

The Board appointed Rafeh Masood Executive Vice President, Chief Digital Officer of the Company, and in connection

therewith, the Company entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Masood on April 22, 2020, which was later

amended to reflect his appointment to Executive Vice President, Chief Customer Officer on November 2, 2021

(collectively, the ‘‘MasoodEmploymentAgreement’’). TheMasoodEmploymentAgreementprovides that in theeventof

a termination ofMr. Masood’s employment due to his death or disability:

• the Companywill payMr. Masood (or his estate) any AccruedObligations;

• the Masood Sign-on RSU Award (the number of RSUs subject to which were calculated using the 20-Day Volume-

Weighted Average Determination), to the extent not previously vested, will immediately vest in full as of the date of

termination (the ‘‘Masood Sign-on RSUAward Acceleration’’);
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• the Companywill payMr. Masood (or his estate) any earned but unpaid annual bonus for a fiscal year prior to the fiscal

year in which the termination occurs; and

• TheCompanywill payMr.Masood (or his estate) any portion of theMasoodRetention Bonus that has not been paid as

of the termination.

TheMasood Employment Agreement provides that if the Company terminatesMr. Masood’s employment as a result of

non-renewal of the employment term or otherwise without ‘‘Cause,’’ or in the event Mr. Masood terminates for ‘‘Good

Reason,’’ then in addition to the Accrued Obligations and the Masood Sign-on RSU Award Acceleration, Mr. Masood will

receive: (i) cash severance pay equal to the sum of (x) Mr. Masood’s then-current base salary and (y) his then-current

target annual bonus, payable over the 12months following his termination date, (ii) any earned but unpaid annual bonus

for the fiscal year prior to the fiscal year in which the termination occurs, (iii) any portion of theMasood Retention Bonus

that has not been paid as of the termination date, and (iv) up to 52 weeks of COBRA benefits at active employee rates.

Mr. Masood (or his estate or legal representative, in the event of Mr. Masood’s death or disability) is required to deliver a

formal release of all claims prior to, and as a condition of, his receipt of any of the severance payments, accelerated

vesting, and other post-employment benefits under theMasood Employment Agreement.

In theeventMr.Masood’semployment is terminatedbytheCompany, andanycompensation,paymentordistributionby

theCompanywouldconstitutean ‘‘excessparachutepayment’’ asdefined inSection280G,paymentswouldbesubject to

the Cutback.

TheMasoodEmploymentAgreementprovides fornon-competitionandnon-solicitationduring the termofemployment

and for12months thereafter. Theagreementalsoprovides fornon-disparagementandconfidentialityduring the termof

employment and surviving the end of the termof employment.

PSU and RSUAwardAgreements

The award agreements applicable to the PSUs and RSUs held by our NEOs provide for accelerated vesting upon certain

termination events, including in connectionwith a change in control (as defined in the 2018 Plan). Upon a termination due

to death or disability (as defined in an applicable employment agreement or, if not there defined, the 2012Plan), the RSUs

will immediately vest in full, and upon a termination by the Company without Cause or for Good Reason, subject to the

NEO’s timely execution, delivery, and non-revocation of a release of claims in favor of the Company, a pro-rated portion

of theRSUswill vest on theoriginal vesting date. In the event of a termination by theCompanywithoutCauseor forGood

Reason, in each case, within ninety (90) days prior to, or two (2) years following, a change in control, subject to theNEO’s

timely execution, delivery, and non-revocation of a release of claims in favor of the Company, the RSUs will immediately

vest in full.

Theawardagreementsapplicable tothePSUsheldbyourNEOsprovidethat (i) uponaterminationduetotheNEO’sdeath,

the awardswill vest at target, (ii) upon a termination due to disability (as defined in an applicable employment agreement

or, if not there defined, the 2012 Plan), the awards will remain outstanding and eligible to vest in full based on actual

performance on the original vesting date, (iii) upon a termination by the Company without Cause or for Good Reason,

subject to the NEO’s timely execution, delivery, and non-revocation of a release of claims in favor of the Company, the

awardswill remainoutstanding andeligible to vest basedonactual performanceon theoriginal vestingdate, prorated for

theportionof theperiodduringwhich theNEOwasemployed and (iv) upona terminationby theCompanywithoutCause

or for Good Reason within ninety (90) days prior to, or two (2) years following, a change in control, subject to the NEO’s

timelyexecution, delivery, andnon-revocationof a releaseof claims in favorof theCompany, theawardswill immediately

vest in full based on actual performance during the portion of the performance period ending on the date of such

termination.
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Table and related footnotes follow:

Cash
Severance(1)

Pro Rata
Bonus(2)

PSU and RSU
Acceleration

COBRA
Continuation(3) Total(4)

Mark J. Tritton

Termination due to death or disability(5) $ — $ — $16,303,289 $ — $16,303,289

Terminationwithout Cause or with Good Reason(6) $6,765,000 $ — $ 7,792,242 $31,984 $14,589,226

Change in Control + Termination(7) $6,765,000 $2,152,500 $16,303,289 $31,984 $25,252,773

GustavoArnal

Termination due to death or disability(5) $ — $ — $ 5,941,068 $ — $ 5,941,068

Terminationwithout Cause or with Good Reason(6) $1,433,750 $ — $ 4,632,414 $ — $ 6,066,164

Change in Control + Termination(7) $2,150,625 $ 658,750 $ 5,941,068 $ — $ 8,750,443

JohnHartmann

Termination due to death or disability(5) $ — $ — $13,449,026 $ — $13,449,026

Terminationwithout Cause or with Good Reason(6) $3,375,000 $ — $ 9,356,835 $25,949 $12,757,784

Change in Control + Termination(7) $3,375,000 $1,250,000 $13,449,026 $25,949 $18,099,975

JosephHartsig

Termination due to death or disability(5) $ — $ — $ 4,864,534 $ — $ 4,864,534

Terminationwithout Cause or with Good Reason(6) $1,260,000 $ — $ 2,823,176 $15,288 $ 4,098,464

Change in Control + Termination(7) $1,890,000 $ 560,000 $ 4,864,534 $22,933 $ 7,337,467

RafehMasood

Termination due to death or disability(5) $ — $ — $ 2,521,081 $ — $ 2,521,081

Terminationwithout Cause or with Good Reason(6) $1,170,000 $ — $ 1,106,917 $17,300 $ 2,294,217

Change in Control + Termination(7) $1,755,000 $ 520,000 $ 2,521,081 $25,949 $ 4,822,030

(1) If anNEO is terminated during the three (3)months preceding aChange inControl or two (2) years following, the severancewould be paid

out in a lump sum within 60 days of the termination date. If the termination is not in connection with a Change in Control, severance

payments will bemade in installments in accordancewith the regular payroll payment schedule; provided that if severance payments are

subject to Section 409A of the Code (‘‘Section 409A’’), certain payments may be delayed until six months following separation from the

Company.

(2) If anNEOisterminatedduringthethree (3)monthsprecedingaChange inControlor two(2)years following, theproratashareof theNEO’s

bonus, at target level, would be paid at such time as other executives receive their bonuses.

(3) Represents the employer portion of COBRA continuation coverage at active employee rates. Upon a termination without Cause or for

Good Reason, (i) Mr. Tritton would be entitled to 24months of benefits continuation, (ii) Mr. Hartmann would be entitled to 18months of

benefits continuation, and (iii) Messrs. Hartsig and Masood would be entitled to 12 months of benefit continuation. Upon a termination

withoutCauseor forGoodReasonduringthethree (3)monthsprecedingaChange inControlof two (2)years following, (i)Mr.Trittonwould

be entitled to 24months of benefits continuation, (ii) Messrs. Hartmann, Hartsig and Masood would be entitled to 18months of benefits

continuation.BecauseMr.Arnalhaselectednot to receivecoverageunder theCompany’shealthandwelfareprogramsasof the lastdayof

fiscal 2021,noamountwouldbepayableor is reflected in respectofCOBRAcontinuationcoverageatactiveemployee rates in theeventof

a termination of employment byMr. Arnal as of the last date of fiscal 2021.

(4) Assumes forMessrs. Tritton, Arnal, Hartmann, Hartsig, andMasood that noCutback applies.

(5) In theeventof terminationby reasonofdeathordisability, outstanding2020and2021RSUawardswill vest in full. In theeventof disability,

the outstanding 2020 and 2021 PSU awards will vest in full based on actual performance. For purposes of this analysis, the values above

assumetargetperformance. In theeventofdeath, theoutstanding2020and2021PSUawardswill vest in full basedontargetperformance.

(6) UponaterminationwithoutCauseor forGoodReason, (i)Mr.Trittonwouldbecomeentitled toaseverancepaymentequal to twotimesthe

sumof his base salary andhis target fiscal 2021annual bonus, (ii)Mr.Hartmannwould beentitled to a severancepayment equal tooneand

one-half timesthesumofbasesalaryandtarget fiscal2021annualbonus,and(iii)Messrs.Arnal,HartsigandMasoodwouldbecomeentitled

toaseverancepaymentequal toonetimethesumofbasesalaryandtarget fiscal2021annualbonus.Withrespecttoequitycompensation,

the2020and2021outstandingRSUawardswill vestpro-rataandthe2020and2021PSUawardswill vestbasedonactualperformanceand

prorated based on the portion of the performance period the NEO remained employed by the Company, at the time that such awards

would have otherwise vested had the NEO remained employed up to the vesting date. For purposes of this analysis, the values above

assume target performance.Mr. Arnal’s 2020outstandingRSUawardwill vest in full pursuant to the termsof his employment agreement.

All of the above severance payments are subject to the execution and non-revocation of a release of claims.

(7) UponaterminationwithoutCauseor forGoodReasonduring the three (3)monthsprecedingaChange inControlof two (2) years following,

(i)Mr. Trittonwouldbecomeentitled toa severancepaymentequal to two times thesumofhis basesalary andhis target annual bonusand

a pro rata share of his annual bonus, at target level, for the performance period in which the termination occurs and (ii) Messrs. Arnal,

Hartmann,HartsigandMasoodwouldbecomeentitled toaseverancepaymentequal tooneandonehalf times thesumof theirbasesalary
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and target annual bonus and a pro rata share of their annual bonus, at target level, for the performance period in which the termination

occurs.With respect to equity compensation, all ofMr. Tritton’s other outstanding time-based equity awardswill immediately vest in full,

andanyotheroutstandingperformance-basedequity awardswill vest, basedonactual performanceandproratedbasedon theportionof

the performance period thatMr. Tritton remained employed by theCompany, at the time that such awardswould have otherwise vested

hadMr.Tritton remainedemployeduptothevestingdate.For the remainingNEOs, the2020and2021RSUawardswill vest in full,while the

2020 and 2021PSUawardswill vest in full based on actual performance through the date of termination. For purposes of this analysis, the

values above assume target performance. All of the above severance payments are subject to the execution and non-revocation of a

release of claims.

CEO pay ratio
The Company has prepared the following information required by Section 953(b) of the Dodd-FrankWall Street Reform

andConsumer ProtectionAct, and Item402(u) of Regulation S-K, regarding the ratio of the compensation of ourCEO to

that of the Company’smedian associate, using certain permittedmethodologies.

Themedian associate at the Company, not counting the CEO, was determined by:

• using our total associate population (whether employed on a full-time, part-time, seasonal or temporary basis), which

as of February 26, 2022, theCompany’s fiscal year end, includes approximately 32,000 associates (of whichmore than

62% were part-time and more than 90% were hourly), comprised of approximately 30,000 US associates and

approximately 2,000 non-US associates; and

• using payroll records as of February 26, 2022, the Company’s fiscal year end.

Themedian associate was identified using total cash compensation, which, for this purpose, included base salary, bonus

andcommissions,perpayroll records for thetwelvemonthsendedFebruary26,2022andpay foranypermanent full-time

and part-time associates (whether salaried or hourly) whowere not employed for the full fiscal year was annualized.

The individual identified as the median associate is a part-time hourly associate working in a Bed Bath & Beyond store

receiving a total annual compensation for fiscal 2021 of $18,652. The identification of the median associate was

influenced by the Company having aworkforce significantly composed of part-time, hourly store associates.

The compensation of the Company’s CEO for fiscal 2021 as reported in the Summary Compensation Table was

$9,775,622. The ratio of the annual total compensation of the Company’s CEO to that of the median associate is

estimated to be 524:1. This estimate was calculated in a manner consistent with the applicable SEC rules and guidance,

based upon the payroll and employment records of the Company. The rules and guidance applicable to this disclosure

permit a variety of methods and a range of reasonable estimates and assumptions to reflect compensation practices.

Therefore, the pay ratio reported by other companies in similar industries may well not be comparable to the pay ratio

reported above.

In connection with the preparation of the foregoing disclosure, management has provided the People, Culture and

Compensation Committee with the analysis of the CEO to median associate pay ratio and accompanying contextual

narrative, for its informationwhen setting executive pay decisions.
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our shareholders
security ownership of certain beneficial owners and
management

The following table sets forth certain information regarding thebeneficial ownershipof sharesof our commonstock asof

May 16, 2022 by (i) each person or group of affiliated persons known by us to beneficially own more than 5% of our

commonstock; (ii) ourNEOs; (iii) eachofourdirectorsandnominees fordirector; and (iv) all ofourdirectorsandexecutive

officers as a group. Ownership data with respect to our institutional shareholders is based upon information publicly

available as described in the footnotes below.

The following tablegiveseffect to thesharesof commonstock issuablewithin60daysofMay16, 2022upon theexerciseof

alloptionsandotherrightsbeneficiallyownedbythe indicatedshareholdersonthatdate.Beneficialownership isdetermined

in accordance with Rule 13d-3 promulgated under Section 13 of the Exchange Act, and includes voting and investment

power with respect to shares. Percentage of beneficial ownership is based on 79,886,442 shares of our common stock

outstanding atMay 16, 2022. Except as otherwise noted below, each person or entity named in the following table has sole

voting and investment powerwith respect to all shares of our commonstock that he, sheor it beneficially owns.

Unless otherwise indicated, the address of each beneficial owner listed below is c/o Bed Bath & Beyond Inc., 650 Liberty

Avenue, Union, New Jersey 07083.

Name Position

Number of Shares
of CommonStock

Beneficially Owned and
Percent of Class

BlackRock, Inc. 16,527,076(1) 20.7%

FMR LLC 13,801,041(2) 17.3%

TheVanguardGroup 10,719,381(3) 13.4%

RCVentures LLC 9,450,100(4) 11.8%

Mark J. Tritton President andChief ExecutiveOfficer and

Director 414,883(5) *

GustavoArnal Executive Vice President, Chief Financial

Officer 105,325(6) *

JohnHartmann Executive Vice President, Chief Operating

Officer and President, buybuy BABY, Inc. 239,409(7) *

JosephHartsig Executive Vice President, Chief Merchandising

Officer and President, Harmon Stores, Inc. 40,667(8) *

RafehMasood Executive Vice President, Chief Customer

Officer 65,799(9) *

Marjorie L. Bowen Director — *

Harriet Edelman Director 63,789 *

John E. Fleming Director 51,587 *

Sue E. Gove Director 55,587 *

Jeffrey A. Kirwan Director 33,455 *

Shelly Lombard Director — *

Benjamin L. Rosenzweig Director — *

Virginia P. Ruesterholz Director 32,347 *

Joshua E. Schechter Director 35,087 *

Minesh Shah Director — *

AndreaM.Weiss Director 25,096 *

MaryA.Winston Director 107,434 *

AnnYerger Director 37,424 *

All Directors and ExecutiveOfficers as a
Group (22 persons) 1,373,527 1.7%

* Less than 1%of the outstanding common stock of the Company.
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(1) Information regarding BlackRock, Inc. was obtained from a Schedule 13G filed with the SEC on February 7, 2022 by BlackRock, Inc. The

Schedule 13G states that BlackRock, Inc. has sole voting power of 16,185,182 shares of common stock and sole dispositive power of

16,527,076 shares of common stock. The address of BlackRock, Inc. is 55 East 52nd Street, NewYork, NY 10055.

(2) Information regarding FMR LLCwas obtained from a Schedule 13G filedwith the SEC on February 9, 2022 by FMR LLC. The Schedule 13G

states that FMR LLC has sole voting power of 1,505,668 shares of common stock and sole dispositive power of 13,801,041 shares of

common stock. The address of FMR LLC is 245 Summer Street, Boston, MA 02210.

(3) Information regarding The Vanguard Group was obtained from a Schedule 13G filed with the SEC on February 9, 2022 by The Vanguard

Group. The Schedule 13G states that The Vanguard Group has shared voting power of 111,109 shares of common stock, sole dispositive

power of 10,526,689 shares of common stock and shared dispositive power of 192,692 shares of common stock. The address of The

VanguardGroup is 100 Vanguard Blvd., Malvern, PA 19355.

(4) Information regardingRCVentures LLCwasobtained fromaSchedule 13D filedwith theSEConMarch 24, 2022byRCVentures LLC. The

Schedule 13D states that RC Ventures LLC has sole voting power of 9,450,100 shares of common stock and sole dispositive power of

9,450,100 shares of common stock. The address of RCVentures LLC is P.O. Box 25250, PMB 30427, Miami, Florida 33102-5250.

(5) The shares reported as being owned byMr. Tritton are owned by him individually.

(6) The shares reported as being owned byMr. Arnal are owned by him individually.

(7) The shares reported as being owned byMr. Hartmann include 170,663 RSUs that will vest within 60 days of the reporting date.

(8) The shares reported as being owned byMr. Hartsig are owned by him individually.

(9) The shares reported as being owned byMr. Masood are owned by him individually.
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othermatters

frequently asked questions
Theseproxymaterials aredelivered inconnectionwith thesolicitationby theBoardofBedBath&Beyond Inc., aNewYork

corporation, of proxies to be voted at the Annual Meeting and at any adjournment or adjournments.

This year we have elected to take advantage of the SEC’s rule that allows us to furnish proxymaterials to you online. We

believe electronic delivery will expedite shareholders’ receipt of materials, while lowering costs and reducing the

environmental impact of our 2022AnnualMeeting by reducing printing andmailing of full sets ofmaterials.Wemailed the

Noticeof InternetAvailabilityofProxyMaterials (‘‘Notice’’) containing instructionsonhowtoaccessourproxystatement

and annual report online on or about June 1, 2022. If you would like to receive a paper copy of the proxy materials, the

Notice contains instructions on how to receive a paper copy.

The information regarding stock ownership and other matters in this Proxy Statement is as of the record date, May 16,

2022, unless otherwise indicated.

What may I vote on?

Youmay vote on the following proposals:

• election of eleven directors to hold office until the Annual Meeting in 2023 or until their respective successors have

been elected and qualified (Proposal 1);

• ratification of the appointment of KPMGLLP as independent auditors for fiscal 2022 (Proposal 2); and

• the approval, by non-binding vote, of the 2021 compensation paid to the Company’s NEOs (commonly known as a

‘‘say-on-pay’’ proposal) (Proposal 3).

THEBOARDRECOMMENDSTHATYOUVOTE:

• FOR the election of the eleven directors;

• FOR the ratification of the appointment of auditors; and

• FOR the say-on-pay proposal.

Who mayvote?

Shareholders of record of the Company’s common stock at the close of business onMay 16, 2022 are entitled to receive

thisnoticeandtovote their sharesat theAnnualMeeting.Asof thatdate, therewere79,886,442sharesofcommonstock

outstanding. Each share of common stock is entitled to one vote on each matter properly brought before the Annual

Meeting.

Wherewill theAnnual Meeting be held?

This year’s Annual Meeting will be held virtually. We have scheduled the Annual Meeting to be held online at

www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/BBBY2022onThursday, July14,2022at10:00A.M.EasternDaylightTime.Therewill

notbeaphysical locationfortheAnnualMeetingandyouwillnotbeabletoattendthemeeting inperson.Shareholderswillbe

ableto listen,voteandsubmitquestionsviatheinternetbyvisitingwww.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/BBBY2022.Please

retain the 16-digit control number included on your proxy card or in the voting instructions that accompanied your proxy

materials as you will need this number to attend the meeting virtually. We have designed the virtual meeting to offer the

sameparticipation opportunities as an in-personmeeting.
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Who is entitled to attend theAnnual Meeting?

All of our shareholders of record asof the closeof businesson the recorddate, or their duly appointedproxyholders,may

attend the Annual Meeting online at www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/BBBY2022. If you are not a shareholder of

record but hold shares through a broker, bank or other nominee, you should contact your broker, bank, or other nominee

as soon as possible, so that you can be providedwith a control number and gain access to themeeting.

Howdo I attend theAnnual Meeting and submit
questions ormake comments?

If youarearegisteredholderoftheCompany’scommonstock,youdonotneedtoregister inadvancetoattendtheAnnual

Meeting. To be admitted to the Annual Meeting at www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/BBBY2022, youmust enter the

control number found on your proxy card. If you hold your shares in street name, contact your broker, bank, or other

nominee as soon as possible, so that you can be provided with a control number and gain access to the meeting.

Shareholdersmay vote electronically and submit questions online while attending the Annual Meeting.

If you wish to submit a question or make a comment during the Annual Meeting, you may log into the virtual meeting at

www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/BBBY2022 and type a question into the ‘‘Ask aQuestion’’ field and click ‘‘Submit.’’

This year, shareholders may also submit questions in advance of the meeting by visiting www.proxyvote.com and

selecting the ‘‘Submit Questions’’ option. Please have your control number available as you will need it when accessing

www.proxyvote.com.Questions that are substantially similarmay be grouped and answered to avoid repetition.

Questions or comments pertinent to meeting matters will be addressed during the Annual Meeting, subject to time

constraints. Questions or comments that relate to proposals that are not properly before the Annual Meeting, relate to

matters that are not proper subject for action by shareholders, are irrelevant to the Company’s business, relate to

material non-public informationof theCompany, relate topersonal concernsorgrievances, arederogatory to individuals

or that areotherwise inbad taste, are in substance repetitiousof aquestionor commentmadebyanother shareholder, or

arenototherwisesuitable for theconductof theAnnualMeetingasdetermined in thesolediscretionof theCompany,will

not be answered.

What if I have trouble accessing theAnnual Meeting?

Technical supportwill be available byphone to address any technical difficulties beginning 15minutes before the start time

of the Annual Meeting and will remain available until the meeting has ended. The phone numbers for contacting technical

supportwill be postedon the log-in page for the virtualmeeting atwww.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/BBBY2022.

Howdo I vote?

TheCompanyencourages you touse theelectronicmeansavailable to you tovoteyour shares.Howyouvotewill depend

on how you hold your shares of Bed Bath & Beyond Inc. common stock.
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Shareholder of Record

If yoursharesare registereddirectly inyournamewithBedBath&Beyond Inc.’s transferagent,AmericanStockTransfer&

Trust Company, you are considered the shareholder of record with respect to those shares, and theNotice is being sent

directly to you. If you hold restricted stock under the 2012 Plan, you are also considered the shareholder of record with

respect to those shares. As the shareholder of record, you have the right to vote by proxy through any of the below

methods.

1

4

7

#

2

5

8

0

3

6

9

*

Vote by Internet
www.proxyvote.com

Vote by Phone
1-800-690-6903

Vote byMail
if you received a paper copy

of the proxymaterials

Vote Processing,
c/o Broadridge, 51Mercedes
Way, Edgewood, NY 11717

Voting by any of these methods will not affect your right to attend the Annual Meeting and vote online at

www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/BBBY2022. However, for thosewhowill not be voting at the Annual Meeting, your

proxymust be received by no later than 11:59 P.M. Eastern Daylight Time on July 13, 2022.

Beneficial Owner

Most shareholders of BedBath&Beyond Inc. hold their shares through a stockbroker, bankor other nominee, rather than

directly in their ownname. If you hold your shares in oneof theseways, you are considered the beneficial owner of shares

held in street name, and these proxymaterials are being forwarded to you by your broker or nomineewho is considered,

withrespecttothoseshares, theshareholderof record.Asthebeneficialowner,youhavetherighttodirectyourbrokeron

how to vote. Your broker or nominee has enclosed a voting instruction form for you to use in directing the broker or

nomineeonhowtovoteyourshares. If youholdyourshares throughaNewYorkStockExchangememberbrokerage firm,

suchmemberbrokerage firmhas thediscretion tovote sharesheldonyourbehalfwith respect to theappointmentof the

Company’s auditors, but not with respect to any other proposal, as more fully described under ‘‘What is a broker

‘non-vote’?’’

Can I change myvote?

Yes. If you are the shareholder of record, youmay revoke your proxy before it is exercised by doing any of the following:

• sending a letter to the Company stating that your proxy is revoked;

• delivering a later-dated proxy to the Company (either in writing, by telephone or over the internet); or

• attending the Annual Meeting virtually and voting by ballot.

Beneficial owners should contact their broker or nominee for instructions on changing their vote.

Howmanyvotes must be present to hold the
Annual Meeting?

A ‘‘quorum’’ is necessary to hold the Annual Meeting. A quorum is a majority of the votes entitled to be cast by the

shareholders entitled tovoteat theAnnualMeeting.Theymaybepresent at theAnnualMeetingor representedbyproxy.

Abstentions and broker ‘‘non-votes’’ are counted as present and entitled to vote for purposes of determining a quorum

but are not counted for purposes of determining any of the proposals to be voted on.
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Howmanyvotes are needed to approve the proposals?

At the Annual Meeting, a ‘‘FOR’’ vote by a majority of votes cast is required to (i) elect each nominee for director

(Proposal 1), (ii) ratify the selection of KPMGLLP as the Company’s independent auditors for fiscal 2022 (Proposal 2) and

(iii) approve, by non-binding vote, the say-on-pay proposal (Proposal 3).

A ‘‘FOR’’ vote by a ‘‘majority of votes cast’’ means that the number of shares voted ‘‘FOR’’ exceeds the number of votes

‘‘AGAINST.’’ Abstentions and broker non-votes shall not constitute votes ‘‘FOR’’ or votes ‘‘AGAINST.’’

With respect to Proposal 1, the election of directors, if a nominee who is an incumbent director fails to receive a ‘‘FOR’’

vote by a majority of votes cast, then such nominee must immediately tender his or her resignation, and the Board will

decide, through a process managed by the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee (excluding from the

processsuchnominee),whether toaccept theresignation. In theeventofsuchasituation, theBoard intendstocomplete

this process promptly after theAnnualMeeting but no later than90days from thedateof the certificationof the election

results. The Companywill file a Form 8-K to disclose its decision and an explanation of such decision.

What is an abstention?

An abstention is a properly signed proxy cardwhich ismarked ‘‘abstain.’’

What is a broker ‘‘non-vote’’?

Abroker ‘‘non-vote’’ occurswhen a nominee holding shares for a beneficial owner does not vote on a particular proposal

because thenomineedoesnot havediscretionary votingpower for that particular itemandhasnot received instructions

fromthebeneficialowner.Undercurrentapplicable rules,Proposal2 isa ‘‘discretionary’’ itemuponwhichbrokersthathold

shares as nominee may vote on behalf of the beneficial owners if such beneficial owners have not furnished voting

instructions by the tenth day before the Annual Meeting.

However, brokers that hold shares asnomineemaynot voteonbehalf of thebeneficial ownerson the followingproposals

unless you provide voting instructions: Proposal 1, the election of directors; and Proposal 3, the say-on-pay proposal.

Therefore, if your sharesareheldbysuchnominee, please instruct yourbroker regardinghowtovoteyour sharesoneach

of these proposals. This will ensure that your shares are countedwith respect to each of these proposals.

What if I receive more than one proxy card and/or
voting instruction card?

This means that you have multiple accounts holding shares of the Company. These may include: accounts with our

transfer agent; sharesheldby theadministratorofouremployeestockpurchaseplan; andaccountswithabroker, bankor

other holder of record. In order to vote all of the shares held by you inmultiple accounts, youwill need to vote the shares

held ineachaccountseparately.Please followthevoting instructionsprovidedoneachproxycardtoensurethatall ofyour

shares are voted.

Will any othermatters be acted on at the
Annual Meeting?

If anyothermattersareproperlypresentedattheAnnualMeetingoranyadjournment, thepersonsnamed intheproxywill

havediscretion to voteon thosematters. AsofMarch19, 2022,which is thedatebywhich anyproposal for consideration

attheAnnualMeetingsubmittedbyashareholdermusthavebeenreceivedbytheCompanytobepresentedattheAnnual

Meeting, and as of the date of this Proxy Statement, the Company did not know of any othermatters to be presented at

the Annual Meeting.
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Who pays for this proxy solicitation?

The Company will pay the expenses of soliciting proxies. In addition to solicitation by mail, proxies may be solicited in

personor by telephoneorothermeansbydirectorsor associatesof theCompany.Noneof thosedirectorsor associates

will receive special compensation for such services. We have retained Innisfree M&A Incorporated to assist in proxy

solicitation for the Annual Meeting at an estimated cost of $20,000 plus expenses. The Company will also reimburse

brokerage firms and other nominees, custodians and fiduciaries for costs incurred by them inmailing proxymaterials to

the beneficial owners of shares held of record by such persons.

Whom should I contactwith other questions?

If you have additional questions about this Proxy Statement or the Annual Meeting or would like additional copies of this

document or our 2021 Annual Report on Form 10-K, please contact: Bed Bath & Beyond Inc., 650 Liberty Avenue, Union,

NJ 07083, Attention: Investor Relations Dept., Email: ir@bedbath.com. These documents are also available in the

Investor Relations section of the Company’s website at www.bedbathandbeyond.com.

householding
Unlesswehave received contrary instructions,we aremailing one copyof the proxymaterials (other than the proxy card)

to record holders who have the same address and last name. Such record holders will continue to receive separate proxy

cards.We refer to this practice as householding.

If you are a record holderwho participates in householding andwish to receive separate copies of the proxymaterials for

the 2022 Annual Meeting or future Annual Meetings, then please contact the Company’s Investor RelationsDepartment

at650LibertyAvenue,Union,NewJersey07083,orbyemailing ir@bedbath.com.Wewillpromptlydeliverseparatecopies

of the proxymaterials for the 2022 Annual Meeting upon receiving your request.

If you are a recordholderwho is eligible for householding anddonot currently participate in theprogrambutwould like to,

then please contact Investor Relations at the address or phone number indicated above.

If you are a beneficial owner, then please contact your stockbroker, bank or other holder of record to receive one or

separate copies of the proxymaterials.

next year’s annual meeting
Proposals that shareholders intend to be eligible for inclusion in the Company’s proxy materials for the 2023 Annual

Meeting of Shareholders pursuant to the SEC’s proxy rules (i.e., Rule 14a-8) must be received by the Company no later

than February 1, 2023.

Anyshareholder intending to includeadirectornominee in theCompany’sproxymaterials for the2022AnnualMeetingof

Shareholders pursuant toArticle II, Section11of theCompany’sAmendedandRestatedBylaws (i.e. proxy access) should

carefully review the requirements for using proxy access, as described in such Section. The Company must receive a

shareholder’snomination,withall required information,betweenthecloseofbusinessonJanuary2,2023andthecloseof

business on February 1, 2023.

Under the Company’s Amended and Restated Bylaws, any proposal for consideration at the 2023 Annual Meeting of

Shareholderssubmittedbyashareholderotherthanpursuanttothetwomethodsdescribedabovewillbeconsideredtimely

only if it is receivedby theCompanybetween the closeof businessonMarch16, 2023 and the closeof businessonApril 15,

2023,and isotherwise incompliancewiththerequirementsset forth intheCompany’sAmendedandRestatedBylaws. If the

dateofthe2023AnnualMeetingofShareholders ismorethan30daysbeforeormorethan60daysaftertheanniversarydate

of the 2022AnnualMeeting of Shareholders, noticemust be received noearlier than the closeof business on the 120th day

prior to the 2023AnnualMeeting of Shareholders and not later than the close of business on the 90th day prior to the 2023

AnnualMeetingofShareholders, or if the first public announcementof thedateof the2023AnnualMeetingofShareholders

is less than100days prior to thedateof the 2023AnnualMeetingof Shareholders, the 10th day following thedateonwhich

notice of the date of themeeting is given to shareholders ormadepublic, whichever occurs first.
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Any informationrequiredtobereceivedbytheCompany,asdescribedabove,shouldbesenttotheCompany’sCorporate

Secretary at 650 Liberty Avenue, Union, New Jersey 07083, Attn: c/o Corporate Secretary.

cautionary note regarding forward-looking
statements
This proxy statement and relatedmaterials contain forward-looking statements within themeaning of Section 21E of the

SecuritiesExchangeActof1934, including, butnot limited to,ourprogressandanticipatedprogress towardsour long-term

objectives, as well as more generally the status of our future liquidity and financial condition and our outlook for our 2022

Fiscalyear.Manyoftheseforward-lookingstatementscanbe identifiedbyuseofwordssuchasmay,will, expect,anticipate,

approximate, estimate, assume, continue, model, project, plan, goal, preliminary, and similar words and phrases, although

the absence of those words does not necessarily mean that statements are not forward-looking. Our actual results and

future financial conditionmay differmaterially from those expressed in any such forward-looking statements as a result of

many factors. Such factors include, without limitation: general economic conditions including the recent supply chain

disruptions, laborshortages,wagepressures, rising inflationandtheongoingmilitaryconflictbetweenRussiaandUkraine;a

challenging overall macroeconomic environment and a highly competitive retailing environment; risks associatedwith the

ongoingCOVID-19pandemicandthegovernmental responsesto it, including its impactsacrossourbusinessesondemand

and operations, as well as on the operations of our suppliers and other business partners, and the effectiveness of our and

governmental actions taken in response to these risks; changing consumer preferences, spending habits and

demographics; demographics and other macroeconomic factors that may impact the level of spending for the types of

merchandise sold by us; challenges in executing our omni-channel and transformation strategy, including our ability to

establish andprofitablymaintain the appropriatemix of digital and physical presence in themarketswe serve; our ability to

successfully execute our store fleet optimization strategies, including our ability to achieve anticipated cost savings and to

not exceed anticipated costs; our ability to execute on any additional strategic transactions and realize the benefits of any

acquisitions, partnerships, investments or divestitures; disruptions to our information technology systems, including but

not limited to security breaches of systemsprotecting consumer and employee information or other types of cybercrimes

orcybersecurityattacks;damagetoour reputation inanyaspectofouroperations; thecostof labor,merchandise, logistical

costs and other costs and expenses; potential supply chain disruption due to trade restrictions or otherwise, and other

factors such as natural disasters, pandemics, including the COVID-19 pandemic, political instability, labor disturbances,

product recalls, financialoroperational instabilityofsuppliersorcarriers,andother items; inflationandtherelated increases

incostsofmaterials, laborandothercosts; inefficientmanagementofrelationshipsanddependenciesonthird-partyservice

providers; our ability to attract and retain qualified employees in all areasof theorganization; unusualweather patterns and

natural disasters, including the impact of climate change; uncertainty and disruptions in financial markets; volatility in the

price of our common stock and its effect, and the effect of other factors, including theCOVID-19 pandemic, on our capital

allocation strategy; changes to statutory, regulatory and other legal requirements or deemed noncompliance with such

requirements; changes to accounting rules, regulations and tax laws, or new interpretations of existing accounting

standards or tax laws; new, or developments in existing, litigation, claims or assessments; and a failure of our business

partners to adhere to appropriate laws, regulations or standards. . A further description of these and other risks and

uncertainties can be found in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended February 26, 2022 and the

Company’s other filingswith theSEC.Youare cautionednot toplaceundue relianceon these forward-looking statements,

which speak only as of the date on which they aremade. Except as required by law, we do not undertake any obligation to

update our forward-looking statements.
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appendixA

non-GAAP financial measures
The Company reports its financial results in accordance with GAAP. The Company also reports certain non-GAAP

financial measures that it believes providemanagement, analysts, investors and other users of the Company’s financial

information with meaningful supplemental information regarding the performance of the Company’s business. These

non-GAAP financial measures include, but are not limited to, adjusted earnings before interest, income taxes,

depreciationandamortization (‘‘EBITDA’’).TheCompanyalsousescertainnon-GAAPfinancialmeasures in itsshort term

annual incentivecompensationprogram(‘‘STIP’’).Thesenon-GAAPfinancialmeasuresshouldnotbeconsideredsuperior

to, but rather in addition toother financialmeasurespreparedby theCompany inaccordancewithGAAP.TheCompany’s

method of determining these non-GAAP financial measures may be different from other companies’ methods and,

therefore,maynotbecomparable to thoseusedbyothercompaniesandtheCompanydoesnot recommendthesoleuse

of these non-GAAPmeasures to assess its financial and earnings performance.

NON-GAAPRECONCILIATION
RECONCILIATION OFNET (LOSS) INCOMETO EBITDAANDADJUSTED EBITDA

(IN MILLIONS)
(UNAUDITED)

TwelveMonths Ended February 26, 2022

Excluding

Reported

(Gain) loss
on

sale of
businesses

(Gain) loss
on

sale of
property

Restructuring
and

transformation
expenses

Impairment
Charges

Gain on
extinguishment

of debt

Total
income

tax
impact

Total
impact Adjusted

Net (loss) income $(560) $18 $ (1) $281 $37 $— $ 127 $ 462 $ (98)

Depreciation and amortization 294 — — (39) — — — (39) 255

Gain on extinguishment of debt — — — — — — — — —

Interest expense 65 — — — — — — — 65

(Benefit) provision for income taxes 87 — — — — — (127) (127) (40)

EBITDA $(114) $18 $ (1) $242 $37 $— $ — $ 296 $182
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSIONANDANALYSIS OF
FINANCIALCONDITIONAND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

OVERVIEW

Bed Bath & Beyond Inc. and subsidiaries (the ‘‘Company’’, ‘‘we’’, ‘‘our’’, ‘‘us’’, or ‘‘ourselves’’) is an omni-channel retailer

thatmakes iteasy forourcustomers to feel athome.Wesell awideassortmentofmerchandise in theHome,Baby,Beauty

&Wellnessmarketsandoperateunder thenamesBedBath&Beyond,buybuyBABY (‘‘BABY’’), andHarmon,HarmonFace

Values,orFaceValues (collectively, ‘‘Harmon’’).WealsooperateDecorist, anonline interiordesignplatformthatprovides

personalized home design services. In addition, we are a partner in a joint venture, which operates retail stores inMexico

under the name Bed Bath & Beyond.

We account for our operations as oneNorthAmerican Retail reporting segment. For Fiscal 2020 and 2019,we accounted

for our operations as two operating segments: North American Retail and Institutional Sales, the latter of which did not

meet the quantitative thresholds under GAAP and, therefore, was not a reportable segment, and which was divested in

October 2020.

We are driving a digital-first, omni-always growth strategy and optimizing our digital and physical store channels to

provide our customers with a seamless omni-channel shopping experience. Digital purchases, includingweb andmobile,

can be shipped to a customer from our distribution facilities, directly from vendors, or from a store. Store purchases are

primarily fulfilled from that store's inventory ormay also be shipped to a customer from one of our distribution facilities,

from a vendor, or from another store. Customers can also choose to pick up orders using our BOPIS and contactless

Curbside Pickup services, as well as return online purchases to a store. Customers can alsomake purchases through one

of our customer contact centers and in-store through The Beyond Store, our proprietary web-based platform. These

capabilities allow us to better serve our customers across various channels.

Across our banners, we carry a wide variety of domestics and home furnishings merchandise. Domestics merchandise

includes categories such as bed linens and related items, bath items and kitchen textiles. Home furnishings include

categories such as kitchen and tabletop items, fine tabletop, basic housewares, general home furnishings (including

furniture andwall décor), consumables and certain juvenile products.

Business Transformation and Restructuring

Since 2019, we have undertaken significant changes to transform our business and adapt to the dynamic retail

environment and the evolving needs of our customers in order to position ourselves for long-term success. As part of

thesechanges,ourmanagementteam, ledbyPresidentandChiefExecutiveOfficer (CEO)MarkTritton,hasbeenfocused

ondrivinganomni-always,customer-inspiredstrategytore-establishourauthority in theHome,Baby,Beauty&Wellness

markets.Wehave created amore focusedportfolio through thedivestiture of non-core assets and further strengthened

our financial flexibility through key actions such as corporate restructurings and operating expense control to re-set our

cost structure and support our ongoing business transformation.

We are implementing a growth strategy that will harness the power of data and insights to engage customers across our

four core banners (Bed Bath & Beyond, buybuy BABY, Harmon and Decorist) in an enterprise-wide plan to accelerate our

omni-channel transformation.Our strategy is underpinned by five key pillars of strategic focus and investment: product,

price, promise, place and people. Through this approach, we are becoming a digital-first, customer-focused omni-

channel retailerwith amore curated, inspirational and differentiated product collection across categories, and creating a

more convenient and inspirational shopping experience.
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InMarch2021,weannouncedourplanto introduceat leasteightnewOwnedBrandsduringFiscal2021.DuringFiscal2021

the followingOwned Brandswere launched:

First Quarter SecondQuarter ThirdQuarter

Nestwell™ Our Table™ Studio 3B™

Haven™ Wild Sage™ HFor Happy™

Simply Essential™ Squared Away™

The assortment for these Owned Brands includes thousands of new products across our key destination categories of

Bed, Bath, Kitchen Food Prep, HomeOrganization and Indoor Decor.We also continue to redefine certain of our existing

Owned Brands, such as Bee & Willow™ and Marmalade™, including new brand imagery and packaging as well as refined

product assortment and presentation.

We will continue to build on this strong foundation as we execute our three-year growth strategy to further elevate the

shopping experience,modernize our operations and unlock strong and sustainable shareholder value.

As part of our business transformation plan, we are also pursuing a comprehensive cost restructuring program, to drive

improved financial performance. We expect to reinvest a portion of the expected cost savings into future growth

initiatives. Key components of the expected financial improvement include:

• Approximately$100million inannualsavingsfromourpreviouslydisclosedstorefleetoptimizationprogramwhich

included the planned closure of approximately 200 mostly Bed Bath & Beyond stores. This program was largely

completed by February 26, 2022. During Fiscal 2021, we closed 63 stores (bringing the total store closures to

207 since the program's inception). We continue to believe that our physical store channel is an asset for our

transformation into a digital-first company, especially with new omni-fulfillment capabilities in BOPIS, Curbside

Pickup, SameDayDelivery and fulfill-from-store.

• Approximately $200 million in annual savings from product sourcing, through renegotiations with existing

vendors.

• Approximately $100 to $150million in annual selling, general and administrative expense savings from continued

optimization of our corporate overhead cost structure and reductions in other discretionary expense. During the

second quarter of Fiscal 2020, we implemented a workforce reduction of approximately 2,800 roles from across

ourcorporateheadquartersandretail stores,designedto further reduce layersat thecorporate level, significantly

reposition field operations to better serve customers in a digital-first environment and realign our technology,

supply chain andmerchandising teams to support our strategic growth initiatives.

• In the fourthquarterofFiscal 2021,weannouncedthatwearepursuingadditional expenseoptimizationmeasures

of approximately $100 million annualized that will explore areas such as additional store fleet optimization, fixed

costs and discretionary savings opportunities.

In connectionwith the above restructuring and transformation initiatives, during Fiscal 2021, we recorded total expense

of $281.2 million including $137.2 million in cost of sales, primarily associated with the transition of our product

assortment toOwned Brands and, to a lesser extent, to redefine certain existingOwned Brands, aswell as $144.0million

in restructuringand transformation initiativeexpenses for costs associatedwithourplannedstore closures aspart of the

store fleet optimization program and other transformation initiatives. We also recorded impairment charges of

approximately$36.5million,primarily relatedtostoreassets.At thispoint,weareunable toestimate theamountor range

of amounts expected to be incurred in connection with future restructuring and transformation initiatives, including

additional Owned Brand introductions and further store closures, and will provide such estimates as they become

available.

Additionally, as part of these efforts, we completed the divestitures of the following banners:

• In December 2020, we entered into a definitive agreement to sell Cost Plus World Market to Kingswood Capital

Management.

• In October 2020, we entered into definitive agreements to sell Christmas Tree Shops (‘‘CTS’’) to Handil Holdings

LLC.
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• InOctober2020,weentered intoadefinitiveagreement tosell LinenHoldings toTheLinenGroup,LLC,anaffiliate

of Lion Equity Partners.

• In February 2020, we entered into a definitive agreement to sell PersonalizationMall.com (‘‘PMall’’) to 1-800-

FLOWERS.COM.

• During the first quarter of Fiscal 2020, we also soldOne Kings Lane to a third party.

The net proceeds from these transactions have been reinvested in our core business operations to drive growth, fund

share repurchases and reduce our outstanding debt.

DuringFiscal 2021,we recognizedachargeof approximately$18.2million in lossonsaleofbusinesses in theconsolidated

statement of operations, primarily associated with the Fiscal 2021 settlement of the CTS pension plan (see ‘‘Employee

Benefit Plans,’’ Note 11 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements) and certain working capital and other

adjustments related to the above divestitures. During Fiscal 2020, we recognized a loss of approximately $1.1million on

the sale of businesses related to certain of the above divestitures.

Executive Summary

The following representsasummaryof key financial results and relatedbusinessdevelopments for theperiods indicated:

• Net sales for Fiscal 2021were $7.868 billion, a decrease of approximately 14.8% as comparedwith Fiscal 2020.

• Excluding the impact of the business divestitures described above, which represented net sales of $1.290 billion

for Fiscal 2020, net sales for our four core banners for Fiscal 2021 decreased by approximately 1%comparedwith

Fiscal 2020.

• During Fiscal 2021, we continued to execute against key initiatives under our transformation program, including:

• Owned Brands. We launched eight new Owned Brands, under which there are thousands of new products

across our key Destination Categories of Bed, Bath, Kitchen Food Prep, Home Organization and Indoor

Decor.

First Quarter SecondQuarter ThirdQuarter

Nestwell™ Our Table™ Studio 3B™

Haven™ Wild Sage™ HFor Happy™

Simply Essential™ Squared Away™

• New York City Flagship Renovation. We completed the renovation of our Bed Bath & Beyond flagship store in

New York City, which reopened in July 2021 after undergoing a complete transformation since closing in

December 2020. The renovated flagship store is an expression of the new Bed Bath & Beyond, with a

significant focus on our five core destination categories of bed, bath, kitchen & dining, indoor décor and

organization.

○ Omni-Channel Capabilities.Wecontinued our focus on being a digital-first, omni-always retailer:

• We announced separate partnerships with DoorDash and Uber to provide on-demand delivery of

essential homeware products and items from more than 700 Bed Bath & Beyond locations and nearly

120 BABY locations nationwide.

• In November 2021, we launched our new digital marketplace to build on our existing authority in key

Home&Baby categories, with an assortment of products froma highly curated selection of third-party

brand partners that will be integrated into our digital platform.

• In November 2021, we announced a strategic collaboration to directly offer Kroger customers an

extensive selection of the most sought-after goods for the Home & Baby products carried by the

BedBath&BeyondandbuybuyBABYbanners throughKroger.comaswell asasmall-scalephysical store

pilot at select Kroger Family of Companies stores beginning in Fiscal 2022.

• Additional Product Initiatives. Our Bed Bath & Beyond banner launched the Home, Happier Team, the brand's

first-evercuratedadvisorypanelof industryexpertswhowill serveas ‘‘hostandhostessesof thehome,’’providing
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ideas, innovative solutions and compelling content to help customers personalize their living spaces andmake it

easy to feel at home. Our buybuy BABY banner introduced its ‘‘welcome to parenthood’’ program in-store and

online through educational resources, reimagined shopping experiences, a revised registry, new digital offerings

and a new marketing campaign to inspire customers to embrace every aspect of parenthood. Additionally, we

announced key partnerships with Casper Sleep Inc. (including a first branded shop-in shop in our New York City

flagship store), and with Safely™, an eco-friendly line of home care and cleaning products which made its retail

debut exclusively in Bed Bath & Beyond, buybuy BABY andHarmon stores nationwide.

• Supply Chain Transformation. In the second half of Fiscal 2021, we started operations at our first regional

distribution center, an approximately one million square foot facility in Frackville, Pennsylvania, and executed a

lease forour second regional distributioncenter in JurupaValley,California,which isexpected tobeoperational by

late 2022. Ryder Systems, Inc. will operate these two regional distribution centers under a strategic partnership,

with the objective of reducing product replenishment times and improving the customer experience.

• Store FleetOptimization. We continue to believe that our physical store channel is an asset for our transformation

into a digital-first company, especially with omni-fulfillment capabilities in BOPIS, Curbside Pickup, Same Day

Delivery and fulfill-from-store. During Fiscal 2021:

○ Wecommenced renovations on approximately 130 stores, ofwhich approximately 80were completed, to

bring the expression of the newBed Bath & Beyond to our customers inmany of ourmarkets.

○ Welargelycompletedtheplannedoptimizationofourstore fleet throughtheclosureof63mostlyBedBath

& Beyond stores during Fiscal 2021, bringing total store closures for the overall program to 207 as of

February 26, 2022.

Weplantocontinuetoactivelymanageour realestateportfolio topermitstoresizes, layouts, locationsandofferings

toevolveover time tooptimizemarket profitability and to renovate, remodel or reposition storeswithinmarkets as

appropriate.

• In connection with these restructuring and transformation initiatives, during Fiscal 2021, we recorded total

expense of $281.2 million including $137.2 million in cost of sales and $144.0 million in restructuring and

transformation initiative expenses in the consolidated statement of operations, as well as $36.5 million of

impairments and $18.2million of losses on sales of businesses.

• During Fiscal 2021,we announced plans to complete our $1 billion three-year repurchase plan by the endof Fiscal

2021, which was two years ahead of schedule. During Fiscal 2021, we repurchased approximately 27.7 million

sharesofourcommonstockunder theshare repurchaseplanapprovedbyourBoardofDirectors, at a total costof

approximately $574.9 million, which combined with the accelerated share repurchase programs entered into in

Fiscal 2020 totaling $375.0 million, resulted in the repurchase of $950.0 million shares under this plan as of

February 26, 2022. An additional approximately $40.0million was repurchased inMarch of 2022.

• Net loss for Fiscal 2021was$559.6million, or $5.64per diluted share, comparedwith net loss of $150.8million, or

$1.24 per diluted share, for Fiscal 2020. Net loss for Fiscal 2021 included a net unfavorable impact of $4.66 per

diluted share associated with restructuring and other transformation initiatives, non-cash impairments, loss on

sale of business and loss on debt extinguishment, aswell as the impact of recording a valuation allowance against

the Company’s U.S. federal and state deferred tax assets (see ‘‘Provision for Income Taxes,’’ Note 8 to the

accompanying consolidated financial statements). Net loss for Fiscal 2020 included a net unfavorable impact of

$0.23 per diluted share associatedwith the loss on sale of business, non-cash impairments and charges recorded

in connectionwith the restructuring programand transformation initiatives offset by a gain on extinguishment of

debt and decrease in the incremental inventory reserve for future markdowns recorded in Fiscal 2019, as well as

the associated tax effects.

Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic

InMarch 2020, theWorld HealthOrganization declared theCOVID-19 outbreak a global pandemic. That samemonth, as

a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, we began to temporarily close certain store locations that did not have a health and

personal care department, and as of March 23, 2020, all of our retail stores across the U.S. and Canada were temporarily

closedexcept formost stand-alonebuybuyBABYandHarmonstores, subject to state and local regulations. InMay2020,
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weannouncedaphasedapproach to re-openour stores in compliancewith relevantgovernmentdirectives, andasof the

end of July 2020, nearly all of our stores re-opened. During portions of Fiscal 2021, a limited number of stores in Canada

either closed temporarily or continued to operate under restrictions in compliancewith local governmental orders. As of

February 26, 2022, all of our stores were operating without restriction subject to compliance with applicable mask and

vaccine requirements.

The COVID-19 pandemicmaterially adversely impacted our results of operations and cash flows for Fiscal 2021. We are

continuing to closelymonitor the impact of theCOVID-19 pandemic onour business, results of operations, and financial

results, asnumerous significant uncertainties continue to surround thepandemic and its ultimate impactonus, including

but not limited to:

• the timing and extent of recovery in consumer traffic and spending;

• potential delays, interruptions and disruptions in our supply chain, including higher freight charges;

• labor shortages, wage pressures and competition for talent;

• theextentof dissemination andpublic acceptanceofCOVID-19vaccines and their effectiveness againstCOVID-

19 and its evolving strains, some of whichmay bemore transmissible or virulent than the initial strain;

• additional widespread resurgences in COVID-19 infections; and

• evolving safety protocols such as requirements for proof of vaccination or regular testing in certain of our

markets.

RESULTS OFOPERATIONS

The fiscal years discussed belowwere each comprised of 52weeks.

Net Sales

Fiscal Year Ended Change fromPrior Year

(inmillions)
February 26,

2022
February 27,

2021
February 29,

2020 February 26, 2022 February 27, 2021

Net sales $7,867.8 $9,233.0 $11,158.6 $(1,365.2) (14.8)% $(1,925.6) (17.3)%

Sales fromdivested banners — 1,290.1 2,151.1 (1,290.1) (100.0)% (861.0) (40.0)%

Excluding the impactof thedivestituresdescribedabove,which representednetsalesof$1.290billion forFiscal 2020,net

sales for our four core banners for Fiscal 2021 decreased by approximately 1% compared with Fiscal 2020, as net sales

improvements in the first half of Fiscal 2021, including due to the impact of theCOVID-19pandemic in the first quarter of

2020, were offset by the impact of traffic declines and the supply chain disruptions in the second half of the year. Store

closures as part of our store fleet optimization program also contributed to the decline in sales from Fiscal 2020 to

Fiscal 2021.

The decrease in net sales for Fiscal 2020 was primarily due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic during the

first quarter of Fiscal 2020, as well as the impact of our transformation initiatives, primarily our store fleet optimization

program and the business divestitures described above (see Business Transformation and Restructuring).

During Fiscal 2021, Fiscal 2020 and Fiscal 2019, net sales consummated through digital channels represented

approximately 37%, 38%and 17%, respectively, of our sales. Sales consummated on amobile devicewhile physically in a

store locationandBOPISorders are recordedascustomer facingdigital channel sales.Customerorders taken in-storeby

an associate through The Beyond Store, our proprietary, web-based platform, are recorded as in-store sales. Prior to

implementation of BOPIS and contactless Curbside Pickup services, customer orders reserved online and picked up in a

store were recorded as in-store sales. Sales originally consummated from customer facing digital channels and

subsequently returned in-store are recorded as a reduction of in-store sales.
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As a result of the extended closure of the majority of our stores in the first quarter and in June of Fiscal 2020 due to the

COVID-19 pandemic and our policy of excluding extended store closures from our comparable sales calculation, we

believe that comparable sales*was not ameaningfulmetric for the first quarter of Fiscal 2020 aswell as for themonth of

June in Fiscal 2020 and, therefore, are not ameaningful metric for Fiscal 2021 and Fiscal 2020.

* Comparable sales normally include sales consummated through all retail channels that have beenoperating for

twelve fullmonths following theopeningperiod (typically six toeightweeks), excluding the impactof store fleet

optimizationprogram.Weare anomni-channel retailerwith capabilities that allowacustomer tousemore than

one channel when making a purchase, including in-store, online, with a mobile device or through a customer

contact center, and have it fulfilled, in most cases, either through in-store customer pickup or by direct

shipment to the customer fromone of our distribution facilities, stores or vendors.

Our comparable sales metric considers sales consummated through all retail channels – in-store, online, with a mobile

deviceor throughacustomercontactcenter.Ouromni-channel environmentallowsourcustomers tousemore thanone

channel whenmaking a purchase. We believe in an integrated and seamless customer experience. A few examples are: a

customermay be assisted by an in-store associate to create awedding or baby registry, while the guestsmay ultimately

purchase a gift fromourwebsites; or a customermay research a particular item, and read other customer reviews on our

websites before visiting a store to consummate theactual purchase; or a customermaybuyan itemonline for in-storeor

curbsidepickup; orwhile in a store, a customermaymake thepurchaseonamobiledevice for inhomedelivery fromeither

a distribution facility, a store or directly from a vendor. In addition, we accept returns in-store without regard to the

channel in which the purchase was consummated, therefore resulting in reducing store sales by sales originally

consummatedthroughcustomerfacingdigitalchannels.Asourretailoperationsare integratedandwecannotreasonably

track the channel inwhich theultimate sale is initiated,wecanhowever, providedirectional informationonwhere the sale

was consummated.

Sales of domesticsmerchandise accounted for approximately 37.4%, 34.7%, and 35.2%, of net sales in Fiscal 2021, 2020

and 2019, respectively. Sales of home furnishings accounted for approximately 62.6%, 65.3% and 64.8% of net sales,

respectively, for Fiscal 2021, 2020, and 2019.

Gross Profit

Fiscal Year Ended Change fromPrior Year

(inmillions)
February 26,

2022
February 27,

2021
February 29,

2020 February 26, 2022 February 27, 2021

Gross profit $2,483.5 $3,118.1 $3,541.7 $(634.6) (20.4)% $(423.6) (12.0)%

Gross profit percentage 31.6% 33.8% 31.7% (2.2)% (6.5)% 2.1% 6.6%

Grossprofit in Fiscal 2021wasnegatively impactedbymarkdownactivity associatedwith inventory being removed from

our assortment in connection with the launches of newOwned Brands and, to a lesser extent, the redefinition of certain

existingOwnedBrands, aswell asmarkdownactivity associatedwith storeclosuresaspartofour store fleetoptimization

program. Gross profit for Fiscal 2021 included the impact of charges of $137.2 million for these higher markdowns on

inventory sold, as well as an adjustment to reduce the cost of inventory on hand to be removed from the product

assortment as part of these initiatives to its estimated realizable value. In addition, higher freight expenses, both for

inbound product shipments and direct-to-customer fulfillment and in part due to industry wide, global supply chain

challenges, negatively impactedgrossmargin inFiscal 2021comparedwithFiscal 2020,whichoffset the favorable impact

of a shift in product assortment toward newOwned Brands and amore normalizedmix of digital sales.

The increase in the grossmargin between Fiscal 2020 and Fiscal 2019 was primarily attributable to a shift in productmix

and the leverage of distribution and fulfillment costs, partially offset by the impact of channel mix, including higher

net-direct-to-customer shipping expense. In addition, our gross margin for Fiscal 2020 included the impact of a net

benefit of $20.2 million from the reduction of incremental markdown reserves taken in Fiscal 2019, partially offset by

restructuring and transformation initiatives.
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Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Fiscal Year Ended Change fromPrior Year

(inmillions)
February 26,

2022
February 27,

2021
February 29,

2020 February 26, 2022 February 27, 2021

Selling, general and

administrative expenses $2,692.3 $3,224.4 $3,732.5 $(532.1) (16.5)% $(508.1) (13.6)%

As a percentage of net sales 34.2% 34.9% 33.4% (0.7)% (2.0)% 1.5% 4.5%

The decrease in SG&A expenses for Fiscal 2021 was primarily attributable to cost reductions resulting from our

transformation initiatives, including reductions incorporateoverhead,divestituresofnon-coreassetsand lower rentand

occupancy expenses as a result of our store fleet optimizationprogram.Thedecrease in SG&Aexpenses as apercentage

of net sales for Fiscal 2021 was also largely due to the factors above, as well as the de-leveraging effect caused by sales

declines in Fiscal 2020 as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.

For Fiscal 2020, the increase was primarily attributable to increases in fixed costs such as rent and occupancy and

depreciation, and consulting costs related to our strategic initiatives, partially offset by decreases in payroll and payroll-

related expenses and advertising.

In addition, during Fiscal 2021 and Fiscal 2020, we recorded credits of approximately $7.8 million and $33.3 million,

respectively, as an offset to SG&A expenses as a result of the employee retention credits made available under the

Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (the ‘‘CARES Act’’) for U.S. employees and under the Canada

EmergencyWage Subsidy for Canadian employees.

Goodwill and Other Impairments

Goodwill andother impairmentswere$36.5million forFiscal 2021,$127.3million inFiscal 2020and$509.2million inFiscal

2019. For Fiscal 2021, impairment charges included$30.8million related to certain store-level assets (including leasehold

improvements and operating lease assets) and tradename impairments of $5.7 million. For Fiscal 2020, impairment

charges included$92.9millionrelatedtocertainstore-levelassets (including leasehold improvementsandoperating lease

assets) and tradename impairments of $35.1million. For Fiscal 2019, impairment charges included goodwill impairments

of $391.1 million (primarily as the result of a sustained decline in our market capitalization), tradename impairments of

$41.8million, long-lived assets impairments of $75.1million and other impairments of $1.2million.

Restructuring and Transformation Initiative Expenses

During Fiscal 2021 and Fiscal 2020, we recorded charges of $144.0million and $102.2million, respectively, in connection

with our restructuring and transformation initiatives. In Fiscal 2021, these charges were primarily for costs associated

with the store fleet optimization program described above, including for the termination of facility leases, as well as

technology transformation and business strategy and operatingmodel transformation programs across core functions,

including merchandising, supply chain and finance. In Fiscal 2020, these costs primarily related to severance costs

recorded inconnectionwithourworkforce reductionandstore fleetoptimizationprogramsaswell asother restructuring

activities (see ‘‘Restructuring and Transformation Activities,’’ Note 3 to the accompanying consolidated financial

statements).

Loss on Sale of Businesses

DuringFiscal 2021,we recognizedapproximately $18.2million in lossonsaleof businesses in theconsolidatedstatement

of operations, primarily related to a $13.5 million charge associated with the Fiscal 2021 settlement of the CTS pension

plan (see ‘‘AssetsHeld forSaleandDivestitures,’’Note16totheaccompanyingconsolidatedfinancial statements),aswell

ascertainworkingcapitalandotheradjustmentsrelatedtotheFiscal2020divestitures.DuringFiscal2020,werecognized

a loss of approximately $1.1million on the sale of businesses related to these divestitures discussed above (seeBusiness

Transformation and Restructuring).
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Operating Loss

Fiscal Year Ended Change fromPrior Year

(inmillions)
February 26,

2022
February 27,

2021
February 29,

2020 February 26, 2022 February 27, 2021

Operating Loss $(407.6) $(336.9) $(700.1) $(70.7) 21.0% $363.2 (51.9)%

As a percentage of net sales (5.2)% (3.6)% (6.3)% (1.6)% 44.4% 2.7% (42.9)%

Operating loss for Fiscal 2021 included the impact of pre-tax charges of $137.2 million included in gross profit primarily

associated with the transition of our product assortment to Owned Brands and, to a lesser extent, our store fleet

optimization program, as well as $144.0 million associated with restructuring and other transformation initiatives,

$36.5 million for non-cash impairments and $18.2 million for loss on sale of business (each as described above). The

change in operating loss as a percentage of net sales between Fiscal 2021 and 2020 was primarily due to the decline in

grossmargin, asdiscussedabove,aswell ashigher restructuringandtransformationexpenses inFiscal2021comparedto

Fiscal 2020.

The favorable change inoperating loss as apercentageof net salesbetweenFiscal 2020andFiscal 2019wasprimarily due

to an increase in the gross margin, lower goodwill and other impairments compared to the prior year period, partially

offset by increased SG&A expenses and restructuring and transformation initiative expenses as well as the impact of

reductions of net sales, which reflected the impact of the temporary nationwide closure of themajority of our stores due

to COVID-19, nearly all of which reopened as of July 2020, and of the divestitures discussed above (see Business

Transformation and Restructuring).

Interest Expense, net

Interest expense, net was $64.7million, $76.9million, and $64.8million in Fiscal 2021, 2020, and 2019, respectively. The

decrease inFiscal2021 interestexpense,netwasprimarilydrivenbydecreased interestcostsattributable toour revolving

credit facilities and the impactof the repurchaseof aportionofour senior unsecurednotes in Fiscal 2020. For Fiscal 2020,

the increase in interest expense, netwasprimarily drivenby lower interest incomeon investments and increased interest

costsattributable toour revolvingcredit facilities,primarily relatingtotheABLFacilityentered into inFiscal2020,partially

offsetby lower interest costs forour seniorunsecurednotes, primarily related to the repurchaseof aportionof thesenior

unsecured notes in August 2020. For Fiscal 2019, interest expense, net primarily related to interest on the senior

unsecured notes issued in July 2014.

(Loss) Gain on Extinguishment of Debt

DuringFiscal 2021,we recordeda$0.4million lossonthepartial repaymentof seniorunsecurednotes.DuringFiscal 2020,

we recorded a $77million gain on the repurchase of $75million principal amount of 4.915% senior unsecured notes due

August 1, 2034 and $225million principal of 5.165% senior unsecured notes due August 1, 2044 (see ‘‘Long TermDebt,’’

Note 7 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements).

Income Taxes

The effective tax rate was (18.4)% for Fiscal 2021, 55.2% for Fiscal 2020, and 19.7% for Fiscal 2019.

For Fiscal 2021, the effective tax rate reflects the recording of a valuation allowance against our U.S federal and state

deferred tax assets (discussed below), as well as a benefit resulting from an adjustment to the estimated net operating

loss incurred in Fiscal 2020whichwas carried back, under the provisions of the CARESAct, to a year in which the tax rate

was 35%.

For Fiscal 2020, the effective tax rate reflected the carry back of the net operating loss to a year inwhich the tax ratewas

35% under the CARES Act, and included the impact of the benefit of certain tax planning strategies the Company

deployed, in addition to the losses from the divestitures of CTS, Linen Holdings and Cost Plus, partially offset by the
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impact of impairment charges for tradenameand certain store-level assets, the gain on thedivestiture of PMall, a benefit

related to thecarrybackof theFiscal 2019netoperating lossunder theCARESAct, andotherdiscrete tax items resulting

in net after tax benefits.

For Fiscal 2019, the effective tax rate reflected the impact of charges, portions of which are non-deductible for tax

purposes, for goodwill and other impairments, an incremental charge for markdowns, severance costs, shareholder

activity costs and a loss from a sale-leaseback transaction, including transaction costs.

In assessing the recoverability of our deferred tax assets, we evaluated the available objective positive and negative

evidencetoestimatewhether it ismore likelythannotthatsufficient futuretaxable incomewillbegeneratedtopermituse

ofexistingdeferredtaxassets ineachtaxpaying jurisdiction.Avaluationallowance isanon-cashcharge,anddoesnot limit

ourability toutilizeourdeferred taxassets, includingourability toutilize tax lossandcredit carryforwardamounts, against

future taxable income.

During Fiscal 2021, we concluded that, based on our evaluation of available objective positive and negative evidence, it is

no longer more likely than not that our net U.S. federal and state deferred tax assets are recoverable. In assessing the

realizability of deferred tax assets, the key assumptions used to determine positive and negative evidence included our

cumulative taxable loss for thepast three years, current trends related to actual taxable earningsor losses, andexpected

future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences, aswell as timing and cost of our transformation initiatives and

their expected associatedbenefits. Accordingly,we recordeda chargeof $181.5million in the third quarter of Fiscal 2021

as a reserve against our net U.S. federal and state deferred tax assets. As of February 26, 2022, the total valuation

allowance relative to U.S. federal and state deferred tax assets was $224.3million.

Theamountof thedeferred tax assets considered realizable, and theassociatedvaluationallowance, couldbeadjusted in

a future period if estimates of future taxable income change or if objective negative evidence in the form of cumulative

losses is no longer present and additional weight is given to subjective evidence such as projections for future growth.

OnMarch27, 2020, theCARESActwasenacted in theUnitedStates,whichprovided for certain changes to tax lawswhich

impacted our results of operations, financial position and cash flows. We implemented certain provisions of the CARES

Act, suchasdeferringemployerpayroll taxesandutilizing theability tocarrybackanddeduct losses tooffsetprior income

in previously filed tax returns. As of February 27, 2021, the Company had deferred $3.1million of employer payroll taxes,

which were deposited by December 2021. As of February 26, 2022 and February 27, 2021, under the CARES Act, we

recorded incometaxbenefitsof$18.7millionand$152.0million, respectively, asa resultof theFiscal2020andFiscal2019

net operating losseswere carried back to prior years duringwhich the federal tax rate was 35%.

For Fiscal 2021, 2020, and 2019, the effective tax rate included net benefit of approximately $6.0 million, net benefit of

approximately$2.1million, andnetexpenseofapproximately$4.3million, respectively, dueto the recognitionofdiscrete

federal and state tax items.

Potential volatility in theeffective tax rate fromyear toyearmayoccurasweare requiredeachyear todeterminewhether

new information changes our assessment of both the probability that a tax position will effectively be sustained and the

appropriateness of the amount of recognized benefit.

Net Loss

Asa result of the factors described above, the net loss for Fiscal 2021, 2020, and2019,was $559.6million, $150.8million,

and $613.8million, respectively.

LIQUIDITYAND CAPITALRESOURCES

Weended Fiscal 2021 in a solid cash and liquidity position, whichwe anticipatemaintaining, to provide us the flexibility to

fund our ongoing initiatives and act upon other opportunities that may arise. As of February 26, 2022, we had

approximately $439.5million in cash and cash equivalents, a decrease of approximately $913.5million as comparedwith

February 27, 2021, which included $589.4million for share repurchases.We believe that existing and internally generated

funds, as well as availability under our existing credit facilities, will be sufficient to continue to finance our operations for

the next twelve months. If necessary, we have the ability to borrow under our ABL Facility, which matures on
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August 9, 2026. Our ability to borrow under the ABL Facility is subject to customary conditions, including no default, the

accuracy of representations and warranties and borrowing base availability. Borrowing base availability under the ABL

Facility is based upon a specified borrowing base consisting of a percentage of our eligible inventory and credit card

receivables as defined in theABLFacility, net of applicable reserves (see ‘‘LongTermDebt,’’ Note 7 to the accompanying

consolidated financial statements). Asof February 26, 2022, theCompanyhadno loansoutstanding andhadoutstanding

letters of credit of $96.4million under the ABL Facility.

In Fiscal 2020, similar to other retailers, we withheld portions of and/or delayed payments to certain of our business

partners aswesought to renegotiatepayment terms, inorder to furthermaintain liquidityduring theperiodof temporary

store closures. In some instances, the renegotiations of lease terms have led to agreements with landlords for rent

abatements or rental deferrals. Total payments withheld and/or delayed or deferred as of February 26, 2022 were

approximately $1.9million and are included in current liabilities. During Fiscal 2021, we recognized reduced rent expense

of $2.7million related to rent abatement concessions. Additional negotiations of payment terms are still in process, and

there canbenoassurance thatwewill be able to successfully renegotiate payment termswith all suchbusinesspartners,

and the ultimate outcome of these activities including the responses of certain business partners are not yet known.We

are also executing on our business transformation program, which includes the closure, as of February 26, 2022, of 207

mostly Bed Bath & Beyond stores under our store fleet optimization program and the introduction of newOwned Brand

products in a number of categories.

Our liquiditymaycontinue tobenegatively impactedbytheuncertainty regarding thespreadofCOVID-19andthetiming

of economic recovery.

Capital Expenditures

Capital expenditures for Fiscal 2021 were $354.2 million, and for Fiscal 2022 are projected to be approximately

$390.0 million to $410.0 million. Our capital expenditures in Fiscal 2021 were related to digital and omni-channel

capabilities, store remodels and investments in technology across a number of areas including supply chain,

merchandising and finance.

We continue to review and prioritize our capital needs and remain committed tomaking the required investments in our

infrastructure to help position us for continued growth and success. Key areas of investment include: continuing to

improve the presentation and content as well as the functionality, general search and navigation across our customer

facing digital channels; improving customer data integration and customer relations management capabilities;

continuing to enhance service offerings to our customers; continuing to strengthen and deepen our information

technology, analytics, marketing, e-commerce, merchandising and finance capabilities; and creating more flexible

fulfillment options designed to improve our delivery capabilities and lower our shipping costs. These and other

investments are expected to, among other things, provide a seamless and compelling customer experience across our

omni-channel retail platform.

Stock Repurchases

During Fiscal 2021, we repurchased approximately 28.3 million shares of our common stock, at a total cost of

approximately $589.4 million, which included approximately 27.7 million shares at a total cost of approximately

$574.9 million repurchased under our share repurchase programs as authorized by our Board of Directors, as well as

approximately 0.6million shares, at a total cost of approximately $14.5million to cover employee related taxes withheld

on vested restricted stock, restricted stock unit awards and performance stock unit awards.

DuringFiscal 2021,weannounced thatwe intended tocompleteour$1billion three-year share repurchaseplan twoyears

ahead of schedule. The repurchases made during Fiscal 2021 of $574.9 million, combined with the accelerated share

repurchase programs entered into in Fiscal 2020 totaling $375.0million (discussed below), resulted in the repurchase of

$950.0millionunder thisplanasofFebruary26,2022.Anadditional approximately$40.0millionwas repurchased inMarch

of 2022.

In the first quarter of Fiscal 2020, the Company had postponed share repurchases, but lifted this postponement in

October 2020. In October 2020, the Company entered into an accelerated share repurchase agreement with JPMorgan
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ChaseBank,National Association to repurchase $225.0million of its commonstock, subject tomarket conditions,which

settled in the fourthquarterofFiscal 2020, resulting in the repurchaseofa totalof10.8millionshares. InJanuary2021, the

Companyentered intoasecondacceleratedsharerepurchaseagreementtorepurchaseanaggregate$150.0millionof its

commonstock, subject tomarket conditions. This resulted in the repurchaseof 5.0million shares in the fourth quarter of

Fiscal 2020, and an additional 0.2 million shares received upon final settlement in the first quarter of Fiscal 2021. During

Fiscal 2020, the Company also repurchased approximately 0.6 million shares of its common stock, at a total cost of

approximately $5.1 million, to cover employee related taxes withheld on vested restricted stock, restricted stock unit

awards and performance stock unit awards.

BetweenDecember2004andApril 2021, theCompany’sBoardofDirectorsauthorized, throughseveral share repurchase

programs, the repurchaseof$12.950billionof its sharesof commonstock.Since2004 through theendofFiscal 2021, the

Company has repurchased approximately $11.685 billion of its common stock through share repurchase programs. The

Company also acquires sharesof its commonstock to cover employee related taxeswithheld on vested restricted stock,

restrictedstockunitsandperformancestockunitawards.Sincethe initial authorization inDecember2004, theaggregate

total of commonstock repurchased isapproximately262.2millionshares fora total costof approximately$11.685billion.

TheCompany had approximately $1.267 billion remaining of authorized share repurchases as of February 26, 2022.

Decisions regardingshare repurchasesarewithin thediscretionof theBoardofDirectors, andare influencedbyanumber

of factors, includingthepriceofourcommonstock,generalbusinessandeconomicconditions,our financial conditionand

operating results, the emergence of alternative investment or acquisition opportunities, changes in business strategy

and other factors. Our share repurchase program could change, and could be influenced by several factors, including

businessandmarketconditions,suchasthe impactof theCOVID-19pandemiconourbusinessoperationsorstockprice.

We reviewour alternativeswith respect to our capital structure on an ongoing basis. Any future share repurchaseswill be

subject to the determination of the Board of Directors, based on an evaluation of our earnings, financial condition and

requirements, business conditions and other factors, including the restrictions on share repurchases under the ABL

Facility (see ‘‘Long TermDebt,’’ Note 7 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements).

Debt Repurchases

During Fiscal 2021 we purchased approximately $11.0 million aggregate principal amount of our outstanding 3.749%

senior unsecured notes due August 1, 2024. During Fiscal 2020, we purchased approximately $300.0 million aggregate

principal amount of our outstanding 4.915%Senior Notes due 2034 and 5.165%Senior Notes due 2044.

Cash flow from operating activities

Netcashprovidedbyoperatingactivities for Fiscal 2021was$17.9million, comparedwithnet cashprovidedbyoperating

activitiesof$268.1million inFiscal2020.Theyear-over-yearchange inoperatingcash flowwasprimarilyduetohighernet

loss, adjusted for non-cash expenses, which included the impact of higher restructuring and transformation expenses in

Fiscal 2021, as well as investments in inventory, including as a result of changing the timing of purchasing in response to

the potential impact of global supply chain disruptions on timing of inventory receipts and availability of product in our

stores and on our websites, and lower accounts payable, due primarily to timing of payments for merchandise, and

accrued liabilities, including lower incentive compensation accruals. There were partially offset by a decrease in other

current assets primarily due to the receipt of income tax refunds in Fiscal 2021. For Fiscal 2020, the decrease in cash

providedbyoperating activitieswasprimarily due to thenet decrease in cashprovidedby componentsofworking capital

(primarily merchandise inventories and other current assets, partially offset by accounts payable). This decrease was

partially offset by a decrease in net loss, adjusted for non-cash expenses.

Retail inventory, which includes inventory in our distribution facilities for direct to customer shipments, was

approximately $1.725 billion at February 26, 2022, an increase of 3.2% compared with retail inventory at

February 27, 2021. We continue to focus on our inventory optimization strategies while also responding to the potential

impact of global supply chain disruptions on product availability. Retail inventory at February 27, 2021 decreased

approximately 18.0% compared to retail inventory at February 29, 2020, which was primarily related to the Fiscal 2020

divestitures.
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Cash flow from investing activities

Net cash used in investing activities for Fiscal 2021 was $349.2 million, compared with net cash provided by investing

activities of $737.9 million in Fiscal 2020. For Fiscal 2021, net cash used in investing activities included $354.2 million of

capital expenditures. For Fiscal 2020, net cash provided by investing activities was comprised of $386.5 million of

redemptions of investment securities and $534.5 million in proceeds from the sale of PMall, CTS and Linen Holdings

businesses, partially offset by $183.1million of capital expenditures.

Cash flow from financing activities

Netcashused in financingactivities for Fiscal 2021was$606.0million, comparedwithnet cashused in financingactivities

of $632.3million in Fiscal 2020.Net cashused in financingactivities in Fiscal 2021wasprimarily comprisedof repurchases

of common stock of $589.4million, of which $574.9million was related to our share repurchase program, repayments of

long-term debt of $11.4 million and payments of deferred financing costs of $3.4 million. Net cash used in financing

activities in Fiscal 2020wascomprisedofnet repaymentsof long-termdebtof$221.4million, a$47.6millionprepayment

under an accelerated share repurchase agreement with JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association entered into in

October 2020, repurchases of our common stock of $332.5million, payments of deferred financing costs of $7.7million

and dividend payments of $23.1million.

Contractual Obligations

Our contractual obligations as of February 26, 2022 consist mainly of (i) principal and interest related to our senior

unsecured notes (see ‘‘LongTermDebt,’’ Note 7 to theConsolidated Financial Statements), (ii) leases for stores, offices,

distribution facilities and equipment (see ‘‘Leases,’’ Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements) and (iii) purchase

obligations, primarily under purchase orders issued for merchandise and for certain capital expenditures. Total capital

expenditures for Fiscal 2021were $354.2million, and for Fiscal 2022 are projected to be approximately $390.0million to

$410.0million.

Approximately $284.4 million in principal amount of our senior unsecured notes are due August 1, 2024, with the

remaining principal balances due August 1, 2034 and August 1, 2044. Our lease obligations include both operating and

finance leases, and have various terms extending through 2041, with approximately $451.9 million in minimum lease

payments due in Fiscal 2022, and declining amounts due each year thereafter.

These obligations are considered as part of our overall capital allocation and liquiditymanagement processes referred to

above.

SEASONALITY

Our business is subject to seasonal influences. Generally, our sales volumes are higher in the calendarmonths of August,

November, andDecember, and lower in February.

INFLATION

InFiscal2021,weexperienced inflationarypressures invariouspartsofourbusiness, including,butnot limitedto,product

cost pressure aswell as increased freight and shipping costs across our supply chain.We continue tomonitor the impact

of inflation on the costs of materials, labor, and other costs required to manage our business in order to minimize its

effects throughpricingstrategies, productivity improvementsandcost reductions.Therecanbenoassurance, however,

that our operating results will not be affected by inflation in the future.
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CRITICALACCOUNTING POLICIES

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles

requires us to establish accounting policies and to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of

assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the consolidated financial

statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.We base our estimates on

historical experience and on other assumptions that we believe to be relevant under the circumstances, the results of

which form the basis formaking judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent

fromother sources. In particular, judgment is used in areas such as inventory valuation, impairment of long-lived assets,

goodwill andother indefinite lived intangibleassets,accruals forself-insuranceand incomeandcertainother taxes.Actual

results could differ from these estimates.

Inventory Valuation: Merchandise inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. Inventory costs are primarily

calculated using theweighted average retail inventorymethod.

Under the retail inventorymethod, the valuation of inventories at cost and the resulting grossmargins are calculated by

applyingacost-to-retail ratio to the retail valuesof inventories.The inputsassociatedwithdeterminingthecost-to-retail

ratio include: merchandise purchases, net of returns to vendors, discounts and volume and incentive rebates; inbound

freight expenses; import charges, including duties, insurance and commissions.

The retail inventory method contains certain management judgments that may affect inventory valuation. At any one

time, inventories include items that have been written down to our best estimate of their realizable value. Judgment is

required in estimating realizable value and factors considered are the age ofmerchandise, anticipated demand based on

factors such as customer preferences and fashion trends and anticipated changes in product assortment (including

related to the launchofourOwnedBrands), aswell as anticipatedmarkdowns to reduce thepriceofmerchandise from its

recorded retail price toa retail priceatwhich it is expected tobesold in the future.Theseestimatesarebasedonhistorical

experienceandcurrent informationabout futureeventswhichare inherentlyuncertain.Actual realizablevaluecoulddiffer

materially from this estimate based upon future customer demand or economic conditions, including the duration and

severity of the COVID-19 pandemic.

We estimate our reserve for shrinkage throughout the year based on historical shrinkage and any current trends, if

applicable. Actual shrinkage is recorded at year end based upon the results of our physical inventory counts for locations

atwhich countswere conducted. For locationswhere physical inventory countswere not conducted in the fiscal year, an

estimated shrink reserve is recorded based on historical shrinkage and any current trends, if applicable. Historically, our

shrinkage has not been volatile.

We accrue formerchandise in transit oncewe take legal ownership and title to themerchandise; as such, an estimate for

merchandise in transit is included in ourmerchandise inventories.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets: We review long-lived assets for impairment when events or changes in circumstances

indicate the carrying value of these assets may exceed their current fair values. Recoverability of assets to be held and

used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to the estimated undiscounted future cash flows

expected to be generated by the asset. If the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated future cash flows, an

impairment charge is recognized for the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the fair value of the

assets. Judgment is required in estimating the fair valueof theassets includingassumptions related to salesgrowth rates

andmarket rental rates. Theseestimates arebasedonhistorical experience andcurrent information about future events

which are inherently uncertain.

In Fiscal 2021, 2020, and 2019, we recorded $30.8 million, $92.9 million, and $75.1 million, respectively, of non-cash

pre-tax impairment charges within goodwill and other impairments in the consolidated statement of operations for

certain store-level assets, including leasehold improvements and operating lease assets. Of the stores impaired during

Fiscal 2021, partial impairmentswere recorded at 50 stores resulting in a remaining net book value of long-lived assets at

riskof$46.4millionasofFebruary26,2022, inclusiveof leasehold improvementsand right-of-useassets.Wewill continue

to monitor these stores closely. If actual results differ from the estimated undiscounted future cash flows or the

estimated price market participants would be willing to pay to sublease store operating leases and acquire remaining

store assets, which among other factors, may be impacted by the duration and severity of the COVID-19 pandemic, we

maybeexposedtoadditional impairment losses thatmaybematerial. If eventsormarketconditionsaffect theestimated
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fair value to theextent that a long-lived asset is impaired,wewill adjust the carrying valueof these long-lived assets in the

period in which the impairment occurs.

Other IndefiniteLived IntangibleAssets:We reviewother intangibles thathave indefinite lives for impairmentannually asof

the end of the fiscal year or when events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value of these assets might

exceed their current fair values. Impairment testing is based upon the best information available, including estimates of

fair value which incorporate assumptions marketplace participants would use in making their estimates of fair value.

Significant assumptions and estimates are required, including, but not limited to, projecting future cash flows,

determining appropriate discount rates, margins, growth rates, and other assumptions, to estimate the fair value of

indefinite lived intangible assets. Although we believe that the assumptions and estimates made are reasonable and

appropriate, different assumptions and estimates couldmaterially impact our reported financial results.

Other indefinite lived intangible assets were recorded as a result of acquisitions and primarily consist of tradenames.We

value our tradenames using a relief-from-royalty approach, which assumes the value of the tradename is the discounted

cash flowsof the amount thatwould bepaid by a hypotheticalmarket participant had they not owned the tradenameand

instead licensed the tradename from another company. For Fiscal 2021, 2020, and 2019, for certain tradenames within

other indefinite lived intangibleassets,wecompletedaquantitative impairmentanalysisbycomparingthefairvalueof the

tradenames to their carrying value and recognized non-cash pre-tax tradename impairment charges of $5.7 million,

$35.1 million, and $41.8 million, respectively, within goodwill and other impairments in the consolidated statement of

operations. For the remaining other indefinite lived intangible assets, we assessed qualitative factors as of

February 26, 2022 in order to determinewhether any events and circumstances existedwhich indicated that it wasmore

likelythannotthatthefairvalueoftheseother indefinite livedassetsdidnotexceedtheircarryingvaluesandconcludedno

suchevents or circumstances existedwhichwould require an impairment test beperformed.Asof February 26, 2022,we

have $16.3 million of remaining other indefinite lived intangible assets. If actual results differ from the estimated future

cashflows,which,amongother factors,maybe impactedbythedurationandseverityof theCOVID-19pandemic,wemay

be exposed to additional impairment losses thatmay bematerial. In the future, if events ormarket conditions affect the

estimated fair value to theextent that anasset is impaired,wewill adjust thecarryingvalueof theseassets in theperiod in

which the impairment occurs.

Self-Insurance: We utilize a combination of third-party insurance and self-insurance for a number of risks including

workers’ compensation, general liability, cyber liability, property liability, automobile liability andemployee relatedhealth

care benefits (a portion of which is paid by our employees). Liabilities associated with the risks that we retain are not

discounted and are estimated by considering historical claims experience, demographic factors, severity factors and

other actuarial assumptions. Although our claims experience has not displayed substantial volatility in the past, actual

experience couldmaterially vary fromour historical experience in the future. Factors that affect these estimates include

but are not limited to: inflation, the number and severity of claims and regulatory changes. In the future, if we conclude an

adjustment to self-insurance accruals is required, the liability will be adjusted accordingly.

Beginning in the fourth quarter of Fiscal 2020, we began insuring portions of our workers' compensation and medical

insurance through a wholly owned captive insurance subsidiary (the ‘‘Captive’’) to enhance our risk financing strategies.

The Captive is subject to regulations in Vermont, including those relating to its levels of liquidity. The Captive was in

compliancewith all regulations as of February 26, 2022.

Taxes: TheCompany accounts for its income taxesusing the asset and liabilitymethod.Deferred tax assets and liabilities

are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to the differences between the financial statement carrying

amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and operating loss and tax credit carry-forwards.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities aremeasuredusingenacted tax ratesexpected toapply to taxable income in theyear in

which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and

liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in earnings in the period that includes the enactment date.

In assessing the recoverability of our deferred tax assets, we evaluate the available objective positive and negative

evidencetoestimatewhether it ismore likelythannotthatsufficient futuretaxable incomewillbegeneratedtopermituse

of existing deferred tax assets in each taxpaying jurisdiction. For anydeferred tax asset in excessof the amount forwhich

it is more likely than not that we will realize a benefit, we establish a valuation allowance. A valuation allowance is a

non-cash charge, and does not limit our ability to utilize our deferred tax assets, including our ability to utilize tax loss and

credit carryforward amounts, against future taxable income.
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During Fiscal 2021, we concluded that, based on our evaluation of available objective positive and negative evidence, it is

no longer more likely than not that our net U.S. federal and state deferred tax assets are recoverable. In assessing the

realizability of deferred tax assets, the key assumptions used to determine positive and negative evidence included our

cumulative book loss for the past three years, current trends related to actual taxable earnings or losses, and expected

future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences, aswell as timing and cost of our transformation initiatives and

their expected associatedbenefits. Accordingly,we recordeda chargeof $181.5million in the third quarter of Fiscal 2021

as a reserve against our net U.S. federal and state deferred tax assets. As of February 26, 2022, the total valuation

allowance relative to U.S. federal and state deferred tax assets was $224.3million.

Theamountof thedeferred tax assets considered realizable, and theassociatedvaluationallowance, couldbeadjusted in

a future period if estimates of future taxable income change or if objective negative evidence in the form of cumulative

losses is no longer present and additional weight is given to subjective evidence such as projections for future growth.

OnDecember22,2017, theU.S.governmentenactedcomprehensivetax legislationcommonly referredtoastheTaxAct.

The Tax Act included a mandatory one-time tax on accumulated earnings of foreign subsidiaries, and as a result, all

previously unremitted earnings for which noU.S. deferred tax liability had been previously accrued has now been subject

to U.S. tax. Notwithstanding the U.S. taxation of these amounts, the Company intends to continue to reinvest the

unremitted earnings of its Canadian subsidiary. Accordingly, no additional provision has beenmade for U.S. or additional

non-U.S. taxes with respect to these earnings, except for the transition tax resulting from the Tax Act. In the event of

repatriation to theU.S., it is expected that suchearningswouldbesubject tonon-U.S.withholding taxesoffset, inwholeor

in part, by U.S. foreign tax credits.

TheCompany recognizes the taxbenefit fromanuncertain taxpositiononly if it is at leastmore likely thannot that the tax

positionwill be sustained on examination by the taxing authorities based on the technical merits of the position. The tax

benefits recognized in the financial statements fromsuch aposition aremeasuredbasedon the largest benefit that has a

greater than fifty percent likelihood of being realized upon settlement with the taxing authorities.

Potential volatility in theeffective tax rate fromyear toyearmayoccuras theCompany is requiredeachyear todetermine

whether new information changes the assessment of both the probability that a tax positionwill effectively be sustained

and the appropriateness of the amount of recognized benefit.

The Company also accrues for certain other taxes as required by its operations.

Judgment is required in determining the provision for income and other taxes and related accruals, and deferred tax

assets and liabilities. In the ordinary course of business, there are transactions and calculations where the ultimate tax

outcome is uncertain. Additionally, the Company's various tax returns are subject to audit by various tax authorities.

Although the Company believes that its estimates are reasonable, actual results could differ from these estimates.
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QUANTITATIVEAND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES
ABOUTMARKETRISK

Ourexposure tomarket risk forchanges in interest rates relatesprimarily toour investmentsecuritiesandtheABLFacility.As

of February 26, 2022, our investments include cash and cash equivalents of approximately $439.5 million, restricted cash of

$31.4million,and longterminvestments inauctionratesecuritiesofapproximately$19.2million,atweightedaverage interest

ratesof0.01%and0.30%, respectively.Thebookvalueof these investments is representativeof their fair values.

Our senior unsecurednoteshave fixed interest rates andarenot subject to interest rate risk. Asof February26, 2022, the

fair valueof the senior unsecurednoteswas$956.0million,which is basedonquotedprices in activemarkets for identical

instruments compared to the carrying value of approximately $1.184 billion.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report andManagement’s Discussion andAnalysis of Financial Condition and Results ofOperations contain

forward-looking statementswithin themeaning of Section 21Eof theSecurities ExchangeAct of 1934 including, but not

limitedto,ourprogressandanticipatedprogresstowardsour long-termobjectives,aswell asmoregenerally thestatusof

our future liquidity and financial condition and our outlook for our 2022 Fiscal year. Many of these forward-looking

statements can be identified by use of words such as may, will, expect, anticipate, approximate, estimate, assume,

continue,model,project,plan,goal,preliminary,andsimilarwordsandphrases,althoughtheabsenceofthosewordsdoes

notnecessarilymeanthatstatementsarenot forward-looking.Ouractual resultsandfuture financial conditionmaydiffer

materially fromthoseexpressed inanysuch forward-lookingstatementsasa resultofmany factors.Such factors include,

without limitation: general economic conditions including the recent supply chain disruptions, labor shortages, wage

pressures, rising inflation and the ongoing military conflict between Russia and Ukraine; a challenging overall

macroeconomic environment and a highly competitive retailing environment; risks associatedwith the ongoingCOVID-

19 pandemic and the governmental responses to it, including its impacts across our businesses on demand and

operations, as well as on the operations of our suppliers and other business partners, and the effectiveness of our and

governmental actions taken in response to these risks; changing consumer preferences, spending habits and

demographics; demographics and other macroeconomic factors that may impact the level of spending for the types of

merchandise sold by us; challenges in executing our omni-channel and transformation strategy, including our ability to

establish and profitablymaintain the appropriatemix of digital and physical presence in themarkets we serve; our ability

to successfully execute our store fleet optimization strategies, including our ability to achieve anticipated cost savings

andtonotexceedanticipatedcosts;ourability toexecuteonanyadditional strategic transactionsandrealize thebenefits

of any acquisitions, partnerships, investments or divestitures; disruptions to our information technology systems,

including but not limited to security breaches of systems protecting consumer and employee information or other types

of cybercrimes or cybersecurity attacks; damage to our reputation in any aspect of our operations; the cost of labor,

merchandise, logistical costs andother costs and expenses; potential supply chain disruption due to trade restrictions or

otherwise, andother factors suchasnatural disasters, pandemics, including theCOVID-19pandemic, political instability,

labor disturbances, product recalls, financial or operational instability of suppliers or carriers, and other items; inflation

and the related increases in costs of materials, labor and other costs; inefficient management of relationships and

dependencies on third-party service providers; our ability to attract and retain qualified employees in all areas of the

organization; unusual weather patterns and natural disasters, including the impact of climate change; uncertainty and

disruptions in financialmarkets; volatility in the price of our common stock and its effect, and the effect of other factors,

including the COVID-19 pandemic, on our capital allocation strategy; changes to statutory, regulatory and other legal

requirements or deemednoncompliancewith such requirements; changes to accounting rules, regulations and tax laws,

or new interpretationsof existing accounting standardsor tax laws; new, or developments in existing, litigation, claimsor

assessments; and a failure of our business partners to adhere to appropriate laws, regulations or standards. A further

descriptionof theseandother risks anduncertainties canbe found in theCompany’sAnnual Report onForm10-K for the

year ended February 26, 2022. Except as required by law, we do not undertake any obligation to update our forward-

looking statements.

Acopyof theCompany’s2021Form10-K, as filedwith theSEC,maybeobtained fromthe InvestorRelationsDepartment

at the corporate headquarters of the Company, located at 650 Liberty Avenue, Union, NJ 07083 or by emailing

ir@bedbath.com.
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BED BATH & BEYOND INC.AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands, except per share data)

February 26,
2022

February 27,
2021

Assets

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 439,496 $ 1,352,984

Merchandise inventories 1,725,410 1,671,909

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 198,248 595,152

Total current assets 2,363,154 3,620,045

Long term investment securities 19,212 19,545

Property and equipment, net 1,027,387 918,418

Operating lease assets 1,562,857 1,587,101

Other assets 157,962 311,821

Total assets $ 5,130,572 $ 6,456,930

Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 872,445 $ 986,045

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 529,371 636,329

Merchandise credit and gift card liabilities 326,465 312,486

Current operating lease liabilities 346,506 360,061

Total current liabilities 2,074,787 2,294,921

Other liabilities 102,438 82,279

Operating lease liabilities 1,508,002 1,509,767

Income taxes payable 91,424 102,664

Long term debt 1,179,776 1,190,363

Total liabilities 4,956,427 5,179,994

Shareholders' equity:

Preferred stock - $0.01 par value; authorized - 1,000 shares; no shares issued or

outstanding — —

Common stock - $0.01 par value; authorized - 900,000 shares; issued 344,146 and

343,241, respectively; outstanding 81,979 and 109,621 shares, respectively 3,441 3,432

Additional paid-in capital 2,235,894 2,152,135

Retained earnings 9,666,091 10,225,253

Treasury stock, at cost; 262,167 and 233,620 shares, respectively (11,685,267) (11,048,284)

Accumulated other comprehensive loss (46,014) (55,600)

Total shareholders' equity 174,145 1,276,936

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity $ 5,130,572 $ 6,456,930

See accompanyingNotes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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BED BATH & BEYOND INC.AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Operations
(in thousands, except per share data)

Fiscal Year Ended

February 26, 2022 February 27, 2021 February 29, 2020

Net sales $7,867,778 $9,233,028 $11,158,580

Cost of sales 5,384,287 6,114,947 7,616,920

Gross profit 2,483,491 3,118,081 3,541,660

Selling, general and administrative expenses 2,692,292 3,224,363 3,732,498

Impairments, including on assets held for sale 36,531 127,341 509,226

Restructuring and transformation initiative expenses 144,025 102,202 —

Loss on sale of businesses 18,221 1,062 —

Operating loss (407,578) (336,887) (700,064)

Interest expense, net 64,702 76,913 64,789

Loss (gain) on extinguishment of debt 376 (77,038) —

Loss before provision (benefit) from income taxes (472,656) (336,762) (764,853)

Provision (benefit) from income taxes 86,967 (185,989) (151,037)

Net loss $ (559,623) $ (150,773) $ (613,816)

Net loss per share - Basic $ (5.64) $ (1.24) $ (4.94)

Net loss per share - Diluted $ (5.64) $ (1.24) $ (4.94)

Weighted average shares outstanding - Basic 99,249 121,446 124,352

Weighted average shares outstanding - Diluted 99,249 121,446 124,352

Dividends declared per share $ — $ — $ 0.68

See accompanyingNotes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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BED BATH & BEYOND INC.AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss
(in thousands)

Fiscal Year Ended

February 26,
2022

February 27,
2021

February 29,
2020

Net loss $(559,623) $(150,773) $(613,816)

Other comprehensive (loss) income:

Change in temporary impairment of auction rate securities, net of tax (251) (617) 276

Pension adjustment, net of tax (1,562) (1,396) (4,791)

Reclassification adjustment on settlement of the pension plan, net of tax 9,938 1,522 —

Currency translation adjustment 1,461 9,800 (1,784)

Other comprehensive income (loss) 9,586 9,309 (6,299)

Comprehensive loss $(550,037) $(141,464) $(620,115)

See accompanyingNotes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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BED BATH & BEYOND INC.AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity
(in thousands)

CommonStock
Additional

Paid- in
Capital

Retained
Earnings

Treasury Stock

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss TotalShares Amount Shares Amount

Balance atMarch 2, 2019 342,582 $3,426 $2,118,673 $11,112,887 (210,349) $(10,616,045) $(58,610) $2,560,331
Net loss — — — (613,816) — — — (613,816)
Other comprehensive loss, net

of tax — — — — — — (6,299) (6,299)
Effect of Adoption of ASU 2016-

02 — — — (40,700) — — — (40,700)
Dividends declared — — — (83,545) — — — (83,545)
Shares sold under employee

stock option plans, net of tax 139 1 2,345 — — — — 2,346
Issuance of restricted shares,

net 370 4 (4) — — — — —
Payment and vesting of

performance stock units 580 5 (5) — — — — —
Stock-based compensation

expense, net — — 46,159 — — — — 46,159
Director fees paid in stock 12 — 169 — — — — 169
Repurchase of common stock,

including fees — — — — (6,806) (99,710) — (99,710)

Balance at February 29, 2020 343,683 3,436 2,167,337 10,374,826 (217,155) (10,715,755) (64,909) 1,764,935
Net loss — — — (150,773) — — — (150,773)
Other comprehensive income,

net of tax — — — — — — 9,309 9,309
Dividends forfeited — — — 1,200 — — — 1,200
Forfeiture of restricted shares,

net (786) (8) 8 — — — — —
Payment and vesting of

performance stock units 344 4 (4) — — — — —
Stock-based compensation

expense, net — — 32,344 — — — — 32,344
Accelerated share repurchase

program — — (47,550) — (15,833) (327,450) — (375,000)
Repurchase of common stock,

including fees — — — — (632) (5,079) — (5,079)

Balance at February 27, 2021 343,241 3,432 2,152,135 10,225,253 (233,620) (11,048,284) (55,600) 1,276,936
Net loss — — — (559,623) — — — (559,623)
Other comprehensive income,

net of tax — — — — — — 9,586 9,586
Dividends forfeited — — — 461 — — — 461
Issuance of restricted shares,

net 624 6 (6) — — — — —
Payment and vesting of

performance stock units 274 3 (3) — — — — —
Stock-based compensation

expense, net — — 36,080 — — — — 36,080
Accelerated share repurchase

program — — 47,550 — (200) (47,550) — —
Director fees paid in stock 7 — 138 — — — — 138
Repurchase of common stock,

including fees — — — — (28,347) (589,433) — (589,433)

Balance at February 26, 2022 344,146 $3,441 $2,235,894 $ 9,666,091 (262,167) $(11,685,267) $(46,014) $ 174,145

See accompanyingNotes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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BED BATH & BEYOND INC.AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands)

Fiscal Year Ended
February 26,

2022
February 27,

2021
February 29,

2020

Cash Flows fromOperating Activities:
Net loss $ (559,623) $ (150,773) $ (613,816)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by

operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 293,626 340,912 342,511
Impairments, including on assets held for sale 36,531 127,341 509,226
Stock-based compensation 35,061 31,594 45,676
Deferred income taxes 125,711 148,741 (145,543)
Loss on sale of businesses 18,221 1,062 —
Loss (gain) on debt extinguishment 376 (77,038) —
Loss on sale leaseback transaction — — 27,357
Other (8,298) (396) (3,446)
Decrease (increase) in assets:

Merchandise inventories (53,339) 64,947 506,334
Other current assets 387,746 (387,172) (4,781)
Other assets 607 1,519 239

Increase (decrease) in liabilities:
Accounts payable (132,785) 168,556 (124,206)
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities (100,356) 15,538 61,864
Merchandise credit and gift card liabilities 13,981 (12,110) 1,154
Income taxes payable (11,257) 54,958 (22,783)
Operating lease assets and liabilities, net (14,162) (32,813) (2,899)
Other liabilities (14,186) (26,758) 14,054

Net cash provided by operating activities 17,854 268,108 590,941

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Purchases of held-to-maturity investment securities (29,997) — (443,500)
Redemption of held-to-maturity investment securities 30,000 386,500 545,000
Net proceeds from sales of businesses — 534,457 —
Net proceeds from sales of property 5,000 — —
Proceeds from sale-leaseback transaction — — 267,277
Capital expenditures (354,185) (183,077) (277,401)

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (349,182) 737,880 91,376

Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Borrowing of long-term debt — 236,400 —
Repayments of long-term debt (11,360) (457,827) —
Repayments of finance leases (1,033) — —
Prepayment under share repurchase agreement — (47,550) —
Repurchase of common stock, including fees (589,433) (332,529) (99,710)
Payment of dividends (749) (23,108) (85,482)
Payment of deferred financing fees (3,443) (7,690) —
Proceeds from exercise of stock options — — 2,346

Net cash used in financing activities (606,018) (632,304) (182,846)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents,

and restricted cash 1,006 5,075 (977)

Net (decrease) increase in cash, cash equivalents and

restricted cash (936,340) 378,759 498,494
Change in cash balances classified as held-for-sale — 4,815 (4,815)

Net (decrease) increase in cash, cash equivalents and

restricted cash (936,340) 383,574 493,679
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash:

Beginning of period 1,407,224 1,023,650 529,971

End of period $ 470,884 $1,407,224 $1,023,650

See accompanyingNotes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Bed Bath & Beyond Inc. and Subsidiaries

1. SUMMARYOFSIGNIFICANTACCOUNTING POLICIESAND
RELATED MATTERS

A. Nature ofOperations

BedBath&Beyond Inc. and subsidiaries (the ‘‘Company’’) is an omni-channel retailer thatmakes it easy for its customers

to feel at home.TheCompanysells awideassortmentofmerchandise in theHome,Baby,Beauty&Wellnessmarkets and

operatesunder thenamesBedBath&Beyond (‘‘BBB’’), buybuyBABY (‘‘BABY’’), andHarmon,HarmonFaceValues,orFace

Values (collectively, ‘‘Harmon’’).Customerscanpurchaseproductseither in-store,online,withamobiledeviceor through

a customer contact center. The Company generally has the ability to have customer purchases picked up in-store,

curbside or shipped direct to the customer from the Company’s distribution facilities, stores or vendors. The Company

alsooperatesDecorist (‘‘Decorist’’), anonline interiordesignplatformthatprovidespersonalizedhomedesignservices. In

addition, the Company is a partner in a joint venture which operates retail stores in Mexico under the name Bed Bath &

Beyond.

We offer a broad assortment of national brands and a growing assortment of proprietary Owned Brand merchandise –

includingeight newOwnedBrands launched in Fiscal 2021– in keydestination categories includingbedding, bath, kitchen

food prep, home organization, indoor décor, baby and personal care.

Weaccount forouroperationsasoneNorthAmericanRetail reportingsegment. InFiscal2020and2019,weaccountedfor

ouroperationsas twooperatingsegments:NorthAmericanRetail and Institutional Sales, the latterofwhichwasdivested

inOctober2020, didnotmeet thequantitative thresholdsunderGAAPand, therefore,wasnota reportable segment.Net

sales outside of theU.S. for theCompanywere notmaterial for Fiscal 2021, 2020, and 2019. As theCompany operates in

the retail industry, its results of operations are affected by general economic conditions and consumer spending habits.

B. Fiscal Year

The Company’s Fiscal year is comprised of the 52 or 53-week period ending on the Saturday nearest February 28th.

Accordingly, Fiscal 2021,Fiscal 2020, andFiscal 2019 represented52weeksandendedonFebruary26,2022,February27,

2021, and February 29, 2020, respectively.

C. Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned

subsidiaries. The Company accounts for its investment in the joint venture referred to above under the equitymethod.

All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

D. Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In March 2020, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (‘‘FASB’’) issued ASU 2020-04 Reference Rate Reform

(Topic 848): Facilitation of the Effects of Reference Rate Reform on Financial Reporting. The amendment provides

optional guidance for a limitedperiodof time toease thepotential burden in accounting for (or recognizing theeffectsof)

reference rate reform on contracts, hedging relationships and other transactions that reference LIBOR. These updates

are effective immediately and may be applied prospectively to contract modifications made and hedging relationships

entered into or evaluated on or before December 31, 2022. The Company is currently evaluating its contracts and the

optional expedients providedby this update, but does not expect the adoptionof this guidance tohave amaterial impact

to the financial statements.

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU No. 2019-12, Income Taxes, to simplify the accounting for income taxes. The

guidance eliminates certain exceptions related to the approach for intraperiod tax allocations, the methodology for

calculating income taxes in an interim period, and the recognition of deferred tax liabilities for outside basis differences

related to changes in ownership of equity method investments and foreign subsidiaries. The guidance also simplifies

aspects of accounting for franchise taxes, enacted changes in tax laws or rates and clarifies the accounting for

transactions that result in a step-up in the tax basis of goodwill. The standard is effective for fiscal years beginning after
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December 15, 2020 and interim periods within those fiscal years with early adoption permitted. The Company adopted

this standard in Fiscal 2021; upon adoption, this guidance did not have a material impact on its consolidated financial

statements.

E. Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles

requires the Company to establish accounting policies and to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported

amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the consolidated

financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. The Company

bases its estimates on historical experience and on other assumptions that it believes to be relevant under the

circumstances, the results ofwhich form the basis formaking judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities

that are not readily apparent from other sources. In particular, judgment is used in areas such as inventory valuation,

impairment of long-lived assets, impairment of auction rate securities, goodwill and other indefinite lived intangible

assets, accruals for self-insurance, litigation, store opening, expansion, relocation and closing costs, the provision for

sales returns, vendor allowances, stock-based compensation and income and certain other taxes. Actual results could

differ from these estimates.

F. Cash andCash Equivalents

TheCompany considers all highly liquid instrumentspurchasedwithoriginalmaturities of threemonthsor less tobe cash

equivalents. Included in cash and cash equivalents are credit and debit card receivables from banks, which typically settle

within five business days, of $47.9million and $64.0million as of February 26, 2022 and February 27, 2021, respectively.

Short-term restricted cash was zero and $5.0million as of February 26, 2022 and February 27, 2021, respectively, and is

included in prepaid expenses and other current assets on the consolidated balance sheet. Long-term restricted cash of

$31.4million and $49.2million as of February 26, 2022 and February 27, 2021, respectively, is included in other long-term

assets on the consolidated balance sheet.

G. Investment Securities

Investment securities consist primarily of auction rate securities, which are securities with interest rates that reset

periodically through an auction process, and U.S. Treasury Bills, when outstanding. The U.S. Treasury Bills with original

maturities of greater than three months were classified as short term held-to-maturity securities and stated at their

amortized costwhich approximated fair value. Auction rate securities are classified as available-for-sale and are stated at

fair value, which had historically been consistent with cost or par value due to interest rates which reset periodically,

typically every 7, 28 or 35 days. As a result, there generally were no cumulative gross unrealized holding gains or losses

relating to these auction rate securities. However, during the global financial crisis of 2008 the auction process for the

Company’s auction rate securities failed and continues to fail. These failed auctions result in a lack of liquidity in the

securities and affect their estimated fair values at February 26, 2022 and February 27, 2021, but do not affect the

underlying collateral of the securities (see ‘‘Fair Value Measurements,’’ Note 4 and ‘‘Investment Securities,’’ Note 5). All

income from these investments is recorded as interest income.

Those investment securitieswhich theCompany has the ability and intent to hold untilmaturity are classified as held-to-

maturity investments and are stated at amortized cost.

Premiums are amortized and discounts are accreted over the life of the security as adjustments to interest incomeusing

the effective interestmethod. Dividend and interest income are recognizedwhen earned.

H. Inventory Valuation

Merchandise inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. Inventory costs are primarily calculated using the

weighted average retail inventorymethod.

Under the retail inventorymethod, the valuation of inventories at cost and the resulting grossmargins are calculated by

applyingacost-to-retail ratio to the retail valuesof inventories.The inputsassociatedwithdeterminingthecost-to-retail

ratio include: merchandise purchases, net of returns to vendors, discounts and volume and incentive rebates; inbound

freight expenses; and import charges, including duties, insurance and commissions.

NOTESTO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIALSTATEMENTS
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The retail inventory method contains certain management judgments that may affect inventory valuation. At any one

time, inventories include items that have been written down to the Company’s best estimate of their realizable value.

Judgment is required in estimating realizable value and factors considered are the age of merchandise, anticipated

demand based on factors such as customer preferences and fashion trends, and anticipated changes in product

assortment (including related to the launch of Owned Brands) as well as anticipated markdowns to reduce the price of

merchandise from its recorded retail price to a retail price atwhich it is expected to be sold in the future. These estimates

are based on historical experience and current information about future events which are inherently uncertain. Actual

realizable value could differ materially from this estimate based upon future customer demand or economic conditions,

including uncertainty related to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic (see ‘‘Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic,’’ Note 2).

The Company estimates its reserve for inventory shrinkage throughout the year based on historical shrinkage and any

current trends, if applicable. Actual shrinkage is recorded at fiscal year end based upon the results of the Company’s

physical inventory counts for locations at which counts were conducted. For locations where physical inventory counts

were not conducted in the fiscal year, an estimated shrink reserve is recorded based on historical shrinkage and any

current trends, if applicable. Historically, the Company’s shrinkage has not been volatile.

The Company accrues for merchandise in transit once it takes legal ownership and title to the merchandise; as such, an

estimate formerchandise in transit is included in the Company’smerchandise inventories.

I. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost and are depreciated primarily using the straight-line method over the

estimated useful lives of the assets (40 years for buildings; 5 to 20 years for furniture, fixtures and equipment; and 3 to

10 years for computer equipment and software). Leasehold improvements are amortized using the straight-linemethod

overthe lesserof theirestimateduseful lifeor the lifeof the lease.Depreciationexpense isprimarily includedwithinselling,

general and administrative expenses. (see ‘‘Property and Equipment,’’ Note 6).

The cost of maintenance and repairs is charged to earnings as incurred; significant renewals and betterments are

capitalized. Maintenance and repairs amounted to $80.0million, $117.7million, and $133.9million for Fiscal 2021, 2020,

and 2019, respectively.

J. Impairment of Long-LivedAssets

The Company reviews long-lived assets for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying

value of these assets may exceed their current fair values. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a

comparisonofthecarryingamountofanassettotheestimatedundiscountedfuturecashflowsexpectedtobegenerated

by the asset. If the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated future cash flows, an impairment charge is

recognized for the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the fair value of the asset. Assets to be

disposed of would be separately presented in the balance sheet and reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair

value lesscosts tosell, andareno longerdepreciated.Theassetsand liabilitiesofadisposalgroupclassifiedasheld forsale

are separately presented in theappropriate asset and liability sectionsof thebalance sheet (see ‘‘AssetsHeld forSale and

Divestitures,’’ Note 16). In Fiscal 2021 and Fiscal 2020, the Company recorded non-cash pre-tax impairment charges of

$30.8 million and $92.9 million, respectively, for certain store-level assets, including leasehold improvements and

operating lease assets. In the future, if events or market conditions affect the estimated fair value to the extent that a

long-livedasset is impaired, theCompanywill adjust thecarryingvalueof these long-livedassets in theperiod inwhich the

impairment occurs.

K Goodwill andOther Indefinite Lived Intangible Assets

Included within other assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets as of February 26, 2022 and February 27,

2021, respectively, are $16.3million and $22.0million for indefinite lived tradenames and trademarks.

TheCompanyreviews its intangibleassets thathave indefinite lives for impairmentannuallyasof theendof the fiscal year

or when events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value of these assets might exceed their current fair

values. Impairment testing isbaseduponthebest informationavailable includingestimatesof fair valuewhich incorporate

assumptions marketplace participants would use in making their estimates of fair value. Significant assumptions and

estimatesare required, including, butnot limited to, projecting future cash flows, determiningappropriatediscount rates

and terminal growth rates, and other assumptions, to estimate the fair value of goodwill and indefinite lived intangible
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assets. Although the Company believes the assumptions and estimatesmade are reasonable and appropriate, different

assumptions and estimates couldmaterially impact its reported financial results.

Other indefinite lived intangible assetswere recorded as a result of acquisitions andprimarily consist of tradenames. The

Company values its tradenames using a relief-from-royalty approach, which assumes the value of the tradename is the

discounted cash flows of the amount that would be paid by a hypothetical market participant had they not owned the

tradename and instead licensed the tradename from another company. For the fiscal years ended February 26, 2022,

February 27, 2021, and February 29, 2020, the Company completed a quantitative impairment analysis for certain other

indefinite lived intangible assets, by comparing the fair value of the tradenames to their carrying value and recognized

non-cash pre-tax tradename impairment charges of $5.7 million, $35.1 million, and $41.8 million, respectively, within

goodwill and other impairments in the consolidated statement of operations. As of February 26, 2022, for the remaining

other indefinite lived intangible assets, the Company assessed qualitative factors in order to determine whether any

events and circumstances existed which indicated that it was more likely than not that the fair value of these other

indefinite lived assets did not exceed their carrying values and concluded no such events or circumstances existedwhich

would require an impairment test be performed. In the future, if events or market conditions affect the estimated fair

value to the extent that an asset is impaired, the Company will adjust the carrying value of these assets in the period in

which the impairment occurs.

AsofJune1,2019, theCompanycompletedaquantitative impairmentanalysisofgoodwill relatedto its reportingunitsby

comparing the fair value of a reporting unit with its carrying amount. The Company performed a discounted cash flow

analysis and market multiple analysis for each reporting unit. Based upon the analysis performed, the Company

recognizednon-cashpre-tax goodwill impairment chargesof $391.1million for theNorthAmericanRetail reporting unit.

Cumulatively, the Company has recognized non-cash pre-tax goodwill impairment charges of $676.2 million and

$40.1million for theNorthAmericanRetail and InstitutionalSales reportingunits, respectively.The InstitutionalSalesunit

was divested in October 2020. As of February 26, 2022 and February 27, 2021, the Company did not have any goodwill

recorded on its consolidated balance sheet.

L. Self-Insurance

The Company utilizes a combination of insurance and self-insurance for a number of risks including workers’

compensation, general liability, cyber liability, property liability, automobile liability and employee related health care

benefits (aportionofwhich ispaidby itsemployees). Liabilitiesassociatedwith the risks that theCompany retainsarenot

discounted and are estimated by considering historical claims experience, demographic factors, severity factors and

other actuarial assumptions. Although the Company’s claims experience has not displayed substantial volatility in the

past, actual experience could materially vary from its historical experience in the future. Factors that affect these

estimates includebut arenot limited to: inflation, thenumberandseverityof claimsand regulatory changes. In the future,

if the Company concludes an adjustment to self-insurance accruals is required, the liability will be adjusted accordingly.

Beginning in the fourth quarter of Fiscal 2020, the Company began insuring portions of its workers' compensation and

medical insurance through a wholly owned captive insurance subsidiary (the ‘‘Captive’’) to enhance its risk financing

strategies. The Captive is subject to regulations in Vermont, including those relating to its levels of liquidity and other

requirements. TheCaptive was in compliancewith all regulations as of February 26, 2022.

M. Shareholders’ Equity

The Company has authorization to make repurchases of its common shares from time to time in the open market or

through other programs approved by the Board of Directors pursuant to existing rules and regulations

(see ‘‘Shareholders' Equity,’’ Note 14).

N. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company’s financial instruments include cash and cash equivalents, investment securities, accounts payable, long

termdebt and certain other liabilities. TheCompany’s investment securities consist primarily of U.S. Treasury securities,

whicharestatedatamortizedcost,andauctionratesecuritiesconsistingofpreferredsharesofclosedendmunicipalbond

funds, which are stated at their approximate fair value. The book value of the financial instruments, excluding the

Company’s long term debt, is representative of their fair values (see ‘‘Fair ValueMeasurements,’’ Note 4).
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O. Leases

TheCompanydetermines if an arrangement is a leaseor contains a leaseat the inceptionof thecontract. TheCompany’s

leases generally contain fixed and variable components. Variable components are primarily contingent rents based upon

store sales exceeding stipulated amounts. Lease agreements may also include non-lease components, such as certain

taxes, insuranceandcommonareamaintenance,which theCompanycombineswith the leasecomponent toaccount for

both as a single lease component. Lease liabilities, which represent the Company’s obligation to make lease payments

arising from the lease, and corresponding right-of-use assets, which represent theCompany’s right to use an underlying

asset for the lease term, are recognized at the commencement dateof the lease,which is typically the date theCompany

obtains possession of the leased premises, based on the present value of fixed future payments over the lease term. The

Company utilizes the lease term for which it is reasonably certain to use the underlying asset, including consideration of

options to extend or terminate the lease. Incentives received from landlords are recorded as a reduction to the lease

right-of-use assets. The Company does not recognize lease right-of-use assets and corresponding lease liabilities for

leaseswith initial terms of 12months or less.

TheCompany calculates the present value of future payments using the discount rate implicit in the lease, if available, or

its incremental borrowing rate. The incremental borrowing rate is the rate of interest that a lessee would have to pay to

borrow on a collateralized basis over a similar term at an amount equal to the lease payments in a similar economic

environment. The Company determined discount rates based on the rates of its unsecured borrowings, which are then

adjusted for the appropriate lease termandeffectsof full collateralization. In determining theCompany's operating lease

assets and operating lease liabilities, the Company applied these incremental borrowing rates to the minimum lease

payments within each lease agreement.

For operating leases, lease expense relating to fixed payments is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term

and lease expense relating to variable payments is expensed as incurred. For finance leases, the amortizationof the asset

is recognized over the shorter of the lease termor useful life of the underlying asset (see ‘‘Leases,’’ Note 10).

P. Prepaid Expenses andOther Current Assets

Prepaidexpensesandother current assets in theaccompanyingconsolidatedbalance sheets asof February26, 2022and

February 27, 2021, respectively, are $198.2 million and $595.2 million, which includes income tax receivables as of

February 26, 2022 and February 27, 2021 of $26.5 million and $318.1 million, respectively (see ‘‘Provision for Income

Taxes,’’ Note 8).

Q. Revenue Recognition

Salesare recognizeduponpurchasebycustomersat theCompany’s retail storesorupondelivery forproductspurchased

from itswebsites.Thevalueofpoint-of-sale couponsandpoint-of-sale rebates that result in a reductionof thepricepaid

by the customer are recorded as a reduction of sales. Shipping and handling fees that are billed to a customer in a sale

transaction are recorded in sales. Taxes, such as sales tax, use tax and value added tax, are not included in sales.

Revenues from gift cards, gift certificates and merchandise credits are recognized when redeemed. Gift cards have no

provisions for reduction in the value of unused card balances over defined time periods and have no expiration dates. In

Fiscal 2021 and Fiscal 2020, the Company recognized net sales for gift card and merchandise credit redemptions of

approximately $72.3 million and $98.0 million, which were included in merchandise credit and gift card liabilities on the

consolidated balance sheet as of February 27, 2021 and February 29, 2020, respectively.

Sales returns are provided for in the period that the related sales are recorded based on historical experience. Although

the estimate for sales returns has not varied materially from historical provisions, actual experience could vary from

historical experience in the future if the level of sales return activity changes materially. In the future, if the Company

concludes that an adjustment is requireddue tomaterial changes in the returns activity, the liability for estimated returns

and the corresponding right of return asset will be adjusted accordingly. As of February 26, 2022 and February 27, 2021,

the liability for estimated returns of $23.6 million and $36.2 million is included in accrued expenses and other current

liabilities and the corresponding right of return asset for merchandise of $14.6 million and $23.4 million, respectively, is

included in prepaid expenses and other current assets, respectively.

TheCompanysells awideassortmentofdomesticsmerchandiseandhomefurnishings.Domesticsmerchandise includes

categoriessuchasbed linensandrelated items,bath itemsandkitchentextiles.Homefurnishings includecategoriessuch
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as kitchen and tabletop items, fine tabletop, basic housewares, general home furnishings (including furniture and wall

décor), consumables and certain juvenile products. Sales of domesticsmerchandise and home furnishings accounted for

approximately37.4%and62.6%ofnet sales, respectively, for Fiscal 2021, 34.7%and65.3%ofnet sales, respectively, for

Fiscal 2020 and 35.2% and 64.8%of net sales, respectively, for Fiscal 2019.

R. Cost of Sales

Cost of sales includes the cost of merchandise, buying costs and costs of the Company’s distribution network including

inbound freight charges, import charges (including duties), distribution facility costs, receiving costs, internal transfer

costs and shipping and handling costs.

S. Vendor Allowances

The Company receives allowances from vendors in the normal course of business for various reasons including direct

cooperative advertising, purchase volume and reimbursement for other expenses. Annual terms for each allowance

include the basis for earning the allowance and payment terms, which vary by agreement. All vendor allowances are

recorded as a reduction of inventory cost, except for direct cooperative advertising allowances which are specific,

incremental and identifiable. The Company recognizes purchase volume allowances as a reduction of the cost of

inventory in the quarter in which milestones are achieved. Advertising costs were reduced by direct cooperative

allowances of $35.8million, $28.9million, and $30.9million for Fiscal 2021, 2020, and 2019, respectively.

T. StoreOpening, Expansion, Relocation andClosingCosts

Store opening, expansion, relocation and closing costs, including markdowns, asset residual values and projected

occupancy costs, are charged to earnings as incurred.

U. AdvertisingCosts

Advertising expenses related to direct response advertising are expensed on the first day of the direct response

advertising event. All other advertising expenses associated with store advertising are charged to earnings as incurred.

Net advertising costs amounted to $407.1 million, $347.8 million, and $478.5 million for Fiscal 2021, 2020, and 2019,

respectively.

V. Stock-BasedCompensation

The Company measures all employee stock-based compensation awards using a fair value method and records such

expense, net of estimated forfeitures, in its consolidated financial statements. The Company’s stock-based

compensation relates to restricted stock awards, stock options, restricted stock units and performance stock units. The

Company’s restricted stock awards are considered nonvested share awards (see ‘‘Stock-Based Compensation,’’

Note 15).

W. IncomeTaxes

TheCompanyfilesaconsolidated federal incometax return. Incometax returnsarealso filedwitheachtaxable jurisdiction

in which the Company conducts business.

The Company accounts for its income taxes using the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are

recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to the differences between the financial statement carrying

amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and operating loss and tax credit carry-forwards.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities aremeasuredusingenacted tax ratesexpected toapply to taxable income in theyear in

which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and

liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in earnings in the period that includes the enactment date.

In assessing the recoverability of its deferred tax assets, the Company evaluates the available objective positive and

negative evidence to estimatewhether it ismore likely than not that sufficient future taxable incomewill be generated to

permituseofexistingdeferredtaxassets ineachtaxpaying jurisdiction.Foranydeferredtaxasset inexcessof theamount

forwhich it ismore likely than not that theCompanywill realize a benefit, a valuation allowance is established. A valuation

allowance is a non-cash charge, and does not limit the Company's ability to utilize its deferred tax assets, including its

ability to utilize tax loss and credit carryforward amounts against future taxable income.
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OnDecember22,2017, theU.S.governmentenactedcomprehensivetax legislationcommonly referredtoastheTaxAct.

The Tax Act included a mandatory one-time tax on accumulated earnings of foreign subsidiaries, and as a result, all

previously unremitted earnings for which noU.S. deferred tax liability had been previously accrued has now been subject

to U.S. tax. Notwithstanding the U.S. taxation of these amounts, the Company intends to continue to reinvest the

unremitted earnings of its Canadian subsidiary. Accordingly, no additional provision has beenmade for U.S. or additional

non-U.S. taxes with respect to these earnings, except for the transition tax resulting from the Tax Act. In the event of

repatriation to theU.S., it is expected that suchearningswouldbesubject tonon-U.S.withholding taxesoffset, inwholeor

in part, by U.S. foreign tax credits.

TheCompany recognizes the taxbenefit fromanuncertain taxpositiononly if it is at leastmore likely thannot that the tax

positionwill be sustained on examination by the taxing authorities based on the technical merits of the position. The tax

benefits recognized in the financial statements fromsuch aposition aremeasuredbasedon the largest benefit that has a

greater than fifty percent likelihood of being realized upon settlement with the taxing authorities.

Judgment is required in determining the provision for income and other taxes and related accruals, and deferred tax

assets and liabilities. In the ordinary course of business, there are transactions and calculations where the ultimate tax

outcome is uncertain. Additionally, the Company's various tax returns are subject to audit by various tax authorities.

Although the Company believes that its estimates are reasonable, actual results could differ from these estimates (see

‘‘Provision for IncomeTaxes’’, Note 8).

X. Earnings per Share

The Company presents earnings per share on a basic and diluted basis. Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing

net earnings by theweighted average number of shares outstanding. Diluted earnings per share is computed by dividing

net earnings by theweighted average number of shares outstanding, including the dilutive effect of stock-based awards

as calculated under the treasury stockmethod.

Stock-based awards of approximately 2.9million, 2.4million, and 5.4million shareswere excluded from the computation

of diluted earnings per share as the effect would be anti-dilutive for Fiscal 2021, 2020, and 2019, respectively.

2. IMPACTOFTHE COVID-19 PANDEMIC

InMarch 2020, theWorld HealthOrganization declared theCOVID-19 outbreak a global pandemic. That samemonth, as

a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Company began to temporarily close certain store locations that did not have a

health and personal care department, and as of March 23, 2020, all of the Company's retail stores across the U.S. and

Canadawere temporarily closedexcept formoststand-alonebuybuyBABYandHarmonstores, subject tostateand local

regulations. In May 2020, the Company announced a phased approach to re-open its stores in compliance with relevant

government directives, and as of the end of July 2020, nearly all of its stores re-opened. During portions of Fiscal 2021, a

limited number of stores in Canada either closed temporarily or continued to operate under restrictions in compliance

with local governmental orders. As of February 26, 2022, all of the Company's stores were operating without restriction

subject to compliancewith applicablemask and vaccine requirements.

In the first half of Fiscal 2020, the Company had also suspended its plans for debt reduction and postponed share

repurchases, but lifted the debt repurchase suspension in August 2020 and the postponement of share repurchases in

October 2020.

Similar to other retailers, the Company also withheld portions of and/or delayed payments to certain of its business

partners as the Company negotiated revisions to its payment terms, in order to further maintain liquidity given the

temporary store closures (see ‘‘Leases,’’ Note 10).

Further, onMarch27, 2020, theCoronavirusAid, Relief, andEconomicSecurityAct (the ‘‘CARESAct’’) was enacted in the

United States. The CARES Act is an emergency economic aid package to help mitigate the impact of the COVID-19

pandemic. Among other things, the CARES Act provides certain changes to tax laws, which may impact the Company's

results of operations, financial position and cash flows. TheCompany is currently implementing certain provisions of the

CARES Act such as deferring employer payroll taxes. As of February 27, 2021, the Company had deferred $3.1million of

employer payroll taxes, whichwere deposited byDecember 2021. In addition, during Fiscal 2021 and 2020, theCompany

recorded credits of approximately $7.8 million and $33.3 million, respectively, as an offset to selling, general and
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administrative expenses as a result of the employee retention credits and rent and property expense support made

available under the CARES Act for U.S. employees and under the Canada Emergency Wage Subsidy for Canadian

employees and the Canada Emergency Rent Subsidy.

During the Fiscal years ended February 26, 2022 and February 27, 2021, under the CARES Act, the Company recorded

income tax benefits of $18.7 million and $152.0 million, respectively, as a result of the Fiscal 2020 and Fiscal 2019 net

operating losses that were carried back to prior years duringwhich the federal tax rate was 35%.

TheCOVID-19pandemicmaterially adversely impacted theCompany’s resultsofoperationsandcash flows for the fiscal

yearendedFebruary27,2021.Numerousuncertaintiescontinue tosurround thepandemicand itsultimate impacton the

Company.

3. RESTRUCTURINGANDTRANSFORMATIONACTIVITIES

Fiscal 2021 Restructuring andTransformation Initiative
Expenses

TheCompany recorded$281.2million in its consolidated statements of operations for the fiscal year endedFebruary 26,

2022forcostsassociatedwith restructuringandother transformation initiatives,ofwhichapproximately$137.2million is

included in cost of sales and approximately $144.0 million is included in restructuring and transformation initiative

expenses in the consolidated statements of operations. These charges were comprised of, and classified in the

Company’s consolidated statement of operations, as follows:

Cost of Sales

• $125.2million primarily related to the Company’s initiatives to introduce certain newOwned Brandmerchandise

and, toa lesserextent, toredefinecertainexistingOwnedBrandsandtorationalizeproductassortmentacrossthe

Bed Bath & Beyond banner store base. The costs incurred in connection with these activities included higher

markdowns on inventory sold in Fiscal 2021, as well as an adjustment to reduce to its estimated realizable value

inventory on hand that will be removed from the product assortment as part of these initiatives.

• $12.0million related to store closures for which the closing process had commenced, related primarily to higher

markdownson inventorysoldduring theperiodbetween final announcementofclosingandthe final closureof the

store.

Restructuring andTransformation Initiative Expenses

• Store Closures. During Fiscal 2021, the Company closed 63 mostly Bed Bath & Beyond stores as part of its store

fleet optimization program which commenced in Fiscal 2020 and included the closure of 207 mostly Bed Bath &

Beyond stores through the end of Fiscal 2021 (including the 144 stores closed in Fiscal 2020). For the fiscal year

ended February 26, 2022, theCompany recorded costs associatedwith store closures forwhich the store closing

process has commenced of $2.4 million of severance costs and $45.5 million of lease-related and other costs

within restructuring and transformation initiative expenses in its consolidated statements of operations. At this

point, theCompany is unable to estimate the amount or range of amounts expected to be incurred in connection

with future store closures.

• Other transformation initiatives. During the fiscal year ended February 26, 2022, the Company recorded costs of

$96.1 million which include costs recorded in connection with other transformation initiatives, including

technology transformation and business strategy and operating model transformation programs across core

functions includingmerchandising, supply chain and finance.

Fiscal 2020 Restructuring Charges

TheCompany recorded $149.3millionwithin cost of sales and restructuring and transformation initiative expenses in its

consolidated statement of operations for Fiscal 2020 for costs associated with its planned store closures as part of the

fleet optimization plan for which the store closure process has commenced, workforce reduction and other

transformation initiatives.
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As part of the Company's ongoing business transformation, on July 6, 2020, the Board of Directors of the Company

approved the planned closure of approximately 200mostly BedBath&Beyond stores by the end of Fiscal 2021 as part of

the Company's store fleet optimization program, 144 of which were closed as of February 27, 2021. In Fiscal 2020, the

Company recorded costs associatedwith its planned store closures forwhich the store closing process has commenced

of $21.0 million within cost of sales, $5.3 million of severance costs and $39.2 million of lease-related and other costs

within restructuring and transformation initiative expenses in its consolidated statements of operations.

In addition, during thesecondquarterof Fiscal 2020, theCompanyannounceda realignmentof itsorganizational structure as

part of its transformation initiative, to further simplify theCompany's operations, support investment in its strategic growth

plans,andprovideadditional financial flexibility. Inconnectionwith theorganizational realignment, theCompany implemented

aworkforcereductionofapproximately2,800rolesfromacrossitscorporateheadquartersandretailstores.Duringthesecond

quarterofFiscal2020,theCompanyrecordedpre-taxrestructuringchargesofapproximately$23.1millionwithinrestructuring

andtransformationinitiativeexpensesin itsconsolidatedstatementsofoperations,relatedtoseveranceandassociatedcosts

for thisworkforce reduction, all ofwhichhavebeenpaidduringFiscal 2020.

During Fiscal 2020, theCompany also recorded costs of approximately $26.1millionwithin cost of sales and$34.6million

within restructuring and transformation initiative expenses in its consolidated statements of operations related to other

transformation initiatives.

Fiscal 2019 Restructuring Charges

During Fiscal 2019, the Company expensed pre-tax restructuring charges of approximately $102.5 million, primarily for

severance and related costs in conjunction with its transformation initiatives and extensive leadership changes, within

selling, general and administrative expenses in its consolidated statement of operations.

As of February 26, 2022 and February 27, 2021, the remaining accrual for severance and related costs related to these

various initiatives was $15.0million and $23.0million, respectively.

4. FAIRVALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is defined as the price thatwould be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability (i.e., ‘‘the exit price’’) in

an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. In determining fair value, the Company

uses various valuation approaches, including quoted market prices and discounted cash flows. The hierarchy for inputs

used in measuring fair value maximizes the use of observable inputs and minimizes the use of unobservable inputs by

requiring that themost observable inputs be usedwhen available. Observable inputs are inputs thatmarket participants

would use in pricing the asset or liability developed based on market data obtained from independent sources.

Unobservable inputs are inputs that reflect a company’s judgment concerning the assumptions thatmarket participants

would use in pricing the asset or liability developed based on the best information available under the circumstances. In

certaincases, the inputsusedtomeasure fairvaluemayfall intodifferent levelsof the fairvaluehierarchy. Insuchcases,an

asset or liabilitymust be classified in its entirety based on the lowest level of input that is significant to themeasurement

of fair value. The fair value hierarchy is broken down into three levels based on the reliability of inputs as follows:

• Level 1—Valuations basedonquotedprices in activemarkets for identical instruments that theCompany is able

to access. Since valuations are based on quoted prices that are readily and regularly available in an activemarket,

valuation of these products does not entail a significant degree of judgment.
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• Level 2—Valuationsbasedonquotedprices in activemarkets for instruments that aresimilar, orquotedprices in

markets that are not active for identical or similar instruments, and model-derived valuations in which all

significant inputs and significant value drivers are observable in activemarkets.

• Level 3—Valuations basedon inputs that are unobservable and significant to theoverall fair valuemeasurement.

The Company’s financial instruments include cash and cash equivalents, investment securities, accounts payable, long

termdebtandcertainother liabilities.Thebookvalueof theCompany's financial instruments, excluding long termdebt, is

representative of their fair values. The Company’s investment securities at February 26, 2022 consisted primarily of U.S.

Treasury securities, which are stated at amortized cost and are based on quoted prices in active markets for identical

instruments (Level 1 valuation). As of February 26, 2022 andFebruary 27, 2021, the fair valueof theCompany’s long term

debtwas approximately $956.0million and $1.118 billion, respectively, which is based on quoted prices in activemarkets

for identical instruments (i.e., Level 1 valuation), compared to the carrying value of approximately $1.184 billion and

$1.195 billion, respectively.

TheCompanydidnothaveanyfinancial assetsutilizingLevel2 inputs.Financial assetsutilizingLevel3 inputs included long

term investments in auction rate securities consisting of preferred shares of closed end municipal bond funds (see

‘‘Investment Securities,’’ Note 5).

5. INVESTMENTSECURITIES

As of both February 26, 2022 and February 27, 2021, the Company’s long term available-for-sale investment securities

represented approximately $20.3 million par value of auction rate securities, less temporary valuation adjustments of

approximately$1.1millionand$0.8million, respectively.Since thesevaluationadjustmentsaredeemedtobetemporary,

theyarerecorded inaccumulatedothercomprehensive loss,netofa relatedtaxbenefit, anddidnotaffect theCompany’s

net earnings. The Company had no short-term available-for-sale investment securities as of February 26, 2022 or

February 27, 2021.

6. PROPERTYAND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment consist of the following:

(in thousands)
February 26,

2022
February 27,

2021

Land and buildings $ 21,597 $ 24,840

Furniture, fixtures and equipment (1) 594,443 502,869

Leasehold improvements 746,365 721,039

Computer equipment and software 1,494,457 1,355,758

Total 2,856,862 2,604,506

Less: Accumulated depreciation (1) (1,829,475) (1,686,088)

Property and equipment, net $ 1,027,387 $ 918,418

(1) Furniture, fixtures and equipment includes $39.0 million in assets held under finance leases as of February 26, 2022. Accumulated

depreciation includes $0.2million in accumulated depreciation for assets held under finance leases as of February 26, 2022.

Depreciation expensewas $292.3million, $338.7million, $339.0million in Fiscal 2021, 2020, and 2019, respectively.

7. LONGTERM DEBT

Senior Unsecured Notes

On July 17, 2014, theCompany issued $300.0million aggregate principal amount of 3.749%senior unsecured notes due

August 1, 2024, $300.0 million aggregate principal amount of 4.915% senior unsecured notes due August 1, 2034 and

$900.0 million aggregate principal amount of 5.165% senior unsecured notes due August 1, 2044 (collectively, the

‘‘Notes’’). Interest on theNotes is payable semi-annually on February 1 and August 1 of each year.
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The Notes were issued under an indenture (the ‘‘Base Indenture’’), as supplemented by a first supplemental indenture

(together, with the Base Indenture, the ‘‘Indenture’’), which contains various restrictive covenants, which are subject to

important limitations and exceptions that are described in the Indenture. The Company was in compliance with all

covenants related to theNotes as of February 26, 2022.

During Fiscal 2021, the Company purchased approximately $11.0 million aggregate principal amount of its outstanding

3.749% senior unsecured notes due August 1, 2024. The total consideration paid for the notes accepted for purchase of

$11.4million during the fiscal year ended February 26, 2022 included accrued and unpaid interest up to, but not including,

the early settlement date. The Company recorded a loss on extinguishment of debt of $0.4 million in its consolidated

statementof operations for the fiscal year endedFebruary 26, 2022, including thewriteoff of unamortizeddebt financing

costs related to the extinguished portion of the notes accepted for purchase and reacquisition costs.

During Fiscal 2020, the Company purchased $75.0 million aggregate principal amount of its outstanding 4.915% senior

unsecurednotesdue2034andapproximately$225.0millionaggregateprincipal amountof itsoutstanding5.165%senior

unsecurednotesdue2044.The total considerationpaid for thenotes accepted for purchaseof $220.9million includedan

early tender premium of $50 per $1,000 principal amount of the notes accepted for purchase, plus accrued and unpaid

interest up to, but not including, the early settlement date. The Company recorded a gain on extinguishment of debt of

$77.0million in itsconsolidatedstatementofoperations for thefiscalyearendedFebruary27,2021, includingthewriteoff

of unamortized debt financing costs related to the extinguished portion of the notes accepted for purchase and

reacquisition costs. The Company did not purchase any of its outstanding unsecured notes during Fiscal 2019.

As of February 26, 2022 and February 27, 2021, unamortized deferred financing costs associated with the Company’s

3.749%senior unsecured notes due 2024, 4.915%senior unsecured notes due 2034 and 5.165%senior unsecured notes

due 2044 were $4.6 million and $5.0 million, respectively, and are included in long-term debt in the Company's

consolidated balance sheets.

Asset-Based Credit Agreement

OnAugust 9, 2021, theCompanyamended its asset-basedcredit agreement (the ‘‘AmendedCreditAgreement’’) among

the Company, certain of the Company’s U.S. and Canadian subsidiaries party thereto, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as

administrative agent and collateral agent (in such capacity, the ‘‘Agent’’), and the lenders party thereto, which replaced

the Company's previous $850.0million Credit Agreement whichwas due tomature on June 19, 2023.

The AmendedCredit Agreement provides for an asset-based revolving credit facility (the ‘‘ABL Facility’’) with aggregate

revolving commitments established at closing of $1.0 billion, including a swingline subfacility and a letter of credit

subfacility. The Amended Credit Agreement has an uncommitted expansion feature which allows the borrowers to

request, at any time following the delivery of an initial field exam and appraisal, an increase in aggregate revolving

commitments under the ABL Facility or elect to enter into a first-in-last-out loan facility, collectively, in an aggregate

amount of up to $375.0 million, subject to certain customary conditions. The Amended Credit Agreement matures on

August 9, 2026.

As of February 26, 2022, the Company had no loans outstanding under the ABL Facility, but had outstanding letters of

credit of $96.4million.

TheABL Facility is secured on a first priority basis (subject to customary exceptions) on all accounts receivable (including

credit card receivables), inventory, certain deposit accounts and securities accounts, and certain related assets, of the

Companyand itssubsidiariesthatareborrowersorguarantorsundertheABLFacility.Amountsavailable tobedrawnfrom

time to time under the ABL Facility (including, in part, in the form of letters of credit) are equal to the lesser of

(i) outstanding revolving commitments under the AmendedCredit Agreement and (ii) a borrowing base equal to the sum

of (a) 90%of eligible credit card receivables plus (b) 90%of eligible inventory, valued at the lower of cost ormarket value,

determined on aweighted average cost basis, minus (c) customary reserves.

Subject to customary exceptions and restrictions, the Company may voluntarily repay outstanding amounts under the

ABL Facility at any time without premium or penalty. Any voluntary prepayments made will not reduce commitments
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under theABLFacility. If at any time theoutstandingamountunder theABLFacility exceeds the lesserof (i) theaggregate

revolvingcommitmentsand (ii) theborrowingbase, theCompanywill be required toprepayoutstandingamountsor cash

collateralize letter of credit obligations under the ABL Facility.

Outstanding amounts under theAmendedCredit Agreement bear interest at a rate per annumequal to, at the applicable

borrower’s election: (i) in the caseof loans denominated inU.S. dollars, such loans shall be comprised entirely of Alternate

Base Rate (‘‘ABR’’) loans and London Inter-Bank Offered (‘‘LIBO’’) Rate loans and (ii) in the case of loans denominated in

Canadian dollars, such loans shall be comprised entirely of Canadian Prime Rate loans and Canadian Dollar Offered Rate

(‘‘CDOR’’) loans, ineachcaseasset forth intheAmendedCreditAgreement,plusan interest ratemarginbasedonaverage

quarterly availability ranging from (i) in the case of ABR loans and Canadian Prime Rate loans, 0.25% to 0.75%; provided

that if ABR or the Canadian Prime Rate is less than 1.00%, such rate shall be deemed to be 1.00%, as applicable, and (ii) in

the caseof LIBORate loans andCDORLoans, 1.25%to1.75%;provided that if theCDORorLIBORate is less than0.00%,

such rate shall be deemed to be 0.00%, as applicable.

The Amended Credit Agreement contains customary representations and warranties, events of default and financial,

affirmative and negative covenants for facilities of this type, including but not limited to a springing financial covenant

relating to a fixed charge coverage ratio, and restrictions on indebtedness, liens, investments and acquisitions, asset

dispositions, restricted payments and prepayment of certain indebtedness. The Company was in compliance with all

covenants related to the AmendedCredit Agreement as of February 26, 2022.

As of February 26, 2022 and February 27, 2021, unamortized deferred financing costs associated with the Company's

revolving credit facilities were $7.4 million and $6.1 million, respectively, and were recorded in other assets in the

Company's consolidated balance sheets.

TheCompanyamortizesdeferred financing costs for theNotes and theABLFacility over their respective termsandsuch

amortization is included in interestexpense,net intheconsolidatedstatementsofoperations. Interestexpenserelatedto

the Notes and the revolving credit facilities, including the commitment fee and the amortization of deferred financing

costs, was approximately $64.1 million, $73.6 million, and $73.0 million for the fiscal years ended February 26, 2022,

February 27, 2021, and February 29, 2020, respectively.

8. PROVISION FOR INCOMETAXES

The components of the (benefit) provision for income taxes are as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended

(in thousands)
February 26,

2022
February 27,

2021
February 29,

2020

Current:

Federal $ (43,740) $(336,506) $ 2,455

State and local 3,397 1,211 (7,973)

(40,343) (335,295) (5,518)

Deferred:

Federal 73,006 150,861 (124,578)

State and local 54,304 (1,555) (20,941)

127,310 149,306 (145,519)

$ 86,967 $(185,989) $(151,037)
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At February 26, 2022 and February 27, 2021, included in other assets are net deferred income tax assets of $(0.1) million

and $130.0 million, respectively. These amounts represent the net tax effects of temporary differences between the

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes.

The significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities consist of the following:

(in thousands)
February 26,

2022
February 27,

2021

Deferred tax assets:

Inventories $ 4,077 $ 13,040

Operating lease liabilities 473,397 484,290

Insurance 6,416 9,086

Stock-based compensation 1,592 1,014

Merchandise credits and gift card liabilities 56,690 52,584

Accrued expenses 23,412 31,914

Intangibles 1,685 1,008

Goodwill 90 1,596

Carryforwards and other tax credits 189,746 86,914

Other 34,991 34,104

Valuation allowance: (249,529) (26,011)

Deferred tax liabilities:

Depreciation (146,970) (105,649)

Prepaid expenses (1,155) (26,356)

Operating lease assets (376,079) (409,535)

Other (18,499) (17,977)

$ (136) $ 130,022

At February 26, 2022, the Company has federal net operating loss carryforwards of $67.2million (tax effected), of which

$4.6 million will expire between 2025 and 2039, state net operating loss carryforwards of $87.1 million (tax effected),

which will expire between 2021 and 2041, California state enterprise zone credit carryforwards of $2.1 million (tax

effected), whichwill expire in 2023, but require taxable income in the enterprise zone to be realizable.

In assessing the recoverability of its deferred tax assets, the Company evaluates the available objective positive and

negative evidence to estimatewhether it ismore likely than not that sufficient future taxable incomewill be generated to

permituseofexistingdeferredtaxassets ineachtaxpaying jurisdiction.Foranydeferredtaxasset inexcessof theamount

forwhich it ismore likely thannot that theCompanywill realize a benefit, theCompanyestablishes a valuation allowance.

A valuation allowance is a non-cash charge, and does not limit the Company's ability to utilize its deferred tax assets,

including its ability to utilize tax loss and credit carryforward amounts, against future taxable income.

TheCompany assessed all available positive and negative evidence to estimatewhether sufficient future taxable income

will be generated to permit use of existing deferred tax assets in each taxpaying jurisdiction. On the basis of this

evaluation, as of February 26, 2022, a valuation allowance of $224.3 million was recorded against the Company's net

federal and state deferred tax assets as it is notmore likely than not that these assets would be realized.

Asof February 26, 2022andFebruary 27, 2021, theCompanyhadalso recordeda valuation allowanceof $25.2million and

$15.5million, respectively, relative totheCompany'sCanadiannetdeferredtaxasset, as theCompanydidnotbelievethe

deferred tax assets in that jurisdictionweremore likely than not to be realized.
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The following table summarizes the activity related to the gross unrecognized tax benefits from uncertain tax positions:

(in thousands)
February 26,

2022
February 27,

2021

Balance at beginning of year $105,749 $ 51,781

Increase related to current year positions 1,125 69,106

Decrease related to prior year positions (1,902) (2,797)

Settlements (2,340) (4,981)

Lapse of statute of limitations (7,114) (7,360)

Balance at end of year $ 95,518 $105,749

Grossunrecognized taxbenefits areclassified innon-current incometaxespayable (or acontradeferred taxasset) on the

consolidated balance sheet for uncertain tax positions taken (or expected to be taken) on a tax return. As of February 26,

2022 and February 27, 2021, approximately $95.5 million and $105.7 million, respectively, of gross unrecognized tax

benefits would impact the Company’s effective tax rate. As of February 26, 2022 and February 27, 2021, the liability for

gross unrecognized tax benefits included approximately $8.6 million and $8.1 million, respectively, of accrued interest.

TheCompany recognizes interest and penalties for unrecognized tax benefits, as applicable, in income tax expense. The

Company recorded an increase to accrued interest of approximately $0.5 million for the fiscal year ended February 26,

2022 and a decrease of approximately $1.5million for the fiscal year ended February 27, 2021 for gross unrecognized tax

benefits in the consolidated statement of earnings.

TheCompanyanticipates thatanyadjustments togrossunrecognizedtaxbenefitswhichwill impact incometaxexpense,

due to the expiration of statutes of limitations, could be approximately $5.8million in the next twelvemonths. However,

actual results could differ from those currently anticipated.

AsofFebruary26, 2022, theCompanyoperated inall 50 states, theDistrictofColumbia, PuertoRico,Canada, andMexico

and files income tax returns in the United States and various state, local and international jurisdictions. The Company is

currently under examination by the Internal Revenue Service for the tax year 2017. TheCompany is open to examination

for state, foreign and local jurisdictionswith varying statutes of limitations, generally ranging from3 to 5 years.

The following table summarizes the reconciliation between the effective income tax rate and the federal statutory rate:

Fiscal Year Ended

February 26,
2022

February 27,
2021

February 29,
2020

Federal statutory rate 21.00% 21.00% 21.00%

State income tax rate, net of federal impact 3.87 3.94 4.28

Uncertain tax positions 2.16 1.63 1.33

Goodwill non-deductible impairment charges — — (4.84)

Tax deficiencies related to stock-based compensation (0.81) (3.18) (3.07)

Tax credits 0.38 0.41 0.49

CARESAct 0.94 35.98 —

Valuation Allowance (48.01) (7.74) —

Canadian Branch Earnings 1.60 0.78 0.90

Other 0.47 2.35 (0.34)

(18.40)% 55.17% 19.75%
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9. TRANSACTIONSAND BALANCESWITH RELATED PARTIES

On April 21, 2019, Warren Eisenberg and Leonard Feinstein transitioned to the role of Co-Founders and Co-Chairmen

Emeriti of theBoardofDirectorsof theCompany.As a result of this transition,Messrs. Eisenberg andFeinstein ceased to

be officers of the Company effective as of April 21, 2019, and became entitled to the payments and benefits provided

under their employment agreements that apply in the case of termination without cause, which generally include

continued senior status payments until May 2027 and continued participation for Co-Founders (and their spouses, if

applicable) at the Company’s expense in employee plans and programs. In addition, the Co-Founders remain entitled to

supplementalpensionpaymentsspecified in theiremploymentagreementsof$200,000peryear (asadjusted foracostof

living increase), until the death of the survivor of the applicable Co-Founder and his spouse, reduced by the continued

senior status payments referenced above.

Pursuant to their respective restricted stock and performance stock unit agreements, shares of restricted stock and

performance-based stock units granted toMessrs. Eisenberg andFeinstein vestedupon their resignation asmembers of

theBoardofDirectorseffectiveMay1,2019,subject,however, toattainmentofanyapplicableperformancegoalsandthe

certificationof the applicable performance-based tests by theCompensationCommittee, as providedunder their award

agreements.

10. LEASES

The Company leases retail stores, as well as distribution facilities, offices and equipment, under agreements expiring at

various dates through2041. The leasesprovide for original lease terms that generally range from10 to15years andmost

leasesprovide for a seriesof five year renewal options, oftenat increased rents, theexerciseofwhich is at theCompany's

sole discretion. Certain leases provide for contingent rents (which are based upon store sales exceeding stipulated

amounts andare immaterial in Fiscal 2021, 2020, and2019), scheduled rent increasesand renewal options.TheCompany

is obligated under amajority of the leases to pay for taxes, insurance and common areamaintenance charges.

TheCompanysubleasescertain real estate tounrelated thirdparties, all ofwhichhavebeenclassifiedasoperating leases.

The Company recognizes sublease income on a straight-line basis over the sublease term, which generally ranges from

5to10years.Mostsubleasearrangementsprovide foraseriesof fiveyear renewaloptions, theexerciseofwhichareat the

Company's sole discretion.

TheCompany regularly negotiates lease termswith landlords, including in connectionwith its transformation initiatives.

Beginning in the first quarter of Fiscal 2020, in order tomaintain liquidity given temporary store closures as a result of the

COVID-19 pandemic (see ‘‘Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic,’’ Note 2), the Company withheld portions of and/or

delayed or deferred payments to certain landlords, including in connection with renegotiations of lease terms. In some

instances, the renegotiations led to agreementswith landlords for rent abatementsor rental deferrals. In Fiscal 2021, the

Company has continued to withhold payments to certain landlords in connection with certain negotiations of payment

terms. Total payments withheld and/or delayed or deferred as of February 26, 2022 and February 27, 2021 were

approximately $1.9million and $9.6million, respectively, and are included in current liabilities.

In accordance with the FASB’s Staff Q&A regarding rent concessions related to the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic,

theCompanyhaselectedtoaccount for theconcessionsagreedtoby landlordsthatdonot result inasubstantial increase

in the rights of the lessor or the obligations of the lessee as though enforceable rights and obligations for those

concessions existed in the original lease agreements and the Company has elected to not remeasure the related lease

liabilities and right-of-use assets. For qualifying rent abatement concessions, the Company has recorded negative lease

expense for the amount of the concession during the period of relief, and for qualifying deferrals of rental payments, the

Company has recognized a non-interest bearing payable in lieu of recognizing a decrease in cash for the lease payment

that would have beenmade based on the original terms of the lease agreement, whichwill be reducedwhen the deferred

payment is made in the future. During the fiscal year ended February 26, 2022 and February 27, 2021, the Company

recognized reduced rent expense of $2.7million and $10.3million, respectively, related to rent abatement concessions.
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The components of total lease cost for the fiscal year ended February 26, 2022 and February 27, 2021were as follows:

(in thousands) Statement ofOperations Location February 26, 2022 February 27, 2021

Operating lease cost Cost of sales and SG&A $449,394 $582,168

Finance lease cost:

Depreciation of property SG&A 184 2,500

Interest on lease liabilities Interest expense, net 1,886 7,755

Variable lease cost Cost of sales and SG&A 152,259 189,485

Sublease income SG&A (43,922) (12,574)

Total lease cost $559,801 $769,334

AsofFebruary26,2022andFebruary27,2021,assetsand liabilities relatedtotheCompany'soperatingandfinance leases

were as follows:

(in thousands) Consolidated Balance Sheet Location February 26, 2022 February 27, 2021

Assets

Operating leases Operating lease assets $1,562,857 $1,587,101

Finance leases Property and equipment, net 38,790 —

Total Lease assets $1,601,647 $1,587,101

Liabilities

Current:

Operating leases Current operating lease liabilities $ 346,506 $ 360,061

Finance leases Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 2,494 —

Noncurrent:

Operating leases Operating lease liabilities 1,508,002 1,509,767

Finance leases Other liabilities 35,447 —

Total lease liabilities $1,892,449 $1,869,828

AtFebruary 26, 2022, theCompanyhas entered into twooperating leases,whichhavenot yet commenced, for a regional

distribution center and a store, both expected to open in Fiscal 2022. The aggregateminimum rental payments over the

termof the lease of approximately $107.2million and $4.1million, respectively, are not included in the above table.

As of February 26, 2022, the Company's lease liabilitiesmature as follows:

(in thousands) Operating Leases Finance Leases

Fiscal Year:

2022 $ 444,562 $ 7,369

2023 388,183 11,636

2024 334,178 11,636

2025 272,790 11,636

2026 202,690 11,636

Thereafter 643,824 59,531

Total lease payments $2,286,227 $113,444

Less imputed interest (431,719) (75,503)

Present value of lease liabilities $1,854,508 $ 37,941
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TheCompany's lease terms and discount rates were as follows:

February 26, 2022 February 27, 2021

Weighted-average remaining lease term (in years)

Operating leases 7.0 years 6.8 years

Finance leases 10.0 years —

Weighted-average discount rate

Operating leases 6.0% 6.4%

Finance leases 8.4% —%

Other informationwith respect to the Company's leases is as follows:

(in thousands) February 26, 2022 February 27, 2021

Cash paid for amounts included in themeasurement of lease liabilities

Operating cash flows fromoperating leases $450,082 $646,981

Operating cash flows from finance leases 1,886 9,295

Financing cash flows from finance leases 1,033 —

Operating lease assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease liabilities 359,933 305,614

Financing lease assets obtained in exchange for new financing lease liabilities 38,974 —

In Fiscal 2019, the Company completed a sale-leaseback transaction on approximately 2.1 million square feet of owned

real estate, which generated approximately $267.3 million in proceeds. As a result of the transaction, the Company

recordeda loss, including transactioncostsof approximately$5.7million, of approximately$33.1millionwhich is included

in selling, general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of operations for the fiscal year ended

February 29, 2020.All leasesentered into as a result of the sale-leaseback transactionwere classified asoperating leases.

For certain assets included in the transaction, theCompanydetermined that the fair value of the assetswas less than the

consideration received. As a result, theCompany recognized a financingobligation in the amount of $14.5million, for the

additional financing obtained from the buyer. As of February 26, 2022 and February 27, 2021, the financing obligation

amounted to approximately $13.0 million and $13.8 million, respectively, of which approximately $0.7 million and

$0.7million, respectively, is included inaccruedexpensesandothercurrent liabilities, andapproximately$12.3millionand

$13.1million, respectively, is included in other liabilities, in the consolidated balance sheets.

11. EMPLOYEE BENEFITPLANS

Defined Contribution Plans

TheCompany has three defined contribution savings plans covering all eligible employees of theCompany (the ‘‘Plans’’).

Participants of the Plansmay defer annual pre-tax compensation subject to statutory and Plan limitations. In addition, a

certainpercentageof anemployee’s contributionsarematchedby theCompanyandvestover a specifiedperiodof time,

subject tocertain statutoryandPlan limitations.TheCompany’smatchwasapproximately$6.2million, $10.6million, and

$13.7million for Fiscal 2021, 2020, and 2019, respectively, whichwas expensed as incurred.

Defined Benefit Plan

During Fiscal 2020, upon the divestiture of CTS, the Company retained liability for a non-contributory defined benefit

pension plan for CTS employees hired on or before July 31, 2003, who met specified age and length-of-service

requirements.

During Fiscal 2021, the Company received final approval to terminate the plan, upon which the Company contributed

$5.1million to the plan. Using plan assets, theCompanypurchased a non-participating group annuity contract for certain

participants and made lump sum distributions to all remaining participants. Net periodic pension cost included in the

consolidated statement of operations includes the pre-tax release of $13.5million fromother comprehensive income in

connection with the settlement of the plan, which is recorded within loss on sale of businesses. As of February 26, 2022,

the Company had no liability remaining related to the plan.

NOTESTO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIALSTATEMENTS

2021 Annual Report 121



During Fiscal 2020, the Company released $2.1 million from other comprehensive income in connection with the partial

settlement of the plan, recorded within loss on sale of businesses, including impairment of assets held for sale, in the

consolidated statements of operations. In addition, as of February 27, 2021, the Company recognized a loss of

$8.4 million, net of tax of $3.0 million, within accumulated other comprehensive loss. As of February 27, 2021, the

Company had liabilities of $3.6million, which is included in other liabilities in theCompany's consolidated balance sheets.

The remaining net periodic pension cost recorded during Fiscal 2021, 2020, and 2019was notmaterial to theCompany’s

results of operations.

12. COMMITMENTSAND CONTINGENCIES

Aputativesecuritiesclassactionwas filedonApril 14, 2020against theCompanyandthreeof itsofficersand/ordirectors

(Mark Tritton, Mary Winston (the Company’s former Interim Chief Executive Officer) and Robyn D’Elia (the Company’s

formerChief FinancialOfficer andTreasurer)) in theUnited StatesDistrict Court for theDistrict ofNewJersey (the ‘‘New

Jersey federal court’’). Thecase,which is captionedVitiello v. BedBath&Beyond Inc., et al., CaseNo.2:20-cv-04240-MCA-

MAH, asserts claims under §§ 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the ‘‘Exchange Act’’) on behalf of a

putativeclassofpurchasersof theCompany’ssecurities fromOctober2,2019throughFebruary11,2020.TheComplaint

alleges thatcertainof theCompany’sdisclosuresabout financial performanceandcertainotherpublic statementsduring

theputative class periodwerematerially false ormisleading. A similar putative securities class action, asserting the same

claimsonbehalf of the sameputative class against the samedefendants,was filedonApril 30, 2020.That case, captioned

Kirkland v. Bed Bath & Beyond Inc., et al., CaseNo. 1:20-cv-05339-MCA-MAH, is also pending in the United States District

Court for the District of New Jersey. On August 14, 2020, the court consolidated the two cases and appointed Kavin

Bakhda as lead plaintiff pursuant to the Private Securities Litigation ReformAct of 1995 (as consolidated, the ‘‘Securities

Class Action’’). Lead plaintiff and additional named plaintiff Richard Lipka filed an Amended Class Action Complaint on

October 20, 2020, on behalf of a putative class of purchasers of the Company’s securities from September 4, 2019

through February 11, 2020. Defendantsmoved to dismiss the AmendedComplaint onDecember 21, 2020.

Afteramediationheld inAugust2021, asettlement inprinciplewas reachedbetweentheCompanyand leadplaintiff in the

Securities Class Action. The settlement has been executed and was preliminarily approved by the New Jersey Federal

Court in February2022. If the settlement is granted final approval, theSecuritiesClassActionwill be fully resolvedand the

matter will be dismissed. The Company has recorded a liability for the Securities Class Action, based on the agreed

settlement amount and insurance coverage available.

OnJuly10,2020, thefirstof threerelatedshareholderderivativeactionswasfiled intheNewJerseyfederalcourtonbehalf

of theCompany against various present and former directors and officers. The case, which is captionedSalu v. Tritton, et

al., Case No. 2:20-cv-08673-MCA-MAH (D.N.J.), asserts claims under §§ 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act and for

breach of fiduciary duty, unjust enrichment, and waste of corporate assets under state law arising from the events

underlying thesecurities class actionsdescribedaboveand fromtheCompany’s repurchasesof itsownsharesduring the

class period pled in the securities cases. The two other derivative actions, which assert similar claims, are captioned

Groomsv.Tritton, et al., CaseNo. 2:20-cv-09610-SDW-RDW(D.N.J.) (filed July29, 2020), andMantia v. Fleming, et al., Case

No. 2:20-cv-09763-MCA-MAH (D.N.J.) (filed July 31, 2020). On August 5, 2020, the court signed a stipulation by the

parties in theSalucasetostaythatactionpendingdispositionofamotiontodismiss in theSecuritiesClassAction,subject

to various terms outlined in the stipulation. The parties in all three derivative cases havemoved to consolidate themand

to apply theSalu stay of proceedings to all three actions. The court granted themotiononOctober 14, 2020, but the stay

was subsequently lifted. On January 4, 2022, the defendants filed amotion to dismiss this case.

On August 28, 2020, another related shareholder derivative action, captioned Schneider v. Tritton, et al., Index No

516051/2020,was filed in theSupremeCourt of theState ofNewYork, County of Kings. The claimspled in theSchneider

case are similar to those pled in the three federal derivative cases, except that the Schneider complaint does not plead

claimsunder theExchangeAct.OnSeptember 21, 2020, theparties filed a stipulation seeking to stay that action pending

disposition of amotion to dismiss in the securities class action, subject to various terms and conditions.

On June 11, 2021, an additional related derivative action was filed on behalf of the Company against certain present and

former directors andofficers. ThisComplaint is entitledMichael Anthony vMarkTritton et. al., IndexNo. 514167/2021 and
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was filed in the Supreme Court of the State of New York, Kings County. The claims are substantially the same as in the

other two derivative actions. On October 26, 2021, the court consolidated the Schneider and Anthony actions, and the

plaintiffs subsequently filed a consolidated complaint. On January 10, 2022, the defendants filed amotion to dismiss this

case.

Thederivativecaseswerenot included in theAugust2021settlement referredtoabove,butaftermediation,asettlement

in principle was reached subsequent to year-end. The settlement remains subject to documentation and must be

approved by the Court.

TheDistrict Attorney's office for theCounty of Ventura, togetherwithDistrict Attorneys for other counties in California

(together, the ‘‘District Attorneys’’), recently concluded an investigation regarding themanagement and disposal at the

Company’sstores inCaliforniaofcertainmaterials thatmaybedeemedhazardousoruniversalwasteunderCalifornia law.

OnMarch19,2019, theDistrictAttorneysprovidedtheCompanywithasettlementdemandthat includedaproposedcivil

penalty, reimbursement of investigation costs, and certain injunctive relief, including modifications to the Company’s

existing compliance program, which already includes associate training, ongoing review of disposal rules applicable to

various product categories, and specialized third-party disposal. During Fiscal 2020, the Company and the District

Attorneys agreed to final terms on a settlement payment of approximately $1.5 million to resolve the matter. The

Company has also agreed to spend $171,000 over the next 36 months on refinements to its compliance program. The

CompanyandDistrictAttorneysexecutedaStipulatedJudgmenttothiseffect,whichwasrecently filedwiththecourt.As

of February 29, 2020, the Company had recorded an accrual for the estimated probable loss for this matter, and the

Companymade the related settlement payment during the fourth quarter of Fiscal 2020.

On April 21, 2019, Warren Eisenberg and Leonard Feinstein transitioned to the role of Co-Founders and Co-Chairmen

Emeriti of the Board ofDirectors of theCompany. As a result of this transition,Mr. Eisenberg andMr. Feinstein ceased to

be officers of the Company effective as of April 21, 2019, and became entitled to the payments and benefits provided

under their employment agreements that apply in the case of a termination without cause, which generally include

continued senior status payments until May 2027 and continued participation for the Co-Founders (and their spouses, if

applicable) at the Company’s expense in employee plans and programs. In addition, the Co-Founders remain entitled to

supplementalpensionpaymentsspecified in theiremploymentagreementsof$200,000peryear (asadjusted foracostof

living increase), until the death of the survivor of the applicable Co-Founder and his spouse, reduced by the continued

senior status payments referenced above.

Pursuant to their respective restricted stock and performance stock unit agreements, shares of restricted stock and

performance-based stock units granted toMessrs. Eisenberg andFeinstein vestedupon their resignation asmembers of

theBoardofDirectorseffectiveMay1,2019,subject,however, toattainmentofanyapplicableperformancegoalsandthe

certificationof the applicable performance-based tests by theCompensationCommittee, as providedunder their award

agreements.

TheCompany’s formerChief ExecutiveOfficer (the ‘‘FormerCEO’’) departed theCompany effective as ofMay 12, 2019.

In accordance with the terms of the Former CEO's employment and equity award agreements, the Former CEO was

entitled to three times his then-current salary, payable over three years in normal payroll installments, except that any

amountdueprior to thesixmonthsafterhisdeparture,waspaid in a lumpsumafter suchsixmonthperiod.Suchamounts

will be reducedbyanycompensationearnedwithanysubsequentemployerorotherwiseandwill besubject to theFormer

CEO's compliance with a one-year non-competition and non-solicitation covenant. On October 21, 2019, the Former

CEO entered into an agreement (the ‘‘Former CEO PSU Settlement Agreement’’) with the Company to reduce the PSUs

held by him by an excess amount of outstanding PSUs granted to the Former CEO in the Company’s 2018 fiscal year as a

resultof theuseof theFiscal2017peergroup in lieuof theFiscal2018peergroup.Further, asa resultof thisdeparture, the

time-vesting component of the Former CEO's stock-based awards accelerated, including (i) stock options (which were

‘‘underwater’’ and expired without having been exercised by the Former CEO), (ii) PSU awards which had previously met

the relatedperformance-basedtest, hadbeencertifiedby theCompensationCommittee, and remainedsubjectsolely to

time-vesting, and (iii) PSU awards (assuming target level of performance) which remain subject to attainment of any

performancegoals and the certificationof the applicable performance-based tests by theCompensationCommittee, as

provided under his award agreements and subject to the terms of the Former CEOPSUSettlement Agreement.

In addition, the Companymaintains employment agreements with other executives which provide for severance pay.
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In connection with the sale of PMall (see ‘‘Assets Held for Sale and Divestitures’’, Note 16), the Company agreed to

indemnify 1-800-FLOWERS.COM for certain litigation matters then existing at the time of the close of the transaction,

including certain matters for which the Company is entitled to indemnification from the former owner of PMall in

connectionwith theCompany's purchase of PMall in Fiscal 2016. During Fiscal 2021, theCompany recorded a liability for

one suchmatter and a corresponding asset based on the Company's assessment of the ability to recover the expected

loss under the indemnification provided at the time of its purchase of PMall.

TheCompany records an estimated liability related to its various claims and legal actions arising in the ordinary course of

business when and to the extent that it concludes a liability is probable and the amount of the loss can be reasonably

estimated. Suchestimated loss is basedon available information and advice fromoutside counsel, where appropriate. As

additional information becomes available, the Company reassesses the potential liability related to claims and legal

actions and revises its estimated liabilities, as appropriate. The Company expects the ultimate disposition of these

matterswill not have amaterial adverseeffect on theCompany’s consolidated financial position, results of operationsor

liquidity. The Company also cannot predict the nature and validity of claims which could be asserted in the future, and

future claims could have amaterial impact on its earnings.

13. SUPPLEMENTALCASH FLOW INFORMATION

TheCompanypaid incometaxesof$5.2million,$4.8million, and$44.8million inFiscal 2021,2020, and2019, respectively.

In addition, the Company had interest payments of approximately $66.0million, $75.5million, and $81.2million in Fiscal

2021, 2020, and 2019, respectively.

In Fiscal 2021, the Company acquired property, plant and equipment of approximately $39.0 million under finance lease

arrangements.

The Company recorded an accrual for capital expenditures of $63.4 million, $44.6 million, and $36.9 million as of

February 26, 2022, February 27, 2021, and February 29, 2020, respectively.

In addition, the Company recorded an accrual for dividends payable of $0.9 million, $2.1 million, $26.4 million as of

February 26, 2022, February 27, 2021, and February 29, 2020, respectively.

14. SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

TheCompanyhasauthorization tomake repurchasesof sharesof theCompany’s commonstock fromtimeto time in the

openmarket or throughother parameters approvedby theBoardofDirectors pursuant toexisting rules and regulations.

BetweenDecember2004andApril 2021, theCompany’sBoardofDirectorsauthorized, throughseveral share repurchase

programs, the repurchase of $12.950 billion of its shares of common stock. The Company also acquires shares of its

common stock to cover employee related taxes withheld on vested restricted stock, restricted stock units and

performance stock unit awards. Since the initial authorization in December 2004, the aggregate total of common stock

repurchased is approximately 262.2 million shares for a total cost of approximately $11.685 billion. The Company had

approximately $1.267 billion remaining of authorized share repurchases as of February 26, 2022.

Decisions regardingshare repurchasesarewithin thediscretionof theBoardofDirectors, andare influencedbyanumber

of factors, including the price of the Company's common stock, general business and economic conditions, the

Company's financial condition and operating results, the emergence of alternative investment or acquisition

opportunities, changes in business strategy and other factors. The Company's share repurchase program could change,

andcouldbe influencedbyseveral factors, includingbusinessandmarketconditions, suchas the impactof theCOVID-19

pandemic.TheCompanyreviews itsalternativeswithrespectto itscapital structureonanongoingbasis.Anyfutureshare

repurchases will be subject to the determination of the Board of Directors, based on an evaluation of the Company's

earnings, financial condition and requirements, business conditions andother factors, including the restrictions on share

repurchases under the ABL Facility (see ‘‘Long TermDebt,’’ Note 7).

In connection with its share repurchase program, during the twelve months ended February 26, 2022, the Company

repurchased approximately 27.7 million shares of its common stock, at a total cost of approximately $574.9 million,
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including fees.Additionally, during the twelvemonthsendedFebruary26,2022, theCompany repurchasedapproximately

0.6 million shares of its common stock, at a total cost of approximately $14.5 million, to cover employee related taxes

withheld on vested restricted stock, restricted stock unit awards and performance stock unit awards.

In the first quarter of Fiscal 2020, the Company had postponed share repurchases, but lifted this postponement in

October 2020. In October 2020, the Company entered into an accelerated share repurchase agreement with JPMorgan

ChaseBank,National Association to repurchase $225.0million of its commonstock, subject tomarket conditions,which

settled in the fourthquarterofFiscal 2020, resulting in the repurchaseofa totalof10.8millionshares. InJanuary2021, the

Companyentered intoasecondacceleratedsharerepurchaseagreementtorepurchaseanaggregate$150.0millionof its

commonstock, subject tomarket conditions. This resulted in the repurchaseof 5.0million shares in the fourth quarter of

Fiscal 2020, and an additional 0.2million shares received upon final settlement in the first quarter of Fiscal 2021.

During Fiscal 2016, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized a quarterly dividend program. In March 2020, the

Company suspended its future quarterly declarations of cash dividends as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. During

Fiscal 2021, 2020, and 2019, total cash dividends of $0.7million, $23.1million, and $85.5million, respectively, were paid.

Any future quarterly cash dividend payments on its common stock will be subject to the determination by the Board of

Directors, based on an evaluation of the Company’s earnings, financial condition and requirements, business conditions

and other factors, including the restrictions on the payment of dividends contained in the Amended Credit Agreement

(see ‘‘Long TermDebt,’’ Note 7).

Cashdividends, if any, areaccruedasa liabilityon theCompany’s consolidatedbalancesheetsand recordedasadecrease

to retained earningswhen declared.

15. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

The Company measures all stock-based compensation awards for employees and non-employee directors using a fair

valuemethodand records suchexpense, net of estimated forfeitures, in its consolidated financial statements.Currently,

theCompany’s stock-based compensation relates to restricted stock awards, restricted stock units, performance stock

units, and stock options. TheCompany’s restricted stock awards are considered nonvested share awards.

Stock-based compensation expense for the fiscal year ended February 26, 2022, February 27, 2021, and February 29,

2020 was approximately $35.1 million, $31.6 million, and $45.7 million, respectively. In addition, the amount of stock-

based compensation cost capitalized for the years ended February 26, 2022 and February 27, 2021 was approximately

$1.0million and $0.8million, respectively.

Incentive Compensation Plans

The Companymay grant awards under the Bed Bath & Beyond 2018 Incentive Compensation Plan (the ‘‘2018 Plan’’) and

the Bed Bath & Beyond 2012 Incentive Compensation Plan (the ‘‘2012 Plan’’). The 2018 Plan includes an aggregate of

4.6 million common shares authorized for issuance of awards permitted under the 2018 Plan, including stock options,

stock appreciation rights, restricted stock awards, performance awards and other stock based awards. The 2018 Plan

supplements the 2012Plan,which amended and restated theBedBath&Beyond2004 IncentiveCompensation Plan (the

‘‘2004 Plan’’). The 2012 Plan includes an aggregate of 43.2 million common shares authorized for issuance of awards

permittedunderthe2012Plan (similar tothe2018Plan).Outstandingawardsthatwerecoveredbythe2004Plancontinue

to be in effect under the 2012 Plan.

The terms of the 2012 Plan and the 2018 Plan are substantially similar and enable the Company to offer incentive

compensation through stock options (whether nonqualified stock options or incentive stock options), restricted stock

awards, stockappreciationrights,performanceawardsandotherstockbasedawards,andcash-basedawards.Grantsare

determined by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company for those awards granted to

executive officers, and by the Board of Directors of the Company for awards granted to non-employee directors. Stock

option grants generally become exercisable in either three or five equal annual installments beginning one year from the

date of grant. Restricted stock awards generally become vested in five to seven equal annual installments beginning one

to three years from the date of grant. Restricted stock units generally become vested in one to three equal annual
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installments beginning one year from the date of grant. Performance stock units generally vest at the end of the

performance period dependent on the Company's achievement of performance-based tests. Vesting of each of these

types of awards is subject, in general, to the recipient remaining in the Company's service on specified vesting dates.

The Company generally issues new shares for stock option exercises, restricted stock awards and vesting of restricted

stock units and performance stock units. The 2018 Plan expires inMay 2028. The 2012 Plan expires inMay 2022.

As described in further detail below, in Fiscal 2020 and 2019, the Company granted stock-based awards to certain of the

Company’s new executive officers as inducements material to their commencement of employment and entry into an

employment agreement with the Company. The inducement awards weremade in accordance with Nasdaq Listing Rule

5635(c)(4) andwere notmade under the 2012 Plan or the 2018 Plan.

Restricted StockAwards

Restrictedstockawardsare issuedandmeasuredat fairmarketvalueonthedateofgrantandgenerallybecomevested in

five to seven equal annual installments beginning one to three years from the date of grant, subject, in general, to the

recipientremaining intheCompany’sserviceonspecifiedvestingdates.Vestingof restrictedstock isbasedsolelyontime

vesting.Asof February26, 2022, unrecognizedcompensationexpense related to theunvestedportionof theCompany’s

restricted stock awardswas $8.9million, which is expected to be recognized over aweighted average period of 2.3 years.

Changes in the Company’s restricted stock awards for the fiscal year ended February 26, 2022were as follows:

(Shares in thousands)

Number of
Restricted

Shares

WeightedAverage
Grant-Date Fair

Value

Unvested restricted stock awards, beginning of period 935 $34.34

Granted 47 29.58

Vested (324) 39.01

Forfeited (186) 29.96

Unvested restricted stock awards, end of period 472 $32.38

Restricted Stock Units (‘‘RSUs’’)

RSUsare issuedandmeasuredat fairmarket valueon thedateof grant andgenerally becomevested inone to threeequal

annual installments beginning one year from the date of grant, subject, in general, to the recipient remaining in the

Company’s service on specified vesting dates. RSUs are converted into shares of common stock upon vesting. As of

February 26, 2022, unrecognized compensation expense related to the unvested portion of the Company’s RSUs was

$29.7million, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.9 years.

Changes in the Company’s RSUs for the fiscal year ended February 26, 2022were as follows:

(Shares in thousands)

Number of
Restricted Stock

Units

WeightedAverage
Grant-Date Fair

Value

Unvested restricted stock units, beginning of period 2,270 $14.04

Granted 1,108 24.91

Vested (420) 17.03

Forfeited (358) 22.16

Unvested restricted stock units, end of period 2,600 $17.07
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Performance Stock Units (‘‘PSUs’’)

PSUs are issued and measured at fair market value on the date of grant using the following performance periods and

performance metrics. The performance metrics generally include one or more of Earnings Before Interest and Taxes

(‘‘EBIT’’), Total Shareholder Return relative to a peer group (‘‘TSR’’), Return on Invested Capital (‘‘ROIC’’) or GrossMargin

Percentage (‘‘GM’’) compared with the Company's peer groups as determined by the Compensation Committee of the

Company's Board of Directors.

Fiscal Year Performance Period PerformanceMetrics Target Achievement Range (%)

2019 3 years TSR and EBIT 0% - 150%

2020 3 years TSR 0% - 150%

2021 3 years TSR andGM 0% - 200%

For the PSUs granted in Fiscal 2018, the three year performance-based tests based on a combination of EBITmargin and

ROIC were not met in the first quarter of Fiscal 2021 and therefore, there was no payment of these awards following

vesting.

Vesting of PSUs awarded to certain of the Company’s executives is dependent on the Company’s achievement of a

performance-based test from the date of grant, during the performance period and, assuming achievement of the

performance-based test, vest at the end of the performance period noted above, subject, in general, to the executive

remaining in the Company’s service on specified vesting dates. PSUs are converted into shares of common stock upon

payment following vesting. Upon grant of the PSUs, the Company recognizes compensation expense related to these

awards based on the Company’s estimate of the percentage of the award that will be achieved. The Company evaluates

the estimate on these awards on a quarterly basis and adjusts compensation expense related to these awards, as

appropriate. As of February 26, 2022, there was $15.8 million of unrecognized compensation expense associated with

these awards, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 2.0 years.

The fair value of the PSUs granted in Fiscal 2021 for which performance during the three-year period will be based on a

relative three-year Total Shareholder Return (‘‘TSR’’) goal relative to a peer groupwas estimated on the date of the grant

using aMonte Carlo simulation that uses the assumptions noted in the following table.

MonteCarlo Simulation Assumptions
Fiscal Year Ended
February 26, 2022

Risk Free Interest Rate 0.29%

ExpectedDividend Yield —%

Expected Volatility 52.21%

Expected Term (in years) 3 years

Changes in the Company’s PSUs for the fiscal year ended February 26, 2022were as follows:

(Shares in thousands)

Number of
Performance
Stock Units

WeightedAverage
Grant-Date Fair

Value

Unvested performance stock units, beginning of period 1,475 $14.36

Granted 634 29.00

Vested (17) 12.38

Forfeited (794) 17.62

Unvested performance stock units, end of period 1,298 $19.55

Stock Options

Stockoptiongrantswere issuedat fairmarket valueon thedateof grant andgenerally becameexercisable in either three

or five equal annual installments beginningone year from thedate of grant, subject, in general, to the recipient remaining

in the Company’s service on specified vesting dates. Option grants expired eight years after the date of grant. All option

grantswerenonqualified.DuringthefiscalyearendedFebruary27,2021, theremaining822,633optionsoutstandingwere

forfeited and therewere no options outstanding as of February 27, 2021.
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For the fiscal years ended February 26, 2022 and February 27, 2021, no stock options were granted. For stock options

granted in Fiscal 2019, the fair value of these stock options granted were estimated on the date of grant using a Black-

Scholesoption-pricingmodel thatused theassumptionsnoted in the tablebelow.Theweightedaverage fair value for the

stock options granted in Fiscal 2019was $4.18.

Black-Scholes Valuation Assumptions (1)
Fiscal Year Ended
February 29, 2020

Weighted Average Expected Life (in years) (2) 7.6 years

Weighted Average Expected Volatility (3) 39.41%

WeightedAverage Risk Free Interest Rates (4) 2.39%

ExpectedDividend Yield (5) 4.34%

(1) Forfeitures were estimated based on historical experience.

(2) The expected life of stock optionswas estimated based on historical experience.

(3) Expectedvolatilitywasbasedontheaverageofhistorical and impliedvolatility.Thehistorical volatilitywasdeterminedbyobservingactual

prices of the Company’s stock over a period commensurate with the expected life of the awards. The implied volatility represented the

implied volatility of the Company’s call options, which were actively traded onmultiple exchanges, had remainingmaturities in excess of

twelvemonths,hadmarketpricesclose totheexercisepricesof theemployeestockoptionsandweremeasuredonthestockoptiongrant

date.

(4) Based on the U.S. Treasury constantmaturity interest rate whose termwas consistent with the expected life of the stock options.

(5) Expected dividend yield was estimated based on anticipated dividend payouts.

No stock optionswere exercised during Fiscal 2021 and 2020. The total intrinsic value for stock options exercised during

Fiscal 2019was $0.1million.

InducementAwards

In Fiscal 2020and2019, theCompanygrantedstock-basedawards tocertainof theCompany’snewexecutiveofficers as

inducements material to their commencement of employment and entry into an employment agreement with the

Company. These inducement awards were approved by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors of the

Company and did not require shareholder approval in accordancewith Nasdaq Listing Rule 5635(c)(4).

RSUs granted as inducement awards are issued and measured at fair market value on the date of grant and generally

becomevested inone to threeequal annual installmentsbeginningoneyear fromthedateof grant, subject, in general, to

the recipient remaining in theCompany’s serviceon specified vesting dates.Changes in theRSUsgranted as inducement

awards for the fiscal year ended February 26, 2022were as follows:

(Shares in thousands)

Number of
Restricted
Stock Units

WeightedAverage
Grant-Date Fair

Value

Unvested restricted stock units, beginning of period 949 $7.36

Granted — —

Vested (512) 8.43

Forfeited — —

Unvested restricted stock units, end of period 437 $6.10

OnNovember 4, 2019, in connectionwith the appointment of theCompany’s President andChief ExecutiveOfficer, the

Company also granted inducement awards consisting of 273,735 PSU awards, which are not included above. The PSUs

vested over two years, based on performance goals requiring the President andCEO to prepare and deliver to the Board

of Directors key objectives and goals for the Company and the strategies and initiatives for the achievement of such

objectives and goals, and the President andCEO's provision of updates to theBoard ofDirectors regarding achievement

of such goals and objectives. Vesting of the PSUswas also subject, in general, to the President and CEO remaining in the

Company’s service through thevestingdateofNovember4, 2021.OnNovember2, 2021, theCompensationCommittee

of the Board of Directors determined that the performance goals established for the awards had been met, and the

awards vested in full.
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Otherthanwithrespecttothevestingtermsdescribedabovefor the inducementawardstotheCompany'sPresidentand

Chief Executive Officer, inducement awards are generally subject to substantially the same terms and conditions as

awards that aremade under the 2018 Plan.

During Fiscal 2020, the Company granted 816,158 RSUs to executive officers of the Company, pursuant to inducement

award agreements. During Fiscal 2021, an executive officer's employment with the Company was terminated and, as a

result, 160,255 awards vested in accordancewith the terms of the awards.

As of February 26, 2022, unrecognized compensation expense related to the unvested portion of the Company's

inducement awards was $1.6million and is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.2 years. Each

inducement award recipient must hold at least fifty percent (50%) of the after-tax shares of common stock received

pursuant to the inducement awards until they have satisfied the terms of the Company’s stock ownership guidelines.

16. ASSETS HELD FOR SALEAND DIVESTITURES

Assets Held for Sale

The Company has included businesses classified as held for sale within its continuing operations as their dispositions do

not represent a strategic shift that will have a major effect on the Company’s operations and financial results. As of

February 26, 2022 and February 27, 2021, the Company did not have any businesses classified as held for sale.

Prior to the end of Fiscal 2020, certain assets and liabilities of Cost PlusWorldMarket, PersonalizationMall.com (‘‘PMall’’)

andOne Kings Lane (‘‘OKL’’) were classified as held for sale on theCompany's consolidated balance sheet. CPWM, PMall,

andOKLwere sold during Fiscal 2020, as further described below.

Divestitures

Cost PlusWorldMarket. OnDecember 14, 2020, theCompany announced that it entered into a definitive agreement to

sellCostPlusWorldMarket toKingswoodCapitalManagement.OnJanuary15, 2021, theCompanycompleted thesaleof

Cost PlusWorldMarket. Proceeds from the sale were approximately $63.7million, subject to certain working capital and

other adjustments. The Company recognized a loss on sale of approximately $72.0 million in loss on sale of businesses

including impairment of assets held for sale in its consolidated statements of operations for the fiscal year ended

February 27, 2021. The $72.0million loss on sale includes an impairment of $54.0million recorded in the third quarter of

Fiscal 2020 to remeasure the disposal group that was classified as held for sale to the lower of carrying value or fair value

less costs to sell, recorded in impairments, including on assets held for sale.

Christmas Tree Shops. OnOctober 11, 2020, the Company entered into definitive agreements to sell Christmas Tree

Shops (‘‘CTS’’) to Handil Holdings LLC and to sell one of the CTS distribution facilities to an institutional buyer, with a

leaseback termof ninemonths, toprovidebusiness continuity to theCompany for someof its operations currently using

the facility. These transactions were completed during the third quarter of Fiscal 2020, generating approximately

$233.3million in proceeds, subject to certainworking capital andother adjustments, and theCompany recognized a loss

on sale of approximately $53.8 million, which was recorded in loss on sale of businesses including impairment of assets

held for sale in its consolidated statements of operations for the fiscal year ended February 27, 2021. In Fiscal 2021, the

Company recorded an additional loss of sale of CTS of $13.5million related to the settlement of the CTS Pension Plan.

Linen Holdings. On October 11, 2020, the Company entered into a definitive agreement to sell Linen Holdings to The

Linen Group, LLC, an affiliate of Lion Equity Partners. On October 24, 2020, the Company completed the sale of Linen

Holdings for approximately $10.1million, subject to certainworking capital andother adjustments, and recognized a loss

on the saleof $64.6million,whichwas recorded in lossonsaleof businesses including impairmentof assetsheld for sale in

its consolidated statements of operations for the fiscal year ended February 27, 2021.

PersonalizationMall.com. On February 14, 2020, the Company entered into a definitive agreement to sell

PersonalizationMall.com(‘‘PMall’’) to1-800-FLOWERS.COM, Inc. for$252.0million,subject tocertainworkingcapitaland

other adjustments. The buyer was required to close the transaction on March 30, 2020, but failed to do so. Accordingly,

theCompanyhad filedanactionto require thebuyer toclosethetransaction.OnJuly20,2020, theCompanyentered into

a settlement agreement with respect to the litigation. Under this agreement, 1-800-FLOWERS.COM agreed to move
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forward with its purchase of PMall from the Company for $245.0 million, subject to certain working capital and other

adjustments. The transaction closed onAugust 3, 2020. Net proceeds from the sale of PMall were $244.6million, subject

to certain working capital and other adjustments, and the Company recognized a gain on the sale of approximately

$189.3 million, which was recorded in loss on sale of businesses including impairment of assets held for sale in its

consolidated statement of operations for the fiscal year ended February 27, 2021. Upon the close of the transaction, Bed

Bath & Beyondwithdrew the litigation against 1-800-FLOWERS.COMand 800-FLOWERS, INC.

In connection with the sale of PMall, the Company agreed to indemnify 1-800-FLOWERS.COM for certain litigation

matters then existing at the time of the close of the transaction, including certain matters for which the Company is

entitled to indemnification from the former owner of PMall in connection with the Company's purchase of PMall in Fiscal

2016 (see ‘‘Commitments andContingencies’’ Note 12 for additional information.)

OneKingsLane. OnApril 13, 2020, theCompanycompleted thesaleofOneKingsLane (‘‘OKL’’). Proceeds fromthesale

were notmaterial.

During the fiscal yearendedFebruary26,2022, theCompany recognizedapproximately$18.2millionof losson thesaleof

these businesses primarily associated with the Fiscal 2021 settlement of the CTS pension plan (see ‘‘Employee Benefit

Plans’’ Note 11) and certain working capital and other adjustments related to the above divestitures.
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REPORTOF INDEPENDENTREGISTERED PUBLIC
ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors

Bed Bath &Beyond Inc.:

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Bed Bath & Beyond Inc. and subsidiaries (the

Company) as of February 26, 2022 and February 27, 2021, the related consolidated statements of operations,

comprehensive loss,shareholders’equity,andcashflowsforeachoftheyears inthethree-yearperiodendedFebruary26,

2022 and the related notes and financial statement schedule (collectively, the consolidated financial statements). In our

opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the

CompanyasofFebruary26,2022andFebruary27,2021,andthe resultsof itsoperationsand itscash flows foreachof the

years in the three-year period endedFebruary 26, 2022, in conformitywithU.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United

States) (PCAOB), the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of February 26, 2022, based on criteria

established in InternalControl – IntegratedFramework (2013) issuedbytheCommitteeofSponsoringOrganizationsof the

TreadwayCommission, and our report dated April 21, 2022 expressed an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the

Company's internal control over financial reporting.

Basis forOpinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to

express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm

registeredwith the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to theCompany in accordancewith the U.S.

federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the

PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and

perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of

material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of

material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing

procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the

amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting

principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the

consolidated financial statements.We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated

financial statementsthatwascommunicatedor requiredtobecommunicatedtotheauditcommitteeandthat: (1) relates

to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (2) involved our especially

challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communicationof a critical auditmatter does not alter in anywayour

opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit

matterbelow,providingaseparateopiniononthecriticalauditmatterorontheaccountsordisclosurestowhich it relates.

Assessment of impairment of store-level long-lived assets

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company reviews long-lived assets for

impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value of these assets may exceed their

current fair values. Recoverability of assets to be held and used ismeasured by a comparisonof the carrying amount

of an asset to the estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If the carrying
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amount of an asset exceeds its estimated future cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized for the amount by

which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the fair value of the assets. Based upon the analysis performed, the

Company recognized pre-tax impairment charges for store-level long-lived assets of $30.8million in Fiscal 2021.

We identified the assessment of impairment of store-level long-lived assets as a critical audit matter. Specifically,

complex auditor judgmentwas required to assess the sales growth rates used toestimate the forecasted cash flows

as they involve a high degree of subjectivity. In determining the fair value of certain store-level long-lived assets,

specialized knowledgewas required to assess the Company’s assumption ofmarket rental rates from sub-lessors.

The followingaretheprimaryproceduresweperformedtoaddressthiscritical auditmatter.Weevaluatedthedesign

and tested the operating effectiveness of certain internal controls over the Company’s store-level impairment

assessmentprocess, including controls related to theassumptionsdescribedabove.Weevaluated the sales growth

rates by comparing to historical results, the Company’s future operating plans, and industry reports. We involved

valuation professionals with specialized skills and knowledge who assisted in evaluating themarket rental rates for

certain stores by comparing the sublease income to an independently developed range using publicly available

market data for comparable store sites.

/s/ KPMGLLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 1992.

Short Hills, New Jersey

April 21, 2022
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REPORTOF INDEPENDENTREGISTERED PUBLIC
ACCOUNTING FIRM ON INTERNALCONTROLOVER
FINANCIALREPORTING

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors

Bed Bath &Beyond Inc.:

Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We have audited Bed Bath & Beyond Inc. and subsidiaries’ (the Company) internal control over financial reporting as of

February 26, 2022, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013), issued by the

Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all

material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting asof February26, 2022, basedoncriteria established

in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013), issuedby theCommitteeof SponsoringOrganizationsof theTreadway

Commission.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United

States) (PCAOB), the consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of February 26, 2022 and February 27, 2021, the

related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive loss, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the

years in the three-year period ended February 26, 2022, and the related notes and financial statement schedule

(collectively, theconsolidated financial statements), andour report datedApril 21, 2022expressedanunqualifiedopinion

on those consolidated financial statements.

Basis forOpinion

The Company's management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its

assessmentof theeffectivenessof internal control over financial reporting, included in theaccompanyingManagement's

Report on InternalControl over Financial Reporting.Our responsibility is toexpress anopinionon theCompany's internal

control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are

required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the

applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and ExchangeCommission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and

perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was

maintained in all material respects. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an

understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that amaterial weakness exists, and testing

and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also

included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit

provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial
Reporting

Acompany’s internal controlover financial reporting isaprocessdesignedtoprovide reasonableassuranceregardingthe

reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with

generallyacceptedaccountingprinciples.Acompany's internalcontrolover financial reporting includesthosepoliciesand

procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the

transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are

recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting

principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are beingmade only in accordance with authorizations of

management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention, or timely

detectionofunauthorizedacquisition, use,ordispositionof thecompany’s assets that couldhaveamaterial effecton the

financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent, or detect misstatements.

Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
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inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may

deteriorate.

/s/ KPMGLLP

Short Hills, New Jersey

April 21, 2022
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Management’s Report on Internal Control over
Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as

defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended). Our management assessed the

effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of February 26, 2022. In making this assessment, our

management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission

(‘‘COSO’’), released in 2013, Internal Control-Integrated Framework.

Our management has concluded that, as of February 26, 2022, our internal control over financial reporting is effective

based on these criteria.

Stock Price Performance Graph

The graph shown below compares the performance of our common stock with that of the S&P 500 Index, the S&P Retail

Composite Index and the S&P 500 Specialty Retail Index over the same period (assuming the investment of $100 in our

common stock and each of the three Indexes on February 25, 2017, and the reinvestment of dividends, if any).
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Shares of Bed Bath & Beyond Inc. are traded on The Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol BBBY. As of May 16,

2022, therewereapproximately1,256shareholdersof record.Thisnumberexcludes individual shareholdersholdingstock

under nominee security position listings.
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